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If you can read a nutrition label or a baseball box score, you can learn to 
read basic financial statements. If you can follow a recipe or apply for a 
loan, you can learn basic accounting. The basics arenôt difficult and they 
arenôt rocket science.  

This brochure is designed to help you gain a basic understanding of how to 
read financial statements. Just as a CPR class teaches you how to perform 
the basics of cardiac pulmonary resuscitation, this brochure will explain 
how to read the basic parts of a financial statement. It will not train you to 
be an accountant (just as a CPR course will not make you a cardiac 
doctor), but it should give you the confidence to be able to look at a set of 
financial statements and make sense of them.  

Letôs begin by looking at what financial statements do.  

ñShow me the money!ò 

We all remember Cuba Goodingôs  immortal line from the movie Jerry 
Maguire, ñShow me the money!ò Well, thatôs what financial statements do. 
They show you the money. They show you where a companyôs money 
came from, where it went, and where it is now.  

There are four main financial statements. They are: (1) balance sheets; 
(2) income statements; (3) cash flow statements; and (4) statements of 
shareholdersô equity. Balance sheets show what a company owns and 
what it owes at a fixed point in time. Income statements show how much 
money a company made and spent over a period of time. Cash flow 
statements show the exchange of money between a company and the 
outside world also over a period of time. The fourth financial statement, 
called a ñstatement of shareholdersô equity,ò shows changes in the interests 
of the companyôs shareholders over time.  

 

 

 

Balance Sheets 
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A balance sheet provides detailed information about a companyôs assets, 
liabilities and shareholdersô equity.  

Assets are things that a company owns that have value. This typically 
means they can either be sold or used by the company to make products or 
provide services that can be sold. Assets include physical property, such as 
plants, trucks, equipment and inventory. It also includes things that canôt be 
touched but nevertheless exist and have value, such as trademarks and 
patents. And cash itself is an asset. So are investments a company makes.  

Liabilities are amounts of money that a company owes to others. This can 
include all kinds of obligations, like money borrowed from a bank to launch 
a new product, rent for use of a building, money owed to suppliers for 
materials, payroll a company owes to its employees, environmental 
cleanup costs, or taxes owed to the government. Liabilities also include 
obligations to provide goods or services to customers in the future.  

Shareholdersô equity is sometimes called capital or net worth. Itôs the 
money that would be left if a company sold all of its assets and paid off all 
of its liabilities. This leftover money belongs to the shareholders, or the 
owners, of the company. 

 
The following formula summarizes what a balance sheet 
shows:  

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  

A company's assets have to equal, or "balance," the sum of its 
liabilities and shareholders' equity. 
   

 

 

A companyôs balance sheet is set up like the basic accounting equation 
shown above. On the left side of the balance sheet, companies list their 
assets. On the right side, they list their liabilities and shareholdersô equity. 
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Sometimes balance sheets show assets at the top, followed by liabilities, 
with shareholdersô equity at the bottom. 

Assets are generally listed based on how quickly they will be converted into 
cash. Current assets are things a company expects to convert to cash 
within one year. A good example is inventory. Most companies expect to 
sell their inventory for cash within one year. Noncurrent assets are things a 
company does not expect to convert to cash within one year or that would 
take longer than one year to sell. Noncurrent assets include fixed assets. 
Fixed assets are those assets used to operate the business but that are not 
available for sale, such as trucks, office furniture and other property.  

Liabilities are generally listed based on their due dates. Liabilities are said 
to be either current or long-term. Current liabilities are obligations a 
company expects to pay off within the year. Long-term liabilities are 
obligations due more than one year away.  

Shareholdersô equity is the amount owners invested in the companyôs stock 
plus or minus the companyôs earnings or losses since inception. 
Sometimes companies distribute earnings, instead of retaining them. These 
distributions are called dividends.  

A balance sheet shows a snapshot of a companyôs assets, liabilities and 
shareholdersô equity at the end of the reporting period. It does not show the 
flows into and out of the accounts during the period.  

 

 

 

 

 

Income Statements 

An income statement is a report that shows how much revenue a company 
earned over a specific time period (usually for a year or some portion of a 
year). An income statement also shows the costs and expenses associated 
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with earning that revenue. The literal ñbottom lineò of the statement usually 
shows the companyôs net earnings or losses. This tells you how much the 
company earned or lost over the period.  

Income statements also report earnings per share (or ñEPSò). This 
calculation tells you how much money shareholders would receive if the 
company decided to distribute all of the net earnings for the period. 
(Companies almost never distribute all of their earnings. Usually they 
reinvest them in the business.)  

To understand how income statements are set up, think of them as a set of 
stairs. You start at the top with the total amount of sales made during the 
accounting period. Then you go down, one step at a time. At each step, 
you make a deduction for certain costs or other operating expenses 
associated with earning the revenue. At the bottom of the stairs, after 
deducting all of the expenses, you learn how much the company actually 
earned or lost during the accounting period. People often call this ñthe 
bottom line.ò  

At the top of the income statement is the total amount of money brought in 
from sales of products or services. This top line is often referred to as gross 
revenues or sales. Itôs called ñgrossò because expenses have not been 
deducted from it yet. So the number is ñgrossò or unrefined.  

The next line is money the company doesnôt expect to collect on certain 
sales. This could be due, for example, to sales discounts or merchandise 
returns.  

When you subtract the returns and allowances from the gross revenues, 
you arrive at the companyôs net revenues. Itôs called ñnetò because, if you 
can imagine a net, these revenues are left in the net after the deductions 
for returns and allowances have come out.  

Moving down the stairs from the net revenue line, there are several lines 
that represent various kinds of operating expenses. Although these lines 
can be reported in various orders, the next line after net revenues typically 
shows the costs of the sales. This number tells you the amount of money 
the company spent to produce the goods or services it sold during the 
accounting period.  
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The next line subtracts the costs of sales from the net revenues to arrive at 
a subtotal called ñgross profitò or sometimes ñgross margin.ò Itôs considered 
ñgrossò because there are certain expenses that havenôt been deducted 
from it yet.  

The next section deals with operating expenses. These are expenses that 
go toward supporting a companyôs operations for a given period ï for 
example, salaries of administrative personnel and costs of researching new 
products. Marketing expenses are another example. Operating expenses 
are different from ñcosts of sales,ò which were deducted above, because 
operating expenses cannot be linked directly to the production of the 
products or services being sold.  

Depreciation is also deducted from gross profit. Depreciation takes into 
account the wear and tear on some assets, such as machinery, tools and 
furniture, which are used over the long term. Companies spread the cost of 
these assets over the periods they are used. This process of spreading 
these costs is called depreciation or amortization. The ñchargeò for using 
these assets during the period is a fraction of the original cost of the assets.  

After all operating expenses are deducted from gross profit, you arrive at 
operating profit before interest and income tax expenses. This is often 
called ñincome from operations.ò  Next companies must account for interest 
income and interest expense. Interest income is the money companies 
make from keeping their cash in interest-bearing savings accounts, money 
market funds and the like. On the other hand, interest expense is the 
money companies paid in interest for money they borrow. Some income 
statements show interest income and interest expense separately.  

Some income statements combine the two numbers. The interest income 
and expense are then added or subtracted from the operating profits to 
arrive at operating profit before income tax.  

Finally, income tax is deducted and you arrive at the bottom line: net profit 
or net losses. (Net profit is also called net income or net earnings.) This 
tells you how much the company actually earned or lost during the 
accounting period. Did the company make a profit or did it lose money?  

Earnings Per Share or EPS 
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Most income statements include a calculation of earnings per share or 
EPS. This calculation tells you how much money shareholders would 
receive for each share of stock they own if the company distributed all of its 
net income for the period.  

To calculate EPS, you take the total net income and divide it by the number 
of outstanding shares of the company.  

 

Cash Flow Statements 

Cash flow statements report a companyôs inflows and outflows of cash. 
This is important because a company needs to have enough cash on hand 
to pay its expenses and purchase assets. While an income statement can 
tell you whether a company made a profit, a cash flow statement can tell 
you whether the company generated cash. A cash flow statement shows 
changes over time rather than absolute dollar amounts at a point in time. It 
uses and reorders the information from a companyôs balance sheet and 
income statement.  The bottom line of the cash flow statement shows the 
net increase or decrease in cash for the period. Generally, cash flow 
statements are divided into three main parts. Each part reviews the cash 
flow from one of three types of activities: (1) operating activities; 
(2) investing activities; and (3) financing activities.  

Operating Activities 

The first part of a cash flow statement analyzes a companyôs cash flow 
from net income or losses. For most companies, this section of the cash 
flow statement reconciles the net income (as shown on the income 
statement) to the actual cash the company received from or used in its 
operating activities. To do this, it deducts from net income any non-cash 
items (such as depreciation expenses) and any cash that was used or 
provided by other operating assets and liabilities.  

 

 

Investing Activities 
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The second part of a cash flow statement shows the cash flow from all 
investing activities, which generally include purchases or sales of long-term 
assets, such as property, plant and equipment, as well as investment 
securities. If a company buys a piece of machinery, the cash flow 
statement would reflect this activity as a cash outflow from investing 
activities because it used cash. If the company decided to sell off some 
investments from an investment portfolio, the proceeds from the sales 
would show up as a cash inflow from investing activities because it 
provided cash.  

Financing Activities 

The third part of a cash flow statement shows the cash flow from all 
financing activities. Typical sources of cash flow include cash raised by 
selling stocks and bonds or borrowing from banks. Likewise, paying back a 
bank loan would show up as a use of cash flow.  

Read the Footnotes 

The footnotes to financial statements are packed with information. 
Footnotes can also contain critical issues of Intellectual Property, Tax, or 
Political Legal Conflicts and Regulatory Issues.   Here are some of the 
highlights:  

 

¶ Significant accounting policies and practices ï Companies are 
required to disclose the accounting policies that are most important to 
the portrayal of the companyôs financial condition and results. These 
often require managementôs most difficult, subjective or complex 
judgments. 

¶ Income taxes ï The footnotes provide detailed information about the 
companyôs current and deferred income taxes. The information is 
broken down by level ï federal, state, local and/or foreign, and the 
main items that affect the companyôs effective tax rate are described. 

¶ Pension plans and other retirement programs ï The footnotes 
discuss the companyôs pension plans and other retirement or post-
employment benefit programs. The notes contain specific information 
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about the assets and costs of these programs, and indicate whether 
and by how much the plans are over- or under-funded. 

¶ Stock options ï The notes also contain information about stock 
options granted to officers and employees, including the method of 
accounting for stock-based compensation and the effect of the 
method on reported results.  

 

Read the MD&A 

You can find a narrative explanation of a companyôs financial performance 
in a section of the quarterly or annual report entitled, ñManagementôs 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.ò 
MD&A is managementôs opportunity to provide investors with its view of the 
financial performance and condition of the company. Itôs managementôs 
opportunity to tell investors what the financial statements show and do not 
show, as well as important trends and risks that have shaped the past or 
are reasonably likely to shape the companyôs future.  

The SECôs rules governing MD&A require disclosure about trends, events 
or uncertainties known to management that would have a material impact 
on reported financial information. The purpose of MD&A is to provide 
investors with information that the companyôs management believes to be 
necessary to an understanding of its financial condition, changes in 
financial condition and results of operations. It is intended to help investors 
to see the company through the eyes of management. It is also intended to 
provide context for the financial statements and information about the 
companyôs earnings and cash flows.  

Financial Statement Ratios and Calculations 

Youôve probably heard people banter around phrases like ñP/E ratio,ò 
ñcurrent ratioò and ñoperating margin.ò But what do these terms mean and 
why donôt they show up on financial statements? Listed below are just 
some of the many ratios that investors calculate from information on 
financial statements and then use to evaluate a company. As a general 
rule, desirable ratios vary by industry.  
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¶ Debt-to-equity ratio compares a companyôs total debt to shareholdersô 
equity. Both of these numbers can be found on a companyôs balance 
sheet. To calculate debt-to-equity ratio, you divide a companyôs total 
liabilities by its shareholder equity, or 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio = Total Liabilities / Shareholdersô Equity 

If a company has a debt-to-equity ratio of 2 to 1, it means that the 
company has two dollars of debt to every one dollar shareholders 
invest in the company. In other words, the company is taking on debt 
at twice the rate that its owners are investing in the company.  

 

¶ Inventory turnover ratio compares a companyôs cost of sales on its 
income statement with its average inventory balance for the period. 
To calculate the average inventory balance for the period, look at the 
inventory numbers listed on the balance sheet. Take the balance 
listed for the period of the report and add it to the balance listed for 
the previous comparable period, and then divide by two. (Remember 
that balance sheets are snapshots in time. So the inventory balance 
for the previous period is the beginning balance for the current period, 
and the inventory balance for the current period is the ending 
balance.) To calculate the inventory turnover ratio, you divide a 
companyôs cost of sales (just below the net revenues on the income 
statement) by the average inventory for the period, or 

Inventory Turnover Ratio = Cost of Sales / Average Inventory for the 
Period 

If a company has an inventory turnover ratio of 2 to 1, it means that 
the companyôs inventory turned over twice in the reporting period.  

¶ Operating margin compares a companyôs operating income to net 
revenues. Both of these numbers can be found on a companyôs 
income statement. To calculate operating margin, you divide a 
companyôs income from operations (before interest and income tax 
expenses) by its net revenues, or 

Operating Margin = Income from Operations / Net Revenues 
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Operating margin is usually expressed as a percentage. It shows, for 
each dollar of sales, what percentage was profit.  

¶ P/E ratio compares a companyôs common stock price with its 
earnings per share. To calculate a companyôs P/E ratio, you divide a 
companyôs stock price by its earnings per share, or 

P/E Ratio = Price per share / Earnings per share 

If a companyôs stock is selling at $20 per share and the company is 
earning $2 per share, then the companyôs P/E Ratio is 10 to 1. The 
companyôs stock is selling at 10 times its earnings.  

¶ Working capital is the money leftover if a company paid its current 
liabilities (that is, its debts due within one-year of the date of the 
balance sheet) from its current assets. 

Working Capital = Current Assets ï Current Liabilities 
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Saving and Investing 

 

Define Your Goals 

To end up where you want to be, youôll need a roadmap, a financial plan. 
To get started on your plan, youôll need to ask yourself what are the things 
you want to save and invest for. Here are some possibilities: 

¶ A home  
¶ A car  
¶ An education  
¶ A comfortable retirement  
¶ Your children  
¶ Medical or other emergencies  
¶ Periods of unemployment  
¶ Caring for parents  

 

 

 

Make your own list and then think about which goals are the most important 
to you. List your most important goals first. 

What do you want to save or invest for?  By when? 

1.                                                                                                

2.                                                                                                

3.                                                                                                

4.                                                                                                

5.                                                                                                

Decide how many years you have to meet each specific goal, because 
when you save or invest youôll need to find a savings or investment option 
that fits your time frame for meeting each goal.  
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Making a Financial Plan ï Wealth Management and Financial Planning 

Figuring Out Your Finances 

Sit down and take an honest look at your entire financial situation. You can 
never take a journey without knowing where youôre starting from, and a 
journey to financial security is no different. 

Youôll need to figure out on paper your current situationð what you own 
and what you owe. Youôll be creating a ñnet worth statement.ò On one side 
of the page, list what you own. These are your ñassets.ò And on the other 
side list what you owe other people, your ñliabilitiesò or debts. 

Your Net Worth Statement 

Assets Current 
Value 

Liabilities Amount 

cash _______ mortgage balance _______ 

checking account _______ credit cards _______ 

savings _______ bank loans _______ 

cash value of life   car loans _______ 

   insurance _______ personal loans _______ 

retirement 
accounts 

_______ real estate _______ 

real estate _______  _______ 

home _______  _______ 

other _______  _______ 

investments _______  _______ 

personal property _______  _______ 

total _______ total _______ 

 
Subtract your liabilities from your assets. If your assets are larger than your 
liabilities, you have a ñpositiveò net worth. If your liabilities are greater than 
your assets, you have a ñnegativeò net worth. Youôll want to update your 
ñnet worth statementò every year to keep track of how you are doing. Donôt 
be discouraged if you have a negative net worth. If you follow a plan to get 
into a positive position, youôre doing the right thing. 
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KNOW YOUR INCOME AND EXPENSES 

The next step is to keep track of your 
income and your expenses for every 
month. Write down what you and others in 
your family earn, and then your monthly 
expenses. Include a category for savings 
and investing. What are you paying 
yourself every month? Many people get 
into the habit of saving and investing by 
following this advice: always pay yourself 
or your family first. Many people find it 
easier to pay themselves first if they allow 
their bank to automatically remove money 
from their paycheck and deposit it into a 
savings or investment account. Likely 
even better, for tax purposes, is to 
participate in an employer sponsored 
retirement plan such as a 401(k), 403(b), 
or 457(b). These plans will typically not 
only automatically deduct money from 
your paycheck, but will immediately 
reduce the taxes you are paying. 
Additionally, in many plans the employer 
matches some or all of your contribution. 
When your employer does that, itôs 
offering ñfree money.ò Any time you have 
automatic deductions made from your 
paycheck or bank account, youôll increase 
the chances of being able to stick to your 
plan and to realize your goals. 

ñBut I Spend Everything I Make.ò 

If you are spending all your income, and 
never have money to save or invest, youôll 
need to look for ways to cut back on your 
expenses. When you watch where you 
spend your money, you will be surprised 
how small everyday expenses that you 
can do without add up over a year. 

   

 

Monthly Income 
and Expenses  

Income: _____ 

    

Expenses:  

Savings _____ 

Investments _____ 

Housing:  

   rent or  

   mortgage _____ 

   electricity _____ 

   gas/oil _____ 

   telephone _____ 

   water/sewer _____ 

   property tax _____ 

   furniture _____ 

Food _____ 

Transportation _____ 

Loans _____ 

Insurance _____ 

Education _____ 

Recreation _____ 

Health care _____ 

Gifts _____ 

Other _____ 

     

Total  _____ 
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Small Savings Add Up to Big Money 

How much does a cup of coffee cost you? 

Would you believe $465.83.5?  Or more? 

If you buy a cup of coffee every day for $1.00 (an awfully good price for a 
decent cup of coffee, nowadays), that adds up to $365.00 a year. If you 
saved that $365.00 for just one year, and put it into a savings account or 
investment that earns 5% a year, it would grow to $465.83.5 by the end of 
5 years, and by the end of 30 years, to $1,577.50. 

Thatôs the power of ñcompounding.ò With compound interest, you earn 
interest on the money you save and on the interest that money earns. Over 
time, even a small amount saved can add up to big money. 

If you are willing to watch what you spend and look for little ways to save 
on a regular schedule, you can make money grow. You just did it with one 
cup of coffee. 

If a small cup of coffee can make such a huge difference, start looking at 
how you could make your money grow if you decided to spend less on 
other things and save those extra dollars. 

If you buy on impulse, make a rule that youôll always wait 24 hours to buy 
anything. You may lose your desire to buy it after a day. And try emptying 
your pockets and wallet of spare change at the end of each day. Youôll be 
surprised how quickly those nickels and dimes add up! 
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Pay Off Credit Card or Other High Interest Debt 

Speaking of things adding up, there is no investment strategy anywhere 
that pays off as well as, or with less risk than, merely paying off all high 
interest debt you may have. Many people have wallets filled with credit 
cards, some of which theyôve ñmaxed outò (meaning theyôve spent up to 
their credit limit). Credit cards can make it seem easy to buy expensive 
things when you donôt have the cash in your pocketðor in the bank. But 
credit cards arenôt free money. 

Most credit cards charge high interest ratesðas much as 18 percent or 
moreðif you donôt pay off your balance in full each month. If you owe 
money on your credit cards, the wisest thing you can do is pay off the 
balance in full as quickly as possible. Virtually no investment will give you 
the high returns youôll need to keep pace with an 18 percent interest 
charge. Thatôs why youôre better off eliminating all credit card debt before 
investing savings. Once youôve paid off your credit cards, you can budget 
your money and begin to save and invest. Here are some tips for avoiding 
credit card debt: 

¶ Put Away the Plastic  

Donôt use a credit card unless your debt is at a manageable level and you 
know youôll have the money to pay the bill when it arrives. 

¶ Know What You Owe  

Itôs easy to forget how much youôve charged on your credit card. Every time 
you use a credit card, write down how much you have spent and figure out 
how much youôll have to pay that month. If you know you wonôt be able to 
pay your balance in full, try to figure out how much you can pay each 
month and how long itôll take to pay the balance in full. 

¶ Pay Off the Card with the Highest Rate  

If youôve got unpaid balances on several credit cards, you should first pay 
down the card that charges the highest rate. Pay as much as you can 
toward that debt each month until your balance is once again zero, while 
still paying the minimum on your other cards. The same advice goes for 
any other high interest debt (about 8% or above) which does not offer the 
tax advantages of, for example, a mortgage. 
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Risk Tolerance 

 

You are approaching the half-way point in your journey to saving and 
investing. This is a good point to make sure that you understand some key 
concepts:  

Savings  

Your "savings" are usually put into the safest places or products that allow 
you access to your money at any time. Examples include savings accounts, 
checking accounts, and certificates of deposit. At some banks and savings 
and loan associations your deposits may be insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC). But there's a tradeoff for security and ready 
availability. Your money is paid a low wage as it works for you.   

 

Most smart investors put enough money in a savings product to cover an 
emergency, like sudden unemployment. Some make sure they have up to 
6 months of their income in savings so that they know it will absolutely be 
there for them when they need it.  

 

But how "safe" is a savings account if you leave all your money there for a 
long time, and the interest it earns doesn't keep up with inflation? Letôs say 
you save a dollar when it can buy a loaf of bread. But years later when you 
withdraw that dollar plus the interest you earned, it might only be able to 
buy half a loaf. That is why many people put some of their money in 
savings, but look to investing so they can earn more over long periods of 
time, say three years or longer.  

 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.fdic.gov
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.fdic.gov
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Investing  

When you "invest," you have a greater chance of losing your money than 
when you "save." Unlike FDIC-insured deposits, the money you invest in 
securities, mutual funds, and other similar investments are not federally 
insured. You could lose your "principal," which is the amount you've 
invested. Thatôs true even if you purchase your investments through a 
bank. But when you invest, you also have the opportunity to earn more 
money than when you save. 

But what about risk? All investments involve taking on risk. Itôs important 
that you go into any investment in stocks, bonds or mutual funds with a full 
understanding that you could lose some or all of your money in any one 
investment. While over the long term the stock market has historically 
provided around 10% annual returns (closer to 6% or 7% ñrealò returns 
when you subtract for the effects of inflation), the long term does 
sometimes take a rather long, long time to play out. Those who invested all 
of their money in the stock market at its peak in 1929 (before the stock 
market crash) would wait over 20 years to see the stock market return to 
the same level. However, those that kept adding money to the market 
throughout that time would have done very well for themselves, as the 
lower cost of stocks in the 1930s made for some hefty gains for those who 
bought and held over the course of the next twenty years or more. 

 

Diversification  

It is true that the greater the risk, the greater the potential rewards in 
investing, but taking on unnecessary risk is often avoidable. Investors best 
protect themselves against risk by spreading their money among various 
investments, hoping that if one investment loses money, the other 
investments will more than make up for those losses. This strategy, called 
ñdiversification,ò can be neatly summed up as, ñDonôt put all your eggs in 
one basket.ò Investors also protect themselves from the risk of investing all 
their money at the wrong time (think 1929) by following a consistent pattern 
of adding new money to their investments over long periods of time.  

 

http://www.sec.gov/answers/mutfund.htm
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Once youôve saved money for investing, consider carefully all your options 
and think about what diversification strategy makes sense for you. While 
the SEC cannot recommend any particular investment product, you should 
know that a vast array of investment products existsðincluding stocks and 
stock mutual funds, corporate and municipal bonds, bond mutual funds, 
certificates of deposit, money market funds, and U.S. Treasury securities. 
Diversification canôt guarantee that your investments wonôt suffer if the 
market drops. But it can improve the chances that you wonôt lose money, or 
that if you do, it wonôt be as much as if you werenôt diversified.  

Risk Tolerance  

What are the best saving and investing products for you? The answer 
depends on when you will need the money, your goals, and if you will be 
able to sleep at night if you purchase a risky investment where you could 
lose your principal. For instance, if you are saving for retirement, and you 
have 35 years before you retire, you may want to consider riskier 
investment products, knowing that if you stick to only the "savings" 
products or to less risky investment products, your money will grow too 
slowlyðor given inflation or taxes, you may lose the purchasing power of 
your money. A frequent mistake people make is putting money they will not 
need for a very long time in investments that pay a low amount of interest. 

On the other hand, if you are saving for a short-term goal, five years or 
less, you don't want to choose risky investments, because when it's time to 
sell, you may have to take a loss. Since investments often move up and 
down in value rapidly, you want to make sure that you can wait and sell at 
the best possible time. 

Investment Products 

 

When you make an investment, you are giving your money to a company 
or an enterprise, hoping that it will be successful and pay you back with 
even more money.  

 

 



Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 25 

Some investments make money, and some donôt. You can potentially make 
money in an investment if:  

¶ The company performs better than its competitors.  
¶ Other investors recognize itôs a good company, so that when it comes 

time to sell your investment, others want to buy it.  
¶ The company makes profits, meaning they make enough money to 

pay you interest for your bond, or maybe dividends on your stock.  

You can lose money if: 

¶ The companyôs competitors are better than it is.  
¶ Consumers donôt want to buy the companyôs products or services.  
¶ The companyôs officers fail at managing the business well, they 

spend too much money, and their expenses are larger than their 
profits.  

¶ Other investors that you would need to sell to think the companyôs 
stock is too expensive given its performance and future outlook.  

¶ The people running the company are dishonest. They use your 
money to buy homes, clothes, and vacations, instead of using your 
money on the business.  

¶ They lie about any aspect of the business: claim past or future profits 
that do not exist, claim it has contracts to sell its products when it 
doesnôt, or make up fake numbers on their finances to dupe 
investors.  

¶ The brokers who sell the companyôs stock manipulate the price so 
that it doesnôt reflect the true value of the company. After they pump 
up the price, these brokers dump the stock, the price falls, and 
investors lose their money.  

¶ For whatever reason, you have to sell your investment when the 
market is down.  

Here are some kinds of investments you may consider making: 
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Stocks and Bonds  

Many companies offer investors the opportunity to buy either stocks or 
bonds. The following example shows you how stocks and bonds differ. 

Letôs say you believe that a company that makes automobiles may be a 
good investment. Everyone you know is buying one of its cars, and your 
friends report that the companyôs cars rarely break down and run well for 
years. You either have an investment professional investigate the company 
and read as much as possible about it, or you do it yourself. 

After your research, youôre convinced itôs a solid company that will sell 
many more cars in the years ahead. The automobile company offers both 
stocks and bonds. With the bonds, the company agrees to pay you back 
your initial investment in ten years, plus pay you interest twice a year at the 
rate of 8% a year. 

If you buy the stock, you take on the risk of potentially losing a portion or all 
of your initial investment if the company does poorly or the stock market 
drops in value. But you also may see the stock increase in value beyond 
what you could earn from the bonds. If you buy the stock, you become an 
ñownerò of the company. 

You wrestle with the decision. If you buy the bonds, you will get your 
money back plus the 8% interest a year. And you think the company will be 
able to honor its promise to you on the bonds because it has been in 
business for many years and doesnôt look like it could go bankrupt. The 
company has a long history of making cars and you know that its stock has 
gone up in price by an average of 9% a year, plus it has typically paid 
stockholders a dividend of 3% from its profits each year. 

You take your time and make a careful decision. Only time will tell if you 
made the right choice. Youôll keep a close eye on the company and keep 
the stock as long as the company keeps selling a quality car that 
consumers want to drive, and it can make an acceptable profit from its 
sales. 
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Mutual Funds  

Because it is sometimes hard for investors to become experts on various 
businessesðfor example, what are the best steel, automobile, or telephone 
companiesðinvestors often depend on professionals who are trained to 
investigate companies and recommend companies that are likely to 
succeed. 

Since it takes work to pick the stocks or bonds of the companies that have 
the best chance to do well in the future, many investors choose to invest in 
mutual funds. 

What is a mutual fund? 

A mutual fund is a pool of money run by a professional or group of 
professionals called the ñinvestment adviser.ò In a managed mutual fund, 
after investigating the prospects of many companies, the fundôs investment 
adviser will pick the stocks or bonds of companies and put them into a 
fund. Investors can buy shares of the fund, and their shares rise or fall in 
value as the values of the stocks and bonds in the fund rise and fall.  

Investors may typically pay a fee when they buy or sell their shares in the 
fund, and those fees in part pay the salaries and expenses of the 
professionals who manage the fund. Even small fees can and do add up 
and eat into a significant chunk of the returns a mutual fund is likely to 
produce, so you need to look carefully at how much a fund costs and think 
about how much it will cost you over the amount of time you plan to own its 
shares. If two funds are similar in every way except that one charges a 
higher fee than the other, youôll make more money by choosing the fund 
with the lower annual costs.  

Mutual Funds Without Active Management 

One way that investors can obtain for themselves nearly the full returns of 
the market is to invest in an ñindex fund.ò This is a mutual fund that does 
not attempt to pick and choose stocks of individual companies based upon 
the research of the mutual fund managers or to try to time the marketôs 
movements. An index fund seeks to equal the returns of a major stock 
index, such as the Standard & Poor 500, the Wilshire 5000, or the Russell 
3000. Through computer programmed buying and selling, an index fund 
tracks the holdings of a chosen index, and so shows the same returns as 
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an index minus, of course, the annual fees involved in running the fund. 
The fees for index mutual funds generally are much lower than the fees for 
managed mutual funds.Historical data shows that index funds have, 
primarily because of their lower fees, enjoyed higher returns than the 
average managed mutual fund. But, like any investment, index funds 
involve risk. 

HOW SECURITIES ARE BOUGHT & SOLD  

   

New issues of stock must be registered with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) and, in some cases, the State Securities 
Commissions.   A prospectus, giving details about a company's operation 
and the stock to be issued, is printed and distributed to interested parties.  
Investment bankers or brokerage houses buy large quantities of the stock 
from the company and the company receives the money it seeks.  Stock 
certificates are issued in the name of the purchaser of the stock.  
Corporations have many different stockholders and must keep a record of 
their names and addresses.  The stock certificate of ownership of a publicly 
held corporation may be transferred from one owner to another since a 
stock certificate is a negotiable instrument.  Certificates may be held by 
brokerage houses in street name (broker firm's name) on behalf of the 
investor.  The potential buyer places an order with a broker for the stock he 
or she wishes to purchase.  A broker is a licensed professional who is 
employed by a brokerage firm and who specializes in buying and selling 
securities.  The broker puts in the buy order to the appropriate exchange.  
When someone who owns the desired stock is willing to sell at the price the 
buyer is willing to pay, the transaction takes place.  Computer technology 
and telephones are used to execute the sale.  

Ownership of bonds can also be transferred from one owner to another.  As 
with stocks, buyers go through brokers and dealers.  When the buyer and 
seller agree on a price, a transaction takes place.  With the sale of both 
stocks and bonds, the broker is paid a commission or fee for handling the 
sale.  Futures contracts are sold through a futures commission merchant in 
the same way stocks and bonds are sold, only the orders are executed on 
the Boards of Trade.  Stocks, bonds, and futures contracts can also be sold 
through commodity pools or mutual funds that involve professional 
managers making decisions about what to buy and sell.  Managers are 
paid a fee and/or a percentage of profits.    
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BUYING AND SELLING  

BUYING  
 
Deciding on the proper time to purchase a security that you would like to 
add to your portfolio is not easy.  If the price drops immediately after you 
buy, it may seem as if you missed out on a better buying opportunity.  If the 
price jumps right before you make your move, you may feel as if you paid 
too much.  As it turns out, you should not let these small fluctuations 
influence your decision too much.  As long as the fundamentals that led 
you to decide on the purchase have not changed, a few points in either 
direction should not have a large impact on the long-term value of your 
investment.  Also, the fact that an investment has been increasing in value 
of late is not a sufficient reason for you to purchase it.  Momentum can be 
very fickle and recent movement is not necessarily an indicator of future 
movement.  Buying decisions should be based on sound and thorough 
research geared toward discerning the future value of a security relative to 
its current price.  This analysis will probably not touch upon price 
movement in the very recent past.  As you learn more about investing you'll 
get better at deciding when to buy, but most experts recommend that 
beginners avoid trying to time the market and just get in as soon as they 
can and stay in for the long run.  

The proper time to buy a security is quite simply when it is available for less 
than its actual value.  These undervalued securities are actually not as rare 
as they sound.  The problem is they are never sure bets.  The value of a 
security includes estimates of the future performance of factors underlying 
the value of the security.  For stocks, these factors include things like 
earnings growth and market share.  Changes can be predicted to a degree; 
but they are subject to fluctuation due to forces both within and beyond the 
control of the company.  

 

 

 

 

 



Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 30 

The overall economic climate, changes in the industry, or even bad 
decisions by management can all cause a security poised to ascend in 
value to become an underperformer.  It is essential to practice your 
analysis before putting your money into action.  Make some mock 
purchases based on your personal analysis technique and track the 
results.  Not all of your decisions will lead to the results you were expecting, 
but if most of your choices turn out to be good and there are mitigating 
factors that you can learn from to explain your missteps, then you may be 
ready to put your analysis technique and investing strategy into action.  

At this point, the need to continuously monitor your investments does not 
disappear.  Both underperformers and overachievers should be studied 
carefully to fine-tune your strategy.  You should also regularly look at your 
securities to make sure that the fundamentals for success that led you to 
buy in the first place are intact.  If not, you may need to prepare to sell and 
start looking for the next opportunity. One way to avoid the hassles of 
deciding when to buy altogether is to practice dollar-cost averaging.  This 
strategy advocates investing a fixed dollar amount at regular intervals. The 
price when you first invest is relatively unimportant as long as the 
fundamentals are sound because you will be purchasing shares at a 
different price each time you buy.  The success of your investment then lies 
not with short-term fluctuations, but with the long-term movement of the 
value of the security.  

SELLING  
 
There comes a time when investments must be liquidated and converted 
back into cash.  In a perfect world, selling would only be necessary when 
investment goals have been reached or time horizons have expired.   
Decisions about selling can be difficult.  It can be just as hard to decide 
when to sell as it can be to decide when to buy.  No one wishes to miss out 
on gains by selling too soon, but, at the same time, no one wishes to watch 
an investment peak in value and then begin to decline.  
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Investors often seek to sell investments that have dropped in value in the 
short-term. However, if conditions have not changed significantly, drops in 
price may actually represent an opportunity to buy at a better price.  If the 
initial research which led to the purchase was sound, a temporary decline 
does not preclude the success that was originally predicted.  Things 
change and if the security no longer meets the criteria that led to its 
purchase, selling may be the best option.  Selling may also become 
necessary if investment goals change over time.  You may need to reduce 
the amount of risk in your portfolio or you may have the opportunity to seek 
out greater returns.  A security may have increased in value to the point 
that it is overvalued.  This creates an excellent opportunity to sell and seek 
out new undervalued investments.  Often you will need to make this type of 
sale in the course of rebalancing a portfolio necessitated by gains and 
losses in different areas.  

Selling can be especially difficult when an underperforming stock must be 
dumped.  Some investors let their emotions dictate their actions and hold 
onto stocks that have fallen in value rather than to sell; thinking that selling 
at a loss is like admitting that they made a mistake.  Realizing the loss and 
moving on to better investments is often preferable to continuing to hold 
onto a loser in the hopes that it will somehow rebound.  When considering 
any sale, you must factor in the costs of the sale itself.  Fees and taxes will 
eat into profits, so they must be subtracted from any increases in value to 
understand the true impact of the transaction.  Capital gains taxes are 
higher for gains on investments held less than one year, so it's often wise 
to invest for the long term rather than to buy and sell quickly.  On the other 
hand, it can be dangerous to hold an investment longer than you want to, 
simply to reduce the tax burden.  

It is essential to remember that just because an investment increases in 
value after it has been sold does not necessarily mean that it was sold 
prematurely.  Managing risk and diversification are often more important 
than capitalizing on short-term gains in a particular security.  Keeping in 
mind the initial goals for the investment and adjusting them to fit your 
present goals will allow you to make smarter decisions about selling.  
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Watch "Turnover" to Avoid Paying Excess Taxes 

To maximize your mutual fund returns, or any investment returns, know the 
effect that taxes can have on what actually ends up in your pocket. Mutual 
funds that trade quickly in and out of stocks will have what is known as 
ñhigh turnover.ò While selling a stock that has moved up in price does lock 
in a profit for the fund, this is a profit for which taxes have to be paid. 
Turnover in a fund creates taxable capital gains, which are paid by the 
mutual fund shareholders. 

The SEC requires all mutual funds to show both their before- and after-tax 
returns. The differences between what a fund is reportedly earning, and 
what a fund is earning after taxes are paid on the dividends and capital 
gains, can be quite striking. If you plan to hold mutual funds in a taxable 
account, be sure to check out these historical returns in the mutual fund 
prospectus to see what kind of taxes you might be likely to incur. 

Selecting a Financial Professional 

Are you the type of person who will read as much as possible about 
potential investments and ask questions about them? If so, maybe you 
donôt need investment advice. But if youôre busy with your job, your 
children, or other responsibilities, or feel you donôt know enough about 
investing on your own, then you may need professional investment advice.  
You should consider consulting with a Board Certified Wealth Manager 
www.aafm.us   who also has a CPA or law license. 

Investment professionals offer a variety of services at a variety of prices. It 
pays to comparison shop. 

 

You can get investment advice from most financial institutions that sell 
investments, including brokerages, banks, mutual funds, and insurance 
companies. You can also hire a broker, an investment adviser, an 
accountant, a financial planner, or other professional to help you make 
investment decisions. 

 

http://www.aafm.us/
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Choosing someone to help you with your investments is one of the most 
important investment decisions you will ever make. While most investment 
professionals are honest and hardworking, you must watch out for those 
few unscrupulous individuals. They can make your lifeôs savings disappear 
in an instant. Securities regulators and law enforcement officials can and 
do catch these criminals. But putting them in jail doesnôt always get your 
money back. Too often, the money is gone. The good news is you can 
avoid potential problems by protecting yourself. 

Letôs say youôve already met with several investment professionals based 
on recommendations from friends and others you trust, and youôve found 
someone who clearly understands your investment objectives. Before you 
hire this person, you still have more homework. 

Make sure the investment professional and her firm are registered with the 
SEC and licensed to do business in your state. And find out from your 
stateôs securities regulator whether the investment professional or her firm 
have ever been disciplined, or whether they have any complaints against 
them. You should also find out as much as you can about any investments 
that your investment professional recommends. First, make sure the 
investments are registered. Keep in mind, however, the mere fact that a 
company has registered and files reports with the SEC doesnôt guarantee 
that the company will be a good investment. Likewise, the fact that a 
company hasnôt registered and doesnôt file reports with the SEC doesnôt 
mean the company is a fraud. Still, you may be asking for serious losses if, 
for instance, you invest in a small, thinly traded company that isnôt widely 
known solely on the basis of what you may have read online.  Be wary of 
promises of quick profits, offers to share ñinside information,ò and pressure 
to invest before you have an opportunity to investigate.  

Ask your investment professional for written materials and prospectuses, 
and read them before you invest. If you have questions, now is the time to 
ask. 

¶ How will the investment make money?  
¶ How is this investment consistent with my investment goals?  
¶ What must happen for the investment to increase in value?  
¶ What are the risks?  
¶ Where can I get more information?  
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What If I Have a Problem? 

Finally, itôs always a good idea to write down everything your investment 
professional tells you. Accurate notes will come in handy if ever thereôs a 
problem.  

Some investments make money. Others lose money. Thatôs natural, and 
thatôs why you need a diversified portfolio to minimize your risk. But if you 
lose money because youôve been cheated, thatôs not natural, thatôs a 
problem.  

Sometimes all it takes is a simple phone call to your investment 
professional to resolve a problem. Maybe there was an honest mistake that 
can be corrected. If talking to the investment professional doesnôt resolve 
the problem, talk to the firmôs manager, and write a letter to confirm your 
conversation. If that doesnôt lead to a resolution, you may have to initiate 
private legal action. You may need to take action quickly because legal 
time limits for doing so vary. Your local bar association can provide 
referrals for attorneys who specialize in securities law. 

Other Investment and Insurance Products ï Insurance and Annuities 

The Insurance Industry 

The insurance industry provides protection against financial losses 
resulting from a variety of perils. By purchasing insurance policies, 
individuals and businesses can receive reimbursement for losses due to 
car accidents, theft of property, and fire and storm damage; medical 
expenses; and loss of income due to disability or death. The insurance 
industry consists mainly of insurance carriers (or insurers ) and insurance 
agencies and brokerages. In general, insurance carriers are large 
companies that provide insurance and assume the risks covered by the 
policy. Insurance agencies and brokerages sell insurance policies for the 
carriers. While some of these establishments are directly affiliated with a 
particular insurer and sell only that carrierôs policies, many are independent 
and are thus free to market the policies of a variety of insurance carriers. In 
addition to supporting these two primary components, the insurance 
industry includes establishments that provide other insurance-related 
services, such as claims adjustment or third-party administration of 
insurance and pension funds. 
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Insurance carriers assume the risk associated with annuities and insurance 
policies and assign premiums to be paid for the policies. In the policy, the 
carrier states the length and conditions of the agreement, exactly which 
losses it will provide compensation for, and how much will be awarded. The 
premium charged for the policy is based primarily on the amount to be 
awarded in case of loss, as well as the likelihood that the insurance carrier 
will actually have to pay. In order to be able to compensate policyholders 
for their losses, insurance companies invest the money they receive in 
premiums, building up a portfolio of financial assets and income-producing 
real estate which can then be used to pay off any future claims that may be 
brought. There are two basic types of insurance carriers: direct and 
reinsurance.  Direct carriers are responsible for the initial underwriting of 
insurance policies and annuities, while reinsurance carriers assume all or 
part of the risk associated with the existing insurance policies originally 
underwritten by other insurance carriers. 

Direct insurance carriers offer a variety of insurance policies. Life insurance 
provides financial protection to beneficiariesðusually spouses and 
dependent childrenðupon the death of the insured. Disability insurance 
supplies a preset income to an insured person who is unable to work due to 
injury or illness, and health insurance pays the expenses resulting from 
accidents and illness. An annuity (a contract or a group of contracts that 
furnishes a periodic income at regular intervals for a specified period) 
provides a steady income during retirement for the remainder of oneôs life. 
Property-casualty insurance protects against loss or damage to property 
resulting from hazards such as fire, theft, and natural disasters. Liability 
insurance shields policyholders from financial responsibility for injuries to 
others or for damage to other peopleôs property. Most policies, such as 
automobile and homeownerôs insurance, combine both property-casualty 
and liability coverage. Companies that underwrite this kind of insurance are 
called property-casualty carriers. 

Some insurance policies cover groups of people, ranging from a few to 
thousands of individuals. These policies usually are issued to employers for 
the benefit of their employees or to unions, professional associations, or 
other membership organizations for the benefit of their members. Among 
the most common policies of this nature are group life and health plans. 
Insurance carriers also underwrite a variety of specialized types of 
insurance, such as real-estate title insurance, employee surety and fidelity 
bonding, and medical malpractice insurance. 



Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 36 

A relatively recent act of Congress allows insurance carriers and other 
financial institutions, such as banks and securities firms, to sell one 
anotherôs products. As a result, more insurance carriers now sell financial 
products such as securities, mutual funds, and various retirement plans.  

This approach is most common in life insurance companies that already 
sell annuities; however, property and casualty companies also are 
increasingly selling a wider range of financial products. In order to expand 
into one anotherôs markets, insurance carriers, banks, and securities firms 
have engaged in numerous mergers, allowing the merging companies 
access to each other's client base and geographical markets. 

Insurance carriers have discovered that the Internet can be a powerful tool 
for reaching potential and existing customers. Most carriers use the Internet 
simply to post company information, such as sales brochures and product 
information, financial statements, and a list of local agents. However, an 
increasing number of carriers are starting to expand their Web sites to 
enable customers to access online account and billing information, and a 
few carriers even allow claims to be submitted online. Some carriers also 
provide insurance quotes online based on the information submitted by 
customers on their Internet sites. In the future, carriers will allow customers 
to purchase policies through the Internet without ever speaking to a live 
agent. In addition to individual carrier-sponsored Internet sites, several 
ñlead-generatingò sites have emerged. These sites allow potential 
customers to input information about their insurance policy needs. For a 
fee, the sites forward customer information to a number of insurance 
companies, which review the information and, if they decide to take on the 
policy, contact the customer with an offer. This practice gives consumers 
the freedom to accept the best rate. 

The insurance industry also includes a number of independent 
organizations that provide a wide array of insurance-related services to 
carriers and their clients. One such service is the processing of claims 
forms for medical practitioners. Other services include loss prevention and 
risk management. Also, insurance companies sometimes hire independent 
claims adjusters to investigate accidents and claims for property damage 
and to assign a dollar estimate to the claim. 
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Other organizations in the industry are formed by groups of insurance 
companies, to perform functions that would result in a duplication of effort if 
each company carried them out individually. For example, service 
organizations are supported by insurance companies to provide loss 
statistics, which the companies use to set their rates. 

Estate Planning 

Planning your estate is to distribute your assets according to your wishes 
after your death. Successful estate planning transfers your assets to your 
beneficiaries quickly and usually with minimal tax consequences. The 
process of estate planning includes inventorying your assets and making a 
will and/or establishing a trust, often with an emphasis on minimizing taxes. 
This pamphlet provides only a general overview of estate planning. You 
should consult an attorney, or perhaps a CPA or tax advisor for additional 
guidance. 

Do I Need to Worry? 

You may think estate planning is only for the wealthy. If your assets are 
worth $1,000,000 or more, estate planning may benefit your heirs. That's 
because generally taxable estates worth in excess of the amounts in the 
chart below may be subject to federal estate taxes, with rates as high as 
45% to 50% of the taxable estate. With the changes in 2011 and 2012, you 
may not need to worry so much because of the 5 million that you can leave, 
but it will keep changing and trusts may or may not be needed depending 
on your spouse, children and other dynamics 

Adding up the value of your assets can be an eye-opening experience. By 
the time you account for your home, investments, retirement savings and 
life insurance policies you own, you may find your estate in the taxable 
category. 

Even if your estate is not likely to be subject to federal estate taxes, estate 
planning may be necessary to be sure your intentions for disposition of 
your assets are carried out. 
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It is also important to note that estate taxes are scheduled to be repealed in 
2010. However, if Congress does not affirmatively extend the repeal, in 
2011 the estate tax law will revert to the provisions in effect in 2001 
including a $1,000,000 exclusion amount and a 55% highest estate tax 
rate. 

Taking Stock 

The first step in estate planning is to inventory everything you own and 
assign a value to each asset. Here's a list to get you started. You may need 
to delete some categories or add others. 

¶ Residence 
¶ Other real estate 
¶ Savings (bank accounts, CDs, money markets) 
¶ Investments (stocks, bonds, mutual funds) 
¶ 401(k), IRA, pension and other retirement accounts 
¶ Life insurance policies and annuities 
¶ Ownership interest in a business 
¶ Motor vehicles (cars, boats, planes) 
¶ Jewelry 
¶ Collectibles & Other personal property 
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Once you've estimated the value of your estate, you're ready to do some 
planning. Keep in mind that estate planning is not a one-time job. There are 
a number of changes that may call for a review of your plan. Take a fresh 
look at your estate plan if: 

¶ The value of your assets changes significantly. 
¶ You marry, divorce or remarry. 
¶ You have a child. 
¶ You move to a different state. 
¶ The executor of your will or the administrator of your trust dies or 

becomes incapacitated, or your relationship with that person changes 
significantly.  

¶ One of your heirs dies or has a permanent change in health. 
¶ The laws affecting your estate change. 

How Estates Are Taxed  

Federal gift and estate tax law permits each taxpayer to transfer a certain 
amount of assets free from tax during his or her lifetime or at death. (In 
addition, as discussed in the next section, certain gifts valued at $13,000 
(2012) or less can be made that are not counted against this amount.) The 
amount of money that can be shielded from federal estate or gift taxes is 
determined by the federal applicable credit. The credit is used during your 
lifetime when you make certain taxable gifts, and the balance, if any, can 
be used by your estate after your death. 

Keep in mind that while you can plan to minimize taxes, your estate may 
still have to pay some federal estate taxes. What's more, your estate may 
be subject to state estate or inheritance taxes, which are beyond the scope 
of this pamphlet. An estate planning professional can provide more 
information regarding state taxes. 

Trust Funds and Minimizing Estate Taxation  

There are a number of estate planning methods that can be used to 
minimize federal taxes on your estate. 

Giving away assets during your lifetime. Federal tax law generally 
allows each individual to give up to $13,000* per year to anyone without 
paying gift taxes, subject to certain restrictions. That means you can 
transfer some of your wealth to your children or others during your lifetime 
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to reduce your taxable estate. For example, you could give $13,000 a year 
to each of your children, and your spouse could do likewise (for a total of 
$26,000 per year to each child). You may make $13,000 annual gifts to as 
many people as you wish. You may also give your child or another person 
more than $13,000 a year without having to pay federal gift taxes, but the 
excess amount will count against the amount shielded from tax by your 
applicable credit. For example, if you gave your favorite niece $33,000 a 
year for the last three years, you would have reduced your applicable credit 
by $20,000x3=60,000 dollars (a $20,000 excess gift each year). 

* The annual gift tax exclusion will be adjusted for inflation, as measured by 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) published by the Department of Labor. 
The increases will be in multiples of $1,000. This exclusion applies only to 
a gift of a present interest in property. Therefore, gifts made in trust 
generally will not qualify for this exclusion. 

The marital deduction shields property transferred to a spouse from 
taxes. Federal tax law generally permits you to transfer assets to your 
spouse without incurring gift or estate taxes, regardless of the amount. This 
is not, however, without its drawbacks. Marital deductions may increase the 
total combined federal estate tax liability of the spouses upon the 
subsequent death of the surviving spouse. To avoid this problem, many 
couples choose to establish a bypass trust. 

 

Federal Estate and Gift Taxes 

The federal government uses a linked set of taxes on estates, gifts, and 
generation-skipping transfers to tax transfers of wealth from one generation 
to the next and to limit the extent to which wealth can be given away during 
life to avoid taxation at death. Federal taxes on transfers of wealth at death 
have been enacted in various forms since 1797, initially to raise revenue 
during crisis or war, and have been modified periodically over time.1 The 
United States has collected revenues from the current form of the taxðan 
estate taxðsince 1916. A gift tax, first introduced in 1924, prevents wealthy 
individuals from avoiding the estate tax by transferring wealth while they 
are alive. 

 

http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#76
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Federal transfer taxes have historically made up a relatively small share of 
total federal revenuesðaccounting for 1 percent to 2 percent of total 
revenues in most of the past 60 years. The Congressional Budget Office 
(CBO) projects that, under current law, federal revenues from estate and 
gift taxes will be $420 billion, or 1.2 percent of total revenues, over the 
2010ï2019 period.  

Since 1977, less than 2 percent of adults who die each year have typically 
left estates large enough to be taxable. Because of recent increases in the 
amount of an estate that is exempt from taxation, a relatively small 
percentage of estates are taxable today. In 2007, 17,400 taxable estate tax 
returns were filed; most were for deaths in 2006, representing about 0.7 
percent of adult deaths in that year. The average tax rate for taxable 
estatesðcalculated as the estate tax liability divided by the value of the net 
taxable estate (the value minus certain deductions, such as charitable 
bequests and bequests to a spouse)ðhas remained near 25 percent since 
the 1940s, even as the share of estates subject to the tax fluctuated 
because of changes in the value of the effective exemption amount. 

The Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 
(EGTRRA) phased out the estate tax beginning in 2001, primarily by 
increasing the amount of an estate that is exempt from taxation and by 
reducing the top marginal tax rate (the rate that applies to the last dollar of 
an estate). Under that law, the effective exemption amount is $3.5 million in 
2009, and the top marginal tax rate is 45 percent. In 2010, the estate tax is 
temporarily repealed. Starting in 2011, the estate tax is reinstated with an 
effective exemption amount of $1 million and a maximum marginal tax rate 
of 55 percent (plus a 5 percent surtax on taxable transfers between $10.0 
million and $17.184 million).  

The scheduled repeal of the estate tax in 2010, followed by a reversion to a 
$1 million effective exemption amount thereafter, has raised interest in 
modifying the estate tax. Proposals include making permanent the repeal of 
the estate tax; maintaining the current system of estate taxation, with 
estates paying tax on amounts exceeding a specified exemption amount; 
and replacing the estate tax with an inheritance tax. The House of 
Representatives recently passed legislation (H.R. 4154) that would 
permanently retain the estate and gift taxes at the parameters in place for 
2009. 
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How the United States Taxes Transfers of Wealth 

The federal government levies three types of taxes on transfers of wealth: 

Á An estate tax on the net value of assets transferred to other 
individuals when a person dies, 

Á A gift tax on the value of gifts that a person gives to others during that 
personôs lifetime, and 

Á A generation-skipping transfer tax on some transfers of wealth at 
death to certain heirs. 

All three taxes contain provisions that effectively exempt some portion of 
the transfer from taxation. Table 1 summarizes legislated changes to estate 
and gift taxes since 2001.  

Estate Tax 
The executor of the estate of someone who dies in 2009 must file a federal 
estate tax return and pay federal estate taxes within nine months of the 
date of death if the value of the gross estate exceeds $3.5 million.2 The 
gross estate generally includes all of the decedentôs assets, his or her 
share of jointly owned assets, gifts and gift taxes paid within three years of 
death, and, in certain cases, life insurance proceeds. The value of the 
estateôs assets is usually determined as the market value on the date of 
death. A fixed credit, known as the unified credit, effectively exempts the 
first $3.5 million of the estate from taxes in 2009, and a tax rate of 45 
percent is applied to the value of the taxable estate that exceeds $3.5 
million. The effective exemption becomes unlimited for deaths in 2010, 
effectively repealing the estate tax, and drops to $1 million in 2011. 
Deductions can reduce the amount of an estate that is taxable. Allowable 
deductions include charitable bequests, debts, and the full value of 
transfers to a surviving spouse. Because each spouse can use the unified 
credit, married couples can effectively double the amount exempt from 
estate taxes (to $7.0 million in 2009) through careful tax planning; any tax 
that is due is usually paid when the surviving spouse dies. For 2009, the 
amount of any estate or inheritance taxes paid to a state government is 
also deducted from the value of the estate. (For additional details, see Box 
1.) Before 2002, federal estate taxes were reduced by a credit (rather than 
a deduction) for the state taxes on inherited wealth.3 Under current law, 
that deduction will revert to a tax credit in 2011. 

http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#1042176
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#77
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#1042328
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#1042328
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#78
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Box 1.  

State Taxes on Inherited Wealth 

Before the passage of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation 
Act (EGTRRA) in 2001, estates received a credit against their federal 
estate tax liability for any estate, inheritance, legacy, or succession tax paid 
to a state. Under EGTRRA, the credit for those state taxes was phased out 
over four years and replaced by a deduction. The Congressional Budget 
Office estimates that converting to a deduction caused federal estate tax 
revenues to be about $3.4 billion higher in 2006 than they would have been 
if the credit had been retained.  Before EGTRRA, every state levied such 
taxes in a way that ensured that their tax collections on transfers of wealth 
at death were at least the maximum amount the federal government 
allowed to be taken as a credit. In fact, 24 states pegged their estate tax 
statutes to the federal tax code in such a way that eliminating the tax credit 
for state taxes on wealth transfers would have effectively reduced the 
statesô receipts from such taxes to zero. In 2001, taxable estates claimed 
credits for over $6.2 billion in estate and inheritance taxes paid to states. 
Faced with losing significant amounts of revenue because of the changes 
in EGTRRA, many states acted to retain an estate tax, and others decided 
to have no estate, inheritance, or gift taxes. As of 2009, 23 states continued 
to collect either an estate or inheritance tax, either by changing their 
statutes to decouple them from the federal statute or by retaining or 
enacting estate or inheritance taxes that are not tied to the federal tax.1 
Statesô taxes on inherited wealth fell from 1.4 percent of their total tax 
receipts in 2000 to 0.7 percent in 2008.2 

 
 
1 

Elizabeth McNichol, State Taxes on Inherited Wealth Remain Common: 23 
States Levy an Estate or Inheritance Tax (Washington, D.C.: Center on 
Budget and Policy Priorities, December 16, 2009).  
 
2 
U.S. Census Bureau, Annual Survey of State Government Tax Collections 
(2000, 2008), www.census.gov/govs/statetax/index.html. 

 

http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#47
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#48
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#wwfootnote_inline_47
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#wwfootnote_inline_48
http://www.census.gov/govs/statetax/index.html
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Gift Tax 

 
In 2009, a taxpayer may make an annual tax-free gift of up to $13,000 to 
each recipient. (Married couples may exclude $26,000 of gifts per recipient, 
and taxpayers may make unlimited tax-free gifts to spouses and charities.) 
The annual limit is indexed for inflation. The recipient of the gift does not 
have to include the amount of the gift in his or her taxable income. A donor 
pays tax on gifts above that amount during his or her life only when the 
cumulative amount of annual gifts above the $13,000 limit exceeds the $1 
million gift tax exemption. The effective estate tax exemption and the $1 
million gift tax exemption are not cumulative; when a person who has given 
gifts dies, the estate tax exemption is reduced by the total amount of the 
gift tax exemption used during the decedentôs life. In all years, pure 
carryover basis applies to assets given during life, meaning that the 
recipient of a gift assumes the basis of the donorðgenerally the original 
cost of the assetðfor computing capital gains.  

Generation-Skipping Transfer Tax 
The generation-skipping transfer (GST) tax is levied at the highest estate 
tax rate (45 percent in 2009) on transfers directly from a decedent to an 
heir who is more than one generation younger than the decedent, such as 
a grandchild. The exemptions for the GST tax and the estate tax are the 
same, and married couples can again double-up on the exemption with 
estate planning. GSTs are also subject to applicable estate and gift taxes, 
making the total tax on GSTs so high that very few estates make such 
transfers. Under current law, the GST tax will be repealed for 2010 and 
reinstated in 2011. 
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Figure .  

Estate Tax Returns 

 
Source: Congressional Budget Office based on data from the Internal 
Revenue Service. 

a. Data for taxable estate tax returns are from Internal Revenue Service, 
SOI Bulletin, vol. 28, no. 4 (Spring 2009), Table 17, pp. 222ï223, 
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www.irs.gov/pub/irs-soi/09sprbul.pdf. Data are shown only for years for 
which Statistics of Income (SOI) data are available. Data after 2004 are 
CBO estimates based on information from various SOI Bulletins, 
www.irs.gov/taxstats/indtaxstats/article/0,,id=210646,00.html. 

b. The exemption is unlimited in 2010 and is therefore not shown in the 
figure. Inflation-adjusted data after 2008 are CBO projections.  

The impact of inflation on fixed exemption amounts explains much of the 
growth in the share of estates that were taxable between 1950 and the mid-
1970s (see Figure 2). The amount of an estate exempt from taxation 
remained at $60,000 from 1942 through 1976. Inflation eroded the value of 
that exemption over time, making an increasing share of estates taxable. 
Starting with the Tax Reform Act of 1976, a series of laws resulted in 
annual increases in the amount of estates and gifts exempt from taxation, 
until the effective exemption amount reached $600,000 in 1987 (slightly 
above $1 million in 2008 dollars).6 The nominal value of that exemption 
remained fixed through 1997 (the inflation-adjusted value of the exemption 
declined between 1987 and 1998) and has been increased sharply since 
then, reaching $2.0 million in 2005 and $3.5 million in 2009, culminating in 
a one-year unlimited exemption in 2010. After 2010, the effective 
exemption amount drops to $1 million. 

Larger estates pay a significant portion of the estate tax. In 2007, taxes on 
gross estates valued at more than $20 million were 36 percent of total 
estate taxes for that year, and taxes on gross estates valued at more than 
$10 million accounted for 55 percent of total estate taxes. 

Since the 1940s, estate and gift tax payments have averaged about 25 
percent of the net taxable estate (the value of the estate after allowable 
deductions but before subtracting the effective exemption amount). The 
underlying structure of the estate tax provides for graduated tax rates, 
under which smaller estates face a lower tax rate. In recent years, 
increases in the amount of the estate exempt from taxation and reductions 
in the highest marginal tax rates exempted smaller estates from the estate 
tax and made the rate structure much flatter (that is, it reduced the 
difference between the highest and lowest marginal tax rates). The net 
result was that the average tax paid by the now smaller number of taxable 
estates rose slightly for returns filed from 2005 through 2007, to about 27 
percent of the value of the net taxable estate.  

http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-soi/09sprbul.pdf
http://www.irs.gov/taxstats/indtaxstats/article/0,,id=210646,00.html
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#1044151
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#81
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The Impact of Estate and Gift Taxes 

Like most taxes, estate and gift taxes affect taxpayersô behavior, 
particularly their decisions about how much to save, work, and give to 
charity. The taxes also affect peopleôs decisions about when to sell 
appreciated assets and when and how to transfer wealth to others. A 
frequently expressed concern is whether the estates of owners of family 
farms and small businesses can afford to pay estate taxes without 
liquidating assets.  

Consumption, Saving, and Work Effort 
The estate tax could have varying effects on consumption, saving, and 
work effort, depending on peopleôs motives for leaving bequests to heirs. 
Consensus is lacking about which motives predominate or even about 
whether people work and save more or less as a result of estate and gift 
taxes.7 A lower estate tax makes it cheaper for people to leave money to 
their heirs, which could encourage people to work more or save more to 
leave larger bequests. But a lower estate tax also means that people can 
make the same after-tax bequest with a smaller amount of savings, which 
might induce them to work and save less. Alternatively, some people might 
acquire wealth largely for other purposes and leave it as a bequest only if 
they died before they expected to. In that case, changes to the estate tax 
would have little effect on saving or work effort. Furthermore, to the extent 
that a lower estate tax increases the size of bequests after taxes, potential 
recipients may work less or increase their consumption.8 The empirical 
evidence on the effect of the estate tax on consumption, saving, and work 
effort is inconclusive. 

Family Farms and Small Businesses 
A commonly expressed concern is the effect of the estate tax on family 
farms and small businesses, including the possibility that heirs may be 
forced to liquidate the business to pay the estate tax. As with the general 
public, most owners of family farms and small businesses are unlikely to 
owe estate tax. About 2.1 percent of farmers (1,137) and 2.4 percent of 
small-business owners (8,291) who died in 2005 had to file estate tax 
returns.9  The vast majority of estates, including those of farmers and small-
business owners, had enough liquid assets to pay the estate taxes they 
owed in 2005.10 However, estates involving farms or small businesses are 
slightly less likely than other estates to have sufficient liquid assets to cover 
their estate taxes. In 2000, when the effective estate tax exemption amount 
was $675,000, 138 (or about 8 percent) of the estates of farmers who left 

http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#82
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#83
http://www.cbo.gov/ftpdocs/108xx/doc10841/Estate_GiftTax_Brief.shtml#84
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enough assets to owe estate taxes faced a tax payment that exceeded 
their liquid assets, compared with about 5 percent of all estates that owed 
taxes. Those numbers are upper bounds, however, because the definition 
of liquid assets used on estate tax returns excludes some money held in 
trusts, which could also be used to pay estate taxes. The increase in the 
exemption amount since 2000 probably further mitigated the impact on 
small businesses. Moreover, the estate tax currently includes several 
provisions that owners of family farms and small businesses can use to 
mitigate its effect. For example, heirs are allowed to pay the tax in 
installments over 15 years at low interest rates, and several special 
valuation provisions allow some assets to be assessed at less than their 
market value.11 The complexity of the estate tax, especially for estates with 
illiquid assets, such as farms and closely held businesses, might make 
complying with the tax costly. Although estimates of estate planning costs 
vary widely, the most comprehensive analysis of compliance costs finds 
that they amounted to about 7 percent of estate tax receipts in 1999.12 
Those costs are likely to be higher for estates with less liquidity; special 
rules apply to such estates, with the goal of ameliorating the tax burden.13 
However, it is difficult to identify how much of the costs of estate planning 
result directly from the estate tax as opposed to the costs of general estate 
planning, which would be needed even in the absence of the tax. 

Charitable Giving  
Most gifts to charity are either charitable bequests specified in a decedentôs 
will or charitable donations made during life. The tax code may influence 
the amount of giving by affecting both the cost of giving (relative to that of 
other possible uses for the money) and the amount of wealth available to 
individuals to give. The estate tax and the individual income tax affect both 
factors. 

Charitable bequests are exempt from the estate tax, thus lowering the price 
of charitable bequests relative to fully taxable bequests to heirs. A 
charitable organization receives one dollar for every dollar left as a 
charitable bequest, whereas an heir might receive 55 cents for every dollar 
left as a bequest (with a marginal estate tax rate of 45 percent). However, 
the estate tax lowers the potential size of an inheritance, which might make 
an individual less likely to donate to charity.  
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Larger estates bequeath a larger percentage of their assets to charity than 
do smaller estates. Estates valued at less than $20 million bequeathed 5 
percent ($7.3 billion) of their assets to charity, compared with 21 percent 
($12.4 billion) of assets for taxable estates valued at over $20 million. Most 
studies have found that the estate tax clearly increases charitable bequests 
and probably increases charitable donations during life.14 

The Timing of Wealth Transfers 
Estate and gift taxes, in combination with the progressive income tax 
schedule, create a number of incentives for taxpayers to transfer wealth to 
their relatives as gifts during life instead of through bequests at death.15 
How much those taxes affect the amount of gifts is not clear, but in timing 
their wealth transfers, the wealthy appear to be very responsive to their 
expectations of changes in tax rates and to differences between estate and 
gift tax rates. For example, when the Tax Reform Act of 1976 raised the 
maximum gift tax rate from 57.75 percent to 70 percent, gift tax receipts 
quadrupled in the months between the lawôs enactment and its effective 
date (see Figure 3). 

The interaction between the income tax treatment of capital gains and the 
estate tax treatment of inherited assets is an important part of estate 
taxation. Under the income tax, when an asset is sold for more than the 
price at which it was purchased, the seller realizes a capital gain, which 
generally is subject to income taxation. The taxable gain is measured as 
the difference between the cost of purchasing the asset (its basis) and the 
value of the asset when the gain is realized.  

Individuals can avoid paying tax on capital gains by holding the assets until 
death. Capital gains on appreciated assets in an estate are not subject to 
income taxation when the owner dies. In addition, except in 2010, heirs 
receive stepped-up basis on inherited assets. In that treatment, the basis of 
the asset is generally measured as an assetôs fair market value on the date 
of the decedentôs death rather than as the original price the decedent paid 
for the asset. Capital gains taxes will be due only if the heir sells the asset, 
and the heir is liable only for capital gains tax assessed on the increase in 
the assetôs value from the date it was inherited until the date it is sold.  
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Figure 3.  

Gift Tax Receipts, Fiscal Years 1945 to 2019 

(Billions of 2008 dollars) 

 

Source: Congressional Budget Office based on data in David Joulfaian, 
The Federal Gift Tax: History, Law, and Economics, OTA Paper 100 
(Department of the Treasury, Office of Tax Analysis, November 2007), 
Table 6, p. 44, www.ustreas.gov/offices/tax-policy/library/ota100.pdf; and 
Internal Revenue Service Data Books, various years, 
www.irs.gov/taxstats/article/0,,id=211513,00.html. Data after 2008 are CBO 
projections. 

After the enactment of EGTRRA in 2001, taxpayers cut their taxable gift 
giving by more than half, partly in anticipation of the repeal of the estate 
and generation-skipping transfer taxes and the reduction in the tax rate on 
gifts to 35 percent in 2010. Under current law, CBO anticipates a surge in 
taxable gifts in 2010, as seen by the spike in CBOôs forecast of gift tax 
receipts in 2011, when the tax on gifts given in 2010 will be due. 

The gift tax is retained under EGTRRA even in 2010, when the estate tax 
and the generation-skipping transfer tax are repealed. The gift tax serves 
an important role in protecting the income tax base and discouraging 
wealthy individuals from using gifts and the progressive income tax rate 
schedule to reduce taxation. In the absence of a gift tax, a high-income 
taxpayer could give assets with a low tax basis but a high current value as 
a gift to an individual in a lower tax bracket, who could sell them and pay 
taxes at his or her lower tax rate.16 That recipient could then give the 
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proceeds back to the high-income taxpayer. Similarly, a high-income 
taxpayer could give an asset that generates a lot of taxable income to 
someone in a lower tax bracket, who would pay less tax on that income. By 
taxing large lifetime transfers of wealth, the gift tax discourages those types 
of transactions and the resulting loss of revenue.  

Capital Gains Realizations 
The current treatment of capital gains in the tax code allows an individual to 
avoid realizing capital gains by holding onto assets until death. As a result, 
the purchaser of an asset that has appreciated may be reluctant to sell it 
(the lock-in effect), thereby reducing realizations of capital gains during his 
or her lifetime (see Box 2). However, the step-up in basis at death under 
estate tax law (except in 2010) eliminates the incentive for the individual 
who inherits the asset to hold on to it, because no capital gains tax is due 
on any appreciation that occurred before the asset was inherited.17 

Box 2.  

The Estate Tax and Capital Gains 

When the estate tax is temporarily repealed in 2010, the calculation of 
basis for assets transferred from a decedent changes. In 2010, a ñmodified 

The interaction between the income tax treatment of capital gains and the 
estate tax treatment of inherited assets is an important part of estate 
taxation. Under the income tax, when an asset is sold for more than the 
price at which it was purchased, the seller realizes a capital gain, which 
generally is subject to income taxation. The taxable gain is measured as 
the difference between the cost of purchasing the asset (its basis) and the 
value of the asset when the gain is realized.  

Individuals can avoid paying tax on capital gains by holding the assets until 
death. Capital gains on appreciated assets in an estate are not subject to 
income taxation when the owner dies. In addition, except in 2010, heirs 
receive stepped-up basis on inherited assets. In that treatment, the basis of 
the asset is generally measured as an assetôs fair market value on the date 
of the decedentôs death rather than as the original price the decedent paid 
for the asset. Capital gains taxes will be due only if the heir sells the asset, 
and the heir is liable only for capital gains tax assessed on the increase in 
the assetôs value from the date it was inherited until the date it is sold.  
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carryover basisò will be used for inherited assets. Under pure carryover 
basis, the basis of assets in the hands of an heir is generally the same as it 
was in the hands of the decedent. Under modified carryover basis, selected 
assets have their basis stepped-up by up to $1.3 million and by an 
additional $3 million for assets left to a surviving spouse. The basis of any 
assets that do not receive that step-up is generally measured as the price 
that the decedent originally paid for the asset. 

 

The estate tax, however, reduces the benefit of holding an asset until 
death, even with a step-up in basis. No income tax would be due on the 
appreciation of the asset when it was bequeathed, but the entire value of 
the asset (including its basis) would be part of the estate subject to the 
estate tax. Some research suggests that, on net, higher estate taxes result 
in slightly higher capital gains realizations and that reducing estate tax 
rates could result in lower realizations.18  

Under current law, a modified carryover basis will apply in 2010 to the first 
$1.3 million of inherited capital gains ($4.3 million for married couples). To 
the extent that inherited assets receive carryover basis instead of stepped-
up basis, individuals who expect to die in 2010 with a large estate may be 
more willing to sell appreciated assets before death, and some unrealized 
capital gains and losses may be unlocked.19 However, heirs of assets that 
received carryover basis may be less likely to sell them, because capital 
gains tax is due when they are sold. 

Policy Options for Changing the Taxation of Wealth Transfers  

The House of Representatives recently passed legislation (H.R. 4154) that 
would permanently extend estate and gift tax law as it stands in 2009ðthat 
is, with an effective exemption amount of $3.5 million for the estate tax and 
the generation-skipping transfer tax, with no adjustment for inflation, and a 
tax rate of 45 percent. In its August 2009 report Budget Options, Volume 2, 
CBO discussed a number of other options for modifying estate and gift 
taxes, including permanently extending the law in effect in 2009 (but unlike 
H.R. 4154, adjusting the exemption amounts for the estate and GST taxes 
for inflation) and permanently repealing the estate tax.20  

This brief examines those three alternatives and a fourth, which would 
apply an inheritance tax to each person inheriting assets. All three estate 
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tax options examined in this brief, including H.R. 4154, would retain the gift 
tax with a $1 million exemption amount, but that sum would not be indexed 
for inflation, thus reducing its value over time.21 An inheritance tax would 
probably be combined with modifications of the existing estate and gift 
taxes. CBO discusses those particular options to highlight the key issues 
involved in changing the taxation of wealth transfers; as always, the agency 
makes no recommendations regarding policy choices. 

The three options that provide specific ways to modify or repeal the estate 
tax would reduce federal revenues. An inheritance tax could increase or 
decrease revenues, depending on how it is structured, including any 
associated changes to the estate and gift taxes. 

The Congress could instead choose to make no changes to current law 
and allow the estate tax to expire at the end of 2009 and reappear in 2011 
with an effective exemption amount of $1 million and a top tax rate of 55 
percent (see Table 1). CBO projects that revenues from estate and gift 
taxes under current law will total $420 billion over the 2010ï2019 period 
(see Table 2). 

Permanently Repeal the Estate Tax 
The first option would make EGTRRAôs provisions for estate and gift taxes 
in 2010 permanent. Thus, the estate and the generation-skipping transfer 
taxes would not be reinstated, and the gift tax exemption would remain at 
$1 million. In addition, this option would permanently retain the modified 
carryover basis that EGTRRA specifies in 2010 for some transferred 
assets. This set of changes would have the largest impact on revenues and 
would elicit the largest behavioral response from taxpayers. The staff of the 
Joint Committee on Taxation estimates that those changes together would 
reduce revenues by $502 billion between 2010 and 2019 (see Table 3). 
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Table 3.  

Estimated Change in Revenues from Modifications to Estate and Gift 
Taxes 

The revenue loss from repealing the estate tax exceeds CBOôs forecast of 
estate and gift tax revenues under current law because changes to estate 
tax law would affect receipts from individual income taxes by inducing 
changes in capital gains realizations. People inheriting assets with 
carryover basis are more likely to hold on to them rather than to sell them 
and pay more capital gains tax than they would have owed under stepped-
up basis. Hence, repeal would reduce revenues from capital gains taxes. A 
permanent repeal would also significantly reduce gift tax receipts, because 
wealthy individuals would be unlikely to make taxable gifts when they could 
instead make tax-free bequests at death.  

The revenue loss would be slightly offset because charitable bequests and 
lifetime charitable giving would be likely to fall as a result of repeal, 
increasing individual income tax revenues. However, the existing income 
tax deduction for charitable gifts would remain and would continue to 
increase such giving above the amounts that would be seen if the gifts 
were motivated by altruism alone.  

Repealing the estate tax would simplify the tax system and would eliminate 
the need for large estates to file estate tax returns and pay estate tax. 
Although repeal would reduce the filing burden on estates, it would 
increase recordkeeping for estates with very large capital gains and for 
their heirs, who would have to know the basis of any asset they inherited. 
Some assets would receive stepped-up basis; for other assets, heirs would 
have to determine and document the price the decedent paid, despite the 
difficulty of tracking asset values across generations. Carryover basis 
would also be difficult for the Internal Revenue Service to administer.  

Repeal would eliminate a progressive element of the federal system 
because only relatively large estates are taxed. Because heirs probably 
bear at least a portion of the burden of the estate tax, the tax may be less 
progressive when measured against the assets of heirs than when 
measured against the decedentôs estate, but to the extent that heirs of 
taxable estates are wealthier than average, the estate tax still contributes to 
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the overall progressivity of the federal tax system.22 Raising other federal 
taxes to make up for the revenues lost from repealing the estate tax might 
shift more of the federal tax burden to less affluent households.  

Repealing the estate tax would spare all family farms and small businesses 
from the tax. It would also reduce state income tax revenues for states that 
have not broken the link between their estate taxes and federal statutes 
governing estate taxes. 

Make 2009 Law Permanent Without Indexing the Exemption Amounts 
The second option, which is identical to H.R. 4154, would keep the tax rate 
at 45 percent and maintain the effective exemption amounts for the estate 
and GST taxes at $3.5 million beginning in 2010 and not adjust them for 
inflation.23 The stepped-up basis would continue to apply to assets 
transferred from a decedent, and a deduction for state taxes on inherited 
wealth would be provided. The exemption amount for the gift tax would 
remain at $1 million. Those changes would reduce revenues by $234 billion 
over 10 years, according to the JCT.  

Retaining the estate tax at the parameters in effect for 2009 would affect 
peopleôs behavior less than would repealing the tax. Relative to current law, 
it would increase the number of estates resulting from deaths in 2010 that 
would be subject to the estate tax, but after 2010 it would lower the number 
of estates that would pay that tax. After 2010, raising the effective 
exemption to $3.5 million would reduce charitable giving, thus raising 
individual income tax receipts (charitable gifts made during life are 
deductible from taxable income). Compared with repeal, however, setting 
the effective exemption at $3.5 million would increase charitable giving. 
The retention of the deduction for a stateôs estate and inheritance taxes in 
this option would raise revenues compared with the reversion to a credit for 
state taxes as scheduled under current law. 

Setting the effective exemption amount at $3.5 million in 2010 would nearly 
eliminate the incentive to make large taxable gifts to relatives in 2010, 
reducing projected gift tax receipts in 2011. It would increase receipts from 
estate and gift taxes between 2011 and 2013, because taxpayers would no 
longer shift wealth transfers from those years into 2010 to reap the benefits 
of the 35 percent tax on gifts and the repeal of the GST tax in that year.  
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Make 2009 Law Permanent and Index the Exemption Amounts 
The third option would make 2009 law permanent while also indexing the 
amount of the estate and GST exempt from taxation. This option would 
reduce revenues but would avoid the phenomenon in which inflation erodes 
the value of the exemption amount, resulting in a larger share of the 
population being required to pay the tax over time. The JCT estimates that 
those changes would reduce revenues by $244 billion over 10 years, about 
$11 billion more than not indexing the estate tax exemption amount for 
inflation.  

Create an Inheritance Tax 
An inheritance tax provides an alternative method for taxing transfers of 
wealth. It would be applied separately to each person inheriting assets. The 
inheritance tax could be set up so that heirs with lower income or less 
wealth paid a lower tax than did heirs with higher income or more wealth, 
so that smaller inheritances would be taxed at lower rates than larger 
inheritances, or so that closer relatives paid lower taxes than more distantly 
related heirs.24 Most countries that tax wealth transfers use inheritance 
taxes rather than estate and gift taxes.  

There is no consensus as to whether such a tax system would be more or 
less complex than the current one. Although an inheritance tax might 
eliminate certain tax-planning strategies used to reduce estate and gift 
taxes, it would require more taxpayers to file returns, and estates would still 
need to keep records and file information returns.  

This brief was prepared by Pamela Greene. It and other CBO publications 
are available on this Web site. 
 
Douglas W. Elmendorf Director 
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Charitable gifts are not taxed as long as the contribution is made to 
an organization that operates for religious, charitable or educational 
purposes. Check to see if the organization you want to give money to is an 
eligible charity in the eyes of the Internal Revenue Service. You, or your 
estate may be entitled to a tax deduction for contributions to a qualifying 
charity. Consult your tax advisor. 

Life insurance trusts can be designed to keep the proceeds of a life 
insurance policy out of your estate and give your estate the liquidity it 
needs. Generally, you can fund a life insurance trust either by transferring 
an existing life insurance policy or by having the trust purchase a new 
policy.*  

To avoid inclusion in your estate, such trusts must be irrevocableð
meaning that you cannot dissolve the trust or change the terms of the trust 
if you change your mind later. With proper planning, the proceeds from life 
insurance held by the trust may pass to trust beneficiaries without income 
or estate taxes. This gives them cash which may be used to help pay 
estate taxes or other expenses, such as debts or funeral costs. 

* Transferring an existing policy may have gift tax consequences. Consult 
your tax advisor. 

Estate planning is very complex and is subject to changing laws. This 
pamphlet by no means covers all estate planning methods. Be sure to seek 
professional advice from a qualified attorney, and perhaps a CPA or estate 
planner. The money you spend now to plan your estate can mean more 
money for your beneficiaries in the long run. 

 

 

 

 



Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 63 

 

 

Basics of Life Insurance Policies and Types of Insurance 

 
Life Insurance  
 
How Much Life Insurance Do I Need?  
 
There is no precise formula to tell you how much insurance coverage you 
need. Some consumer groups recommend five times your gross annual 
income. Under this formula, a family with an income of $40,000 might need 
at least $200,000 worth of life insurance protection (face value of the policy). 
 
Some insurance industry organizations recommend a policy paying ten 
times your gross yearly income. With this formula, the family mentioned 
above would need $400,000 worth of insurance. 
 
Before buying life insurance, assemble your personal financial information 
and review your needs. You should consider:  
¶ Immediate needs at the time of death, such as final illness expenses, 

burial costs, and estate taxes.  
¶ Funds for a readjustment period, to finance a move or to provide time 

for remaining family members to find jobs or better-paying jobs.  
¶ Ongoing financial needs such as monthly bills and expenses, 

outstanding debts, day-care costs, college tuition, support for elderly 
parents, and retirement.  

You also need to take into account any assets you have, such as cash; 
savings; Social Security and pension benefits; other insurance, including 
mortgage insurance; and, real estate. Some of these assets will be available 
for immediate use, some to finance a readjustment period, and others may 
help your family meet long-term, continuing needs.  

 
What Kind of Life Insurance Should I Buy?  
 
Not all life insurance policies are the same. There are four basic types of life 
insurance: Term Life Insurance, Whole Life Insurance, Universal Life 
Insurance, and Variable Life Insurance.  
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Term Life Insurance  
 
Term Life Insurance policies provide a check to your beneficiary when you 
die. Term Life Insurance policies generally are cheaper and easier to 
understand than other kinds of life insurance policies. Term Life Insurance 
usually offers you the best value for your money by giving you the biggest 
death benefit for your premium dollar. 
 
Term Life Insurance covers you for a term of one or more years. It pays a 
death benefit only if you die in that term. 
 
You can renew most Term Life Insurance policies for one or more terms 
even if your health has changed, although you may be required to complete 
a medical questionnaire and might be refused insurance if your health is 
poor. But each time you renew the policy for a new term, premiums may be 
higher because you will be older.  
If you are thinking of buying Term Life Insurance, make sure you can afford 
the premiums for as long as you want to keep the policy. You should ask the 
company to show you how you could expect premiums to increase over a 
10-year or 20-year period. 
 
To avoid yearly increases, you may want to look for 5, 10, 20, or even 30-
year renewable Term Life Insurance policies where the premiums will stay 
the same for those periods. These long-term policies may "lock in" 
premiums for as long as you need a high level of insurance, e.g., until your 
mortgage is paid or your children graduate from college. 
 
Most Term Life Insurance policies are convertible. You can exchange your 
Term Life Insurance policy for a Whole Life or other type of insurance policy 
without taking a medical exam or answering any health questions. You may 
decide to convert your Term Life Insurance policy if your health declines; it 
may be difficult for you to qualify for a new Term Life Insurance policy at 
affordable rates. Conversion is usually allowed until age 65.  
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Whole Life Insurance, Universal Life Insurance, and Variable Life 
Insurance  
 
All of these types of insurance differ from Term Life Insurance in one way: 
once you have paid your premiums for a number of years, the policy will 
have a cash value attached to it. But, if you withdraw all or part of the cash 
value, the amount of money you receive usually has substantial surrender 
charges already taken out of the amount you will get. The amount you may 
expect to receive when you terminate the policy is called the cash surrender 
value. You may need to pay taxes on the cash surrender value when it is 
paid out to you.  
 
If you buy a cash surrender value policy, be sure you will be able to keep up 
premium payments for at least fifteen to twenty years. If you cash the policy 
in before that time, the surrender charges and other expenses might leave 
you little actual cash surrender value remaining. 
 
Agent commissions on cash surrender value policies are several times 
higher than those on Term Life Insurance policies. Keep this in mind if an 
agent continues to recommend a Whole Life Insurance policy when you ask 
about Term Life Insurance. 
 
The insurance company will lend you money against the cash surrender 
value of your policy, or you may use your cash surrender value as collateral 
for a bank loan. If the loan is with the insurance company, you may have the 
option of paying the loan interest from any value that is left or future 
dividends that you earn. But, if there is not enough left in your account 
to support at least those payments, you are in danger of losing the 
policy altogether. Plus, if you die and the loan has not been repaid, the 
insurance company will deduct the amount owed plus interest from the 
money paid to your beneficiary. 
 
In recent years, some consumers were encouraged to make a loan against 
the cash surrender value or to use dividends from insurance policies they 
already owned to buy a new or additional policy. Some consumers found 
they had taken too much in loans. They lost the first policy and then couldn't 
afford the second policy. Even if you are in no danger of losing one or both 
policies, these kinds of transactions are not generally in your best interest.  
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Whole Life Insurance  
 
Whole Life Insurance may be called straight life, ordinary life, or permanent 
insurance. Whole Life Insurance covers you for as long as you live, as long 
as you pay the premiums. There is no need to renew Whole Life policies. In 
order to buy Whole Life Insurance you will usually have to fill out a health 
questionnaire, and you may need to have a medical exam. Depending on 
the medical information you provide, your premiums may be higher than the 
standard rate, or the insurance company may decide not to offer you a life 
insurance policy. 
 It is important to be very honest about any medical conditions which could 
affect your life insurance. Your beneficiaries might receive no benefit at all if 
you die within two years of buying the policy and you have not told the truth 
about a situation or medical condition which would have caused the 
company to deny you insurance if they had known the truth. 
 
With a Whole Life Insurance policy, you generally pay the same amount in 
premiums for as long as you live. This premium is based on your age and 
your health at the time of purchase. In some cases, the premium you pay 
may change over time, but you would be shown this when you first buy the 
policy. Be sure you understand what your premium payments will be and 
that you can afford them over time. 
 
In the early years of the policy, premiums for Whole Life Insurance may be 
much higher than you would pay for the same amount of Term Life 
Insurance. But remember, the premiums in most term policies will rise each 
time you renew. 
 
Many Whole Life Insurance policies also earn dividends, usually on an 
annual basis. If you do not take the dividends out when they are earned, but 
instead leave them on account with the insurance company, the dividends 
will also earn interest. 
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If a company pays dividends, it may pay more or less in dividends than it 
had been paying when you bought the policy. The dividends a company will 
pay depend on many factors, including the performance of their own 
investments and the efficiency of their operations. The company's earnings 
and expenses can fluctuate just like the stock market. When you are 
choosing an insurance company that pays dividends, ask for a company's 
history of projected dividends versus paid dividends. Remember that 
dividends are not guaranteed and may differ from those shown in sales 
illustrations.  Sometimes, dividends may be used to purchase Paid-Up 
Additions (PUA's) to your policy, an increase to the death benefit. Some 
companies will use the dividends on your policy to buy additional Term Life 
Insurance. But, you might have less insurance than you planned if the 
dividends go down and these additions did not supplement your benefits. 
 
In recent years, many consumers were told that dividends their policies 
earned, and the interest on those dividends might, or would, become large 
enough to pay the premium payments. (This is sometimes called 
"abbreviated payment," or "vanishing premium.") But, often this didn't 
happen and those consumers were stuck paying for insurance they couldn't 
afford. Or, they lost their insurance plus all the money they had paid in. 
 
If you decide to buy a policy which has an abbreviated payment or vanishing 
premium option, you should keep close track of your policy's earnings. 
Changes in interest rates, cost of insurance, policy expenses and loans can 
quickly eliminate your policy's ability to pay for itself. Even if you can stop 
paying premiums at some point, you might have to start paying again at 
some later point. 
 
Unless the insurance company guarantees in writing that you will no longer 
have to pay premiums after a certain time, you should assume you will have 
to continue to pay.  
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Universal Life Insurance  
 
Universal Life Insurance, also referred to as Flexible Premium Universal 
Life, lets you vary your premium payments and when you will pay the 
premiums, with some limits on how flexible you can be. For example, you 
may be able to skip a premium payment; or, increase or decrease your 
premium payments as long as the total amount of premiums you are paying 
in over a period of time is enough to keep the policy in force. As you get 
older, however, the minimum premium payments may increase. 
 
Cash surrender value for a Universal Life Insurance policy depends on the 
performance of the insurance company's investments. Make sure you 
understand whether any benefits or cash surrender values are guaranteed. 
Even if there is enough in your account to pay the premiums, continuing to 
pay premiums yourself means you build up more cash surrender value. 
 
 
If you do not pay enough in premiums, you may reach the point where your 
insurance coverage will end. To prevent that, you may need to raise your 
premium payments or lower your death benefits. The insurance company 
must send you an annual report and will also notify you if you are in danger 
of losing your policy due to insufficient value. 
 
When you buy Universal Life Insurance, you may be able to change the 
amount of the death benefit (also called the "face amount"), after you buy 
the insurance. But, to increase the death benefit, you may need to fill out 
another health history or have a new medical exam.  
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Variable Life Insurance  
 
Variable Life Insurance benefits (both the death benefit and earnings) vary 
based on the investment performance of the assets in which your premium 
payments are invested. You will generally be offered a variety of investment 
options (equity, bond, and money market mutual funds). Death benefits and 
cash values are directly related to the performance of investment options 
you choose. There may be a guaranteed minimum death benefit; however, 
you may be required to pay extra for that feature. 
 
There are two kinds of Variable Life Insurance policies. You can buy a policy 
which has premiums with set times and amounts, or you can buy a policy 
which allows changes in premium payment times and amounts. Unlike 
Universal Life Insurance, however, the death benefit will also change 
depending on how much you pay in and the performance of the investments 
you choose. 
 
The insurance company will give you a "prospectus" which will explain the 
policy before you buy it. The company will probably describe the different 
investment options in the prospectus, but you may also ask for additional 
information about the investment options. Study the prospectus carefully 
and be sure to ask the company about anything you don't 
understand.Agents who sell Variable Life Insurance must have both a 
Massachusetts insurance agent license and be registered as 
representatives of a broker-dealer licensed by the National Association of 
Securities Dealers (NASD) and be registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) as well.  
The SEC also reviews and approves the contents of the prospectus you will 
receive, and is currently involved in an effort to make these prospectuses 
much more understandable to consumers. 
 
With a Variable Life Insurance policy, there are usually no guarantees. If the 
investments you choose lose money, you could find that the value of your 
account is far less than the amounts you have paid in. 
 
Although some Variable Life policies may include a minimum guaranteed 
death benefit, others do not have this guarantee. It is possible that, if you 
were to die when the values were low, the death benefit your beneficiaries 
received would be reduced to little or nothing.  
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Comparing Major Types of Life Insurance  
 

   Term Life  Whole Life  Universal 
Life  

Variable Life  

Premium  Lower initially. 
Increases with 
each renewal.  

Higher 
initially than 
Term Life 
Insurance. 
Normally 
doesn't 
increase.  

Flexible 
premiums. 
Premiums 
can rise as 
you get older 
or if the 
company's 
investments 
do not do 
well.  

Fixed or 
flexible 
premiums.  

Protects for  A specified 
period.  

Entire life if 
you keep the 
policy.  

Entire life if 
you keep the 
policy.  

Entire life if 
you keep the 
policy.  

Policy benefits  Death benefits 
only, no cash 
surrender 
value.  

Death 
benefits, 
possible 
dividends, 
and 
eventually a 
cash 
surrender 
value.  

Flexible 
death 
benefits and 
eventually a 
cash 
surrender 
value.  

Death 
benefits, 
earnings, and 
cash 
surrender 
values vary in 
relation to the 
performance 
of the 
investments 
you choose.  

Advantages to 
Buyer  

Lower initial 
outlay. At first, 
may be able to 
buy more 
insurance for 
less cost.  

Fixed 
premium 
amount. 
Can take a 
loan against 
policy, or 
surrender 
policy for 
some cash.  

More 
flexibility. 
Takes 
advantage of 
current 
interest rates.  

You can 
choose to 
invest your 
money in 
stocks, bonds, 
money market 
or other 
accounts.  
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Disadvantages 
to Buyer  

Premium 
increases 
each time a 
new term 
starts. The 
insurance 
company is 
free to 
substantially 
raise 
premiums if 
your health 
changes.  

Dividends 
can be hurt 
by low 
interest 
rates. You 
will lose 
money if you 
cash it in. 
Usually no 
cash 
surrender 
value for at 
least 3-5 
years.  

Same as 
Whole Life 
Insurance 
and you 
assume 
greater risks 
due to 
program 
flexibility.  

Same as 
Whole Life 
Insurance and 
you bear all 
the investment 
risk.  

Options  May be 
renewable 
and/or 
convertible to 
a whole life 
policy.  

Partial cash 
surrenders 
may be 
permitted.  

Minimum 
death benefit. 
Partial cash 
surrenders 
permitted.  

May offer a 
guaranteed 
minimum 
death benefit.  

 

 
 
How Much Will Life Insurance Cost?  
 
Different insurance companies charge different rates for their life insurance. 
Comparing costs can be very difficult. For example, one company might 
offer a competitively priced policy for 25-year-olds, but not for 40-year-olds. 
 
There are some common factors that insurance companies use to decide 
how much to charge you for the kind and amount of insurance you want to 
buy. These include:  

¶ your age and gender;  
¶ your health and health habits (such as smoking);  
¶ your family health history;  
¶ whether you are engaged in a hazardous occupation, or have 

dangerous hobbies (such as auto racing or sky diving).  
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The insurance company will get this information from your application, and 
may ask you to fill out a health questionnaire, or have a medical 
examination. Once they have the information, the insurance company will 
decide if your risk of death is average or greater than normal for your age 
and gender. If they believe the risk is greater, they will charge you more than 
normal. (This is called being rated.) Remember, a different company may 
not believe your risk is greater than normal, and may charge you their 
standard rates. 
 
If you are "rated," you should be told the reason, such as poor health or a 
dangerous occupation. If the reasons for the original rating improve, tell your 
insurance company and ask them to review the situation. Your premiums 
might go down. 
 
Another major difference in determining insurance costs will be the 
insurance company's administrative fees and expenses, including overhead, 
agent commissions and other costs of doing business.  

 
What Other Benefits Are Available in Life Insurance? ("Riders")  
 
At the time you buy a life insurance policy, you may want to buy additional 
benefits. These benefits are called riders. If you buy riders, you can expect 
to pay more than if you bought simply the basic life insurance policy. Here 
are some common riders, but you should ask the insurance company what 
riders are available with the policy you are thinking of buying.  

 
Accelerated Death Benefits  
 
These are also known as "living benefits". You may receive all or a part of 
the benefits of your life insurance policy before you die. Living benefits are 
paid out for causes such as: terminal illnesses like AIDS, organ transplant, 
or permanent confinement to a nursing home. The allowable reasons to 
receive living benefits may be different for each company, and you should 
check before you buy the policy. Any benefit paid to you before you die will 
mean that your beneficiaries will get that much less when you die.  
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Viatical Settlements  
 
A "viatical settlement" is not insurance. It is a contract in which the 
terminally-ill owner of life insurance (the "viator") sells the death benefit to a 
third party in return for immediate cash. This cash will be a percentage of 
the expected death benefit. For example, the viatical settlement company 
buys a life insurance policy that will pay a $100,000 death benefit, for 
$80,000. 
 
If you sell your life insurance to a viatical company in a viatical settlement, 
that company will pay future premiums and will be the owner and beneficiary 
of your life insurance. Once you die, your original beneficiaries will get 
nothing from that life insurance policy. 
 
The viator may also contract for a "viatical loan" with a viatical loan 
company. In this instance, the loan is secured by the value of the life 
insurance policy. You will be expected to make regular payments on the 
loan and continue to pay your life insurance premiums, but you will retain 
ownership of the life insurance policy. 
 
The percentage you can expect to receive from selling your policy, or the 
amount and terms of the loan may vary widely from one viatical company to 
another. You should seek offers from several companies in order to get 
the best result. 
 
In determining the sales price or loan amount, the viatical settlement or loan 
company considers several factors, including the life expectancy of the 
person whose life is insured. The shorter the life expectancy, the higher the 
payment. Payments generally vary between 50 to 90 percent of the policy's 
expected death benefit, but can be even less than 50 percent of the 
expected death benefit. 
 
 
If you are considering a viatical contract you may want to consult with your 
lawyer, doctor, life insurance agent or company, and accountant or financial 
planner. These contracts are very complicated, and may affect other issues 
such as Medicaid eligibility. You may not be able to back out of a viatical 
contract once you have signed it, so you will need to be very certain of what 
you want to do before you sign.  
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Accidental Death Benefits  
 
Also known as a "double indemnity", this rider pays an additional amount if 
death is accidental. In some cases, policies may pay up to three times the 
normal death benefit should death occur by a specific type of travel 
accident, such as an airplane crash.  

 
 
Automatic Premium Loan  
 
If you do not pay your premiums, the insurance company will automatically 
make a loan against your policy to cover the cost of the premiums. This rider 
can be used only if your life insurance policy has sufficient cash surrender 
value.  

 
Guaranteed Insurability  
 
A Guaranteed Insurability Rider would allow you to buy additional life 
insurance at specific times without having to answer any questions about 
your health. However, the cost for the new policy would still be based on 
your age at the time you buy it.  

 
Premium Waiver Provision  
 
This is a rider which takes effect if you become disabled. The disabled 
person will not have to pay premiums for the duration of the disability, even 
if it is a lifelong disability. In cases where the policy owner is not the person 
insured, e.g., a parent who is paying for life insurance for a child, this 
provision takes effect if the policy owner (in this example, the parent) 
becomes disabled. You are responsible for notifying the insurance company 
if you become disabled.  
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Life Insurance Q & A 
 
Q. Where can I buy a life insurance policy?  
 
A. Individual life insurance can be purchased directly from an insurance 
company, through the mail or from an insurance agent. Insurance may also 
be offered over the Internet, but you will usually have to sign a paper 
application as well. Group life insurance may be available through your job 
or through a group to which you belong. 
 
Most life insurance agents and brokers are honest; they sincerely want to 
help you meet your insurance needs. However, many consumer complaints 
are from people who had "complete faith in my agent," or "never doubted my 
broker because he was referred to me by a member of my family". A good 
agent or broker will work hard to make sure you really understand what you 
are buying, and will not be impatient when you ask to "see it in writing". 
 
An independent financial planner or accountant can help you clarify your 
financial needs and review insurance proposals you are considering. A 
professional who does not work for the insurance company that wants to sell 
you insurance can provide an unbiased opinion on what is available.  

 
Q. Do I have time to think about my purchase?  
 
A. Make sure you understand the policy before you buy it. But, you will also 
have at least ten days after the policy is delivered to you to return the policy. 
This is called a free look period. If you do this within ten days, the company 
will return all of the premiums you have paid.  

 
Q. How can I buy the most insurance for the least cost?  
 
A. Term Life Insurance usually gives you the most insurance for the least 
amount of money. Also, you may save money by buying a policy with low 
administrative fees. These "low-load" policies are sold primarily by a handful 
of insurers through direct mail or toll-free telephone numbers. Low-load 
policies also may be sold by financial planners licensed as insurance 
counselors who charge a service fee rather than a commission. Since the 
initial fees are low, low-load policies also cut your risk of losing money if you 
surrender your policy early.  
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Q. How else can I save money on life insurance?  
 
A. Group policies, available through employers, are often cheaper than 
individual ones. You usually don't have to take a medical exam, nor do you 
have to answer health questions to qualify. In some group insurance, for 
example insurance available through your work, you may have to show that 
you have good health if you apply for the insurance later than 60 or 90 days 
after you were hired. Group insurance also may be available through 
professional, civic or religious associations. Group life insurance may be 
offered at a single rate per person, or there may be only a few categories, 
such as age and gender. This is particularly true if the insurance is Term Life 
Insurance.  

 
Q. Will I need life insurance when I retire?  
 
A. It depends on your individual financial circumstances. Social Security and 
some retirement plans available through employment cover burial costs and 
may provide a continuing income for dependents after a retiree's death. 
Some consumers are able to use the accelerated death benefit rider 
available in some life insurance policies to cover nursing home costs, but 
this will usually not provide the same amount of protection as long-term care 
insurance.  

 
Q. Can a company refuse to pay a claim in case of suicide or if I do not tell 
the truth on the application or in the medical exam?  
 
A. In the first two years after you buy a policy, the company can refuse to 
pay if the cause of death is suicide, or if you have made a material 
misrepresentation in the application. A "material misrepresentation" happens 
if you do not tell the truth about a situation or medical condition which would 
have caused the company to deny you insurance if they had known the 
truth. If you understate your age to obtain a more favorable premium, the 
insurance company will reduce the death benefit to be equal to what your 
premiums would have purchased at the correct age. 
 
After the policy has been in force for two years, the company cannot contest 
the claim as long as you have paid the premiums. This is called 
incontestability. If you change companies or policies, you may be required to 
go through another two year period in which the company could deny a 
claim because of suicide or a material misrepresentation in the application.  

http://www.mass.gov/doi/Consumer/css_life_BuyLifeInsPartSeven.html#material
http://www.mass.gov/doi/Consumer/css_life_BuyLifeInsPartSeven.html#incontestability


Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 77 

 
Q. What happens if I miss a premium payment?  
 
A. During the grace period, the 30-day period after the date your premium is 
due, you can pay your premium with no interest charged. If you die during 
the grace period, your beneficiaries would receive the death benefit of the 
policy minus the premium owed. 
 
If you do not pay the premium within the grace period, your policy will lapse. 
That means that you have ended your relationship with that insurer and, if 
you were to die, your beneficiaries would not get any death benefits. Most 
companies will allow you to reinstate a lapsed policy for up to three years. 
To reinstate a lapsed policy, you would have to pay all overdue premiums 
with interest, plus reinstate or repay any loans you have taken against the 
policy. You might also be required to fill out a new health questionnaire or 
have a medical exam.  

 

 

What Is a Variable Annuity?  

A variable annuity is a contract between you and an insurance company, 
under which the insurer agrees to make periodic payments to you, 
beginning either immediately or at some future date. You purchase a 
variable annuity contract by making either a single purchase payment or a 
series of purchase payments.  

A variable annuity offers a range of investment options. The value of your 
investment as a variable annuity owner will vary depending on the 
performance of the investment options you choose. The investment options 
for a variable annuity are typically mutual funds that invest in stocks, bonds, 
money market instruments, or some combination of the three.  

Although variable annuities are typically invested in mutual funds, variable 
annuities differ from mutual funds in several important ways:  
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First, variable annuities let you receive periodic payments for the rest of 
your life (or the life of your spouse or any other person you designate). This 
feature offers protection against the possibility that, after you retire, you will 
outlive your assets.  

Second, variable annuities have a death benefit. If you die before the 
insurer has started making payments to you, your beneficiary is guaranteed 
to receive a specified amount ï typically at least the amount of your 
purchase payments. Your beneficiary will get a benefit from this feature if, 
at the time of your death, your account value is less than the guaranteed 
amount.  

Third, variable annuities are tax-deferred. That means you pay no taxes on the income and 

investment gains from your annuity until you withdraw your money. You may also transfer your 

money from one investment option to another within a variable annuity without paying tax at the 

time of the transfer. When you take your money out of a variable annuity, however, you will be 

taxed on the earnings at ordinary income tax rates rather than lower capital gains rates. In 

general, the benefits of tax deferral will outweigh the costs of a variable annuity only if you hold 

it as a long-term investment to meet retirement and other long-range goals. 

 

Caution!    Other investment vehicles, such as IRAs and employer-
sponsored 401(k) plans, also may provide you with tax-deferred growth 
and other tax advantages. For most investors, it will be advantageous to 
make the maximum allowable contributions to IRAs and 401(k) plans 
before investing in a variable annuity. In addition, if you are investing in 
a variable annuity through a tax-advantaged retirement plan (such as a 
401(k) plan or IRA), you will get no additional tax advantage from the 
variable annuity. Under these circumstances, consider buying a variable 
annuity only if it makes sense because of the annuity's other features, 
such as lifetime income payments and death benefit protection. The tax 
rules that apply to variable annuities can be complicated ï before 
investing, you may want to consult a tax adviser about the tax 
consequences to you of investing in a variable annuity.  
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Remember:  Variable annuities are designed to be long-term investments, 
to meet retirement and other long-range goals. Variable annuities are not 
suitable for meeting short-term goals because substantial taxes and 
insurance company charges may apply if you withdraw your money early. 
Variable annuities also involve investment risks, just as mutual funds do. 

How Variable Annuities Work  

A variable annuity has two phases: an accumulation phase and a payout 
phase.  

During the accumulation phase, you make purchase payments, which you 
can allocate to a number of investment options. For example, you could 
designate 40% of your purchase payments to a bond fund, 40% to a U.S. 
stock fund, and 20% to an international stock fund. The money you have 
allocated to each mutual fund investment option will increase or decrease 
over time, depending on the fund's performance. In addition, variable 
annuities often allow you to allocate part of your purchase payments to a 
fixed account. A fixed account, unlike a mutual fund, pays a fixed rate of 
interest. The insurance company may reset this interest rate periodically, 
but it will usually provide a guaranteed minimum (e.g., 3% per year).  

Example:  You purchase a variable annuity with an initial purchase 
payment of $10,000. You allocate 50% of that purchase payment ($5,000) 
to a bond fund, and 50% ($5,000) to a stock fund. Over the following year, 
the stock fund has a 10% return, and the bond fund has a 5% return. At the 
end of the year, your account has a value of $10,750 ($5,500 in the stock 
fund and $5,250 in the bond fund), minus fees and charges (discussed 
below). 

Your most important source of information about a variable annuity's 
investment options is the prospectus. Request the prospectuses for the 
mutual fund investment options.  
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Read them carefully before you allocate your purchase payments among 
the investment options offered. You should consider a variety of factors 
with respect to each fund option, including the fund's investment objectives 
and policies, management fees and other expenses that the fund charges, 
the risks and volatility of the fund, and whether the fund contributes to the 
diversification of your overall investment portfolio.  

During the accumulation phase, you can typically transfer your money from 
one investment option to another without paying tax on your investment 
income and gains, although you may be charged by the insurance 
company for transfers. However, if you withdraw money from your account 
during the early years of the accumulation phase, you may have to pay 
"surrender charges," which are discussed below. In addition, you may have 
to pay a 10% federal tax penalty if you withdraw money before the age of 
59½.  

At the beginning of the payout phase, you may receive your purchase 
payments plus investment income and gains (if any) as a lump-sum 
payment, or you may choose to receive them as a stream of payments at 
regular intervals (generally monthly).  

If you choose to receive a stream of payments, you may have a number of 
choices of how long the payments will last. Under most annuity contracts, 
you can choose to have your annuity payments last for a period that you 
set (such as 20 years) or for an indefinite period (such as your lifetime or 
the lifetime of you and your spouse or other beneficiary). During the payout 
phase, your annuity contract may permit you to choose between receiving 
payments that are fixed in amount or payments that vary based on the 
performance of mutual fund investment options.  

The amount of each periodic payment will depend, in part, on the time 
period that you select for receiving payments. Be aware that some 
annuities do not allow you to withdraw money from your account once you 
have started receiving regular annuity payments.  

In addition, some annuity contracts are structured as immediate annuities, 
which means that there is no accumulation phase and you will start 
receiving annuity payments right after you purchase the annuity.  
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The Death Benefit and Other Features  

A common feature of variable annuities is the death benefit. If you die, a 
person you select as a beneficiary (such as your spouse or child) will 
receive the greater of: (i) all the money in your account, or (ii) some 
guaranteed minimum (such as all purchase payments minus prior 
withdrawals).  

Example: You own a variable annuity that offers a death benefit equal to 
the greater of account value or total purchase payments minus 
withdrawals. You have made purchase payments totaling $50,000. In 
addition, you have withdrawn $5,000 from your account. Because of these 
withdrawals and investment losses, your account value is currently 
$40,000. If you die, your designated beneficiary will receive $45,000 (the 
$50,000 in purchase payments you put in minus $5,000 in withdrawals). 

Some variable annuities allow you to choose a  "stepped-up" death benefit. 
Under this feature, your guaranteed minimum death benefit may be based 
on a greater amount than purchase payments minus withdrawals. For 
example, the guaranteed minimum might be your account value as of a 
specified date, which may be greater than purchase payments minus 
withdrawals if the underlying investment options have performed well. The 
purpose of a stepped-up death benefit is to "lock in" your investment 
performance and prevent a later decline in the value of your account from 
eroding the amount that you expect to leave to your heirs. This feature 
carries a charge, however, which will reduce your account value.  

Variable annuities sometimes offer other optional features, which also have 
extra charges. One common feature, the  guaranteed minimum income 
benefit, guarantees a particular minimum level of annuity payments, even if 
you do not have enough money in your account (perhaps because of 
investment losses) to support that level of payments.  Other features may 
include long-term care insurance, which pays for home health care or 
nursing home care if you become seriously ill.  
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You may want to consider the financial strength of the insurance company 
that sponsors any variable annuity you are considering buying. This can 
affect the company's ability to pay any benefits that are greater than the 
value of your account in mutual fund investment options, such as a death 
benefit, guaranteed minimum income benefit, long-term care benefit, or 
amounts you have allocated to a fixed account investment option. 

Caution! 

You will pay for each benefit provided by your 
variable annuity. Be sure you understand the 
charges. Carefully consider whether you need the 
benefit. If you do, consider whether you can buy the 
benefit more cheaply as part of the variable annuity 
or separately (e.g., through a long-term care 
insurance policy). 

Variable Annuity Charges  

You will pay several charges when you invest in a variable annuity. Be sure 
you understand all the charges before you invest. These charges will 
reduce the value of your account and the return on your investment.  

 

 

Often, they will include the following:  

¶ Surrender charges ï If you withdraw money from a variable annuity 
within a certain period after a purchase payment (typically within six 
to eight years, but sometimes as long as ten years), the insurance 
company usually will assess a "surrender" charge, which is a type of 
sales charge. This charge is used to pay your financial professional a 
commission for selling the variable annuity to you. Generally, the 
surrender charge is a percentage of the amount withdrawn, and 
declines gradually over a period of several years, known as the 
"surrender period." For example, a 7% charge might apply in the 
first year after a purchase payment, 6% in the second year, 5% in the 
third year, and so on until the eighth year, when the surrender charge 
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no longer applies. Often, contracts will allow you to withdraw part of 
your account value each year ï 10% or 15% of your account value, 
for example ï without paying a surrender charge.  

Example: You purchase a variable annuity contract with a $10,000 
purchase payment. The contract has a schedule of surrender 
charges, beginning with a 7% charge in the first year, and declining 
by 1% each year. In addition, you are allowed to withdraw 10% of 
your contract value each year free of surrender charges. In the first 
year, you decide to withdraw $5,000, or one-half of your contract 
value of $10,000 (assuming that your contract value has not 
increased or decreased because of investment performance). In this 
case, you could withdraw $1,000 (10% of contract value) free of 
surrender charges, but you would pay a surrender charge of 7%, or 
$280, on the other $4,000 withdrawn. 

¶ Mortality and expense risk charge ï This charge is equal to a 
certain percentage of your account value, typically in the range of 
1.25% per year. This charge compensates the insurance company for 
insurance risks it assumes under the annuity contract. Profit from the 
mortality and expense risk charge is sometimes used to pay the 
insurer's costs of selling the variable annuity, such as a commission 
paid to your financial professional for selling the variable annuity to 
you.  

Example: Your variable annuity has a mortality and expense risk 
charge at an annual rate of 1.25% of account value. Your average 
account value during the year is $20,000, so you will pay $250 in 
mortality and expense risk charges that year. 

¶ Administrative fees ï The insurer may deduct charges to cover 
record-keeping and other administrative expenses. This may be 
charged as a flat account maintenance fee (perhaps $25 or $30 per 
year) or as a percentage of your account value (typically in the range 
of 0.15% per year).  

Example: Your variable annuity charges administrative fees at an 
annual rate of 0.15% of account value. Your average account value 
during the year is $50,000. You will pay $75 in administrative fees. 
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¶ Underlying Fund Expenses ï You will also indirectly pay the fees 
and expenses imposed by the mutual funds that are the underlying 
investment options for your variable annuity. 

¶ Fees and Charges for Other Features ï Special features offered by 
some variable annuities, such as a stepped-up death benefit, a 
guaranteed minimum income benefit, or long-term care insurance, 
often carry additional fees and charges. 

Other charges, such as initial sales loads, or fees for transferring part of 
your account from one investment option to another, may also apply. You 
should ask your financial professional to explain to you all charges that may 
apply. You can also find a description of the charges in the prospectus for 
any variable annuity that you are considering.  

Tax-Free ñ1035ò Exchanges  

Section 1035 of the U.S. tax code allows you to exchange an existing 
variable annuity contract for a new annuity contract without paying any tax 
on the income and investment gains in your current variable annuity 
account. These tax-free exchanges, known as 1035 exchanges, can be 
useful if another annuity has features that you prefer, such as a larger 
death benefit, different annuity payout options, or a wider selection of 
investment choices.  

You may, however, be required to pay surrender charges on the old 
annuity if you are still in the surrender charge period. In addition, a new 
surrender charge period generally begins when you exchange into the new 
annuity. This means that, for a significant number of years (as many as 10 
years), you typically will have to pay a surrender charge (which can be as 
high as 9% of your purchase payments) if you withdraw funds from the new 
annuity. Further, the new annuity may have higher annual fees and 
charges than the old annuity, which will reduce your returns. 

 

 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/varannty.htm#step#step
http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/varannty.htm#gmin#gmin
http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/varannty.htm#long#long
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Caution! 

If you are thinking about a 1035 exchange, you 
should compare both annuities carefully. Unless you 
plan to hold the new annuity for a significant amount 
of time, you may be better off keeping the old 
annuity because the new annuity typically will 
impose a new surrender charge period. Also, if you 
decide to do a 1035 exchange, you should talk to 
your financial professional or tax adviser to make 
sure the exchange will be tax-free. If you surrender 
the old annuity for cash and then buy a new annuity, 
you will have to pay tax on the surrender.  

 

Bonus Credits  

Some insurance companies are now offering variable annuity contracts 
with "bonus credit" features. These contracts promise to add a bonus to 
your contract value based on a specified percentage (typically ranging from 
1% to 5%) of purchase payments.  

Example:  You purchase a variable annuity contract that offers a bonus 
credit of 3% on each purchase payment. You make a purchase payment of 
$20,000. The insurance company issuing the contract adds a bonus of 
$600 to your account. 

Caution! 

Variable annuities with bonus credits may carry a 
downside, however ï higher expenses that can 
outweigh the benefit of the bonus credit offered. 

Frequently, insurers will charge you for bonus credits in one or more of the 
following ways:  
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¶ Higher surrender charges ï Surrender charges may be higher for a 
variable annuity that pays you a bonus credit than for a similar 
contract with no bonus credit. 

¶ Longer surrender periods ï Your purchase payments may be 
subject to surrender charges for a longer period than they would be 
under a similar contract with no bonus credit. 

¶ Higher mortality and expense risk charges and other charges ï 
Higher annual mortality and expense risk charges may be deducted 
for a variable annuity that pays you a bonus credit. Although the 
difference may seem small, over time it can add up. In addition, some 
contracts may impose a separate fee specifically to pay for the bonus 
credit. 

Before purchasing a variable annuity with a bonus credit, ask yourself ï 
and the financial professional who is trying to sell you the contract ï 
whether the bonus is worth more to you than any increased charges you 
will pay for the bonus. This may depend on a variety of factors, including 
the amount of the bonus credit and the increased charges, how long you 
hold your annuity contract, and the return on the underlying investments. 
You also need to consider the other features of the annuity to determine 
whether it is a good investment for you.  

Example:  You make purchase payments of $10,000 in Annuity A and 
$10,000 in Annuity B. Annuity A offers a bonus credit of 4% on your 
purchase payment, and deducts annual charges totaling 1.75%. Annuity B 
has no bonus credit and deducts annual charges totaling 1.25%. Let's 
assume that both annuities have an annual rate of return, prior to 
expenses, of 10%. By the tenth year, your account value in Annuity A will 
have grown to $22,978. But your account value in Annuity B will have 
grown more, to $23,136, because Annuity B deducts lower annual charges, 
even though it does not offer a bonus. 

You should also note that a bonus may only apply to your initial premium 
payment, or to premium payments you make within the first year of the 
annuity contract. Further, under some annuity contracts the insurer will take 
back all bonus payments made to you within the prior year or some other 
specified period if you make a withdrawal, if a death benefit is paid to your 
beneficiaries upon your death, or in other circumstances. 
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Caution! 

If you already own a variable annuity and are thinking of 
exchanging it for a different annuity with a bonus feature, you 
should be careful. Even if the surrender period on your current 
annuity contract has expired, a new surrender period generally will 
begin when you exchange that contract for a new one.  

This means that, by exchanging your contract, you will forfeit your 
ability to withdraw money from your account without incurring 
substantial surrender charges. And as described above, the 
schedule of surrender charges and other fees may be higher on the 
variable annuity with the bonus credit than they were on the annuity 
that you exchanged. 

Example:  You currently hold a variable annuity with an account value of 
$20,000, which is no longer subject to surrender charges. You exchange 
that annuity for a new variable annuity, which pays a 4% bonus credit and 
has a surrender charge period of eight years, with surrender charges 
beginning at 9% of purchase payments in the first year. Your account value 
in this new variable annuity is now $20,800. During the first year you hold 
the new annuity, you decide to withdraw all of your account value because 
of an emergency situation. Assuming that your account value has not 
increased or decreased because of investment performance, you will 
receive $20,800 minus 9% of your $20,000 purchase payment, or $19,000. 
This is $1,000 less than you would have received if you had stayed in the 
original variable annuity, where you were no longer subject to surrender 
charges. 

In short:   Take a hard look at bonus credits. In some cases, the "bonus" 
may not be in your best interest.  

Ask Questions Before You Invest - Annuities 

Financial professionals who sell variable annuities have a duty to advise 
you as to whether the product they are trying to sell is suitable to your 
particular investment needs. Don't be afraid to ask them questions. And 
write down their answers, so there won't be any confusion later as to what 
was said.  Variable annuity contracts typically have a "free look" period of 
ten or more days, during which you can terminate the contract without 
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paying any surrender charges and get back your purchase payments 
(which may be adjusted to reflect charges and the performance of your 
investment).  

You can continue to ask questions in this period to make sure you 
understand your variable annuity before the "free look" period ends. Before 
you decide to buy a variable annuity, consider the following questions: 

¶ Will you use the variable annuity primarily to save for retirement or a 
similar long-term goal?  

¶ Are you investing in the variable annuity through a retirement plan or 
IRA (which would mean that you are not receiving any additional tax-
deferral benefit from the variable annuity)?  

¶ Are you willing to take the risk that your account value may decrease 
if the underlying mutual fund investment options perform badly?  

¶ Do you understand the features of the variable annuity?  
¶ Do you understand all of the fees and expenses that the variable 

annuity charges?  
¶ Do you intend to remain in the variable annuity long enough to avoid 

paying any surrender charges if you have to withdraw money?  
¶ If a variable annuity offers a bonus credit, will the bonus outweigh any 

higher fees and charges that the product may charge?  
¶ Are there features of the variable annuity, such as long-term care 

insurance, that you could purchase more cheaply separately?  
¶ Have you consulted with a tax adviser and considered all the tax 

consequences of purchasing an annuity, including the effect of 
annuity payments on your tax status in retirement?  

¶ If you are exchanging one annuity for another one, do the benefits of 
the exchange outweigh the costs, such as any surrender charges you 
will have to pay if you withdraw your money before the end of the 
surrender charge period for the new annuity?  

Remember:   Before purchasing a variable annuity, you owe it to yourself 
to learn as much as possible about how they work, the benefits they 
provide, and the charges you will pay. 
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US Treasury Investments Basics 

 
What are U.S. Treasury securities?  

U.S. Treasury securities are debt instruments. The U.S. Treasury issues 
securities to raise the money needed to operate the Federal Government 
and to pay off maturing obligations - its debt, in other words.  

Why should I buy a Treasury security?  

Treasury securities are a safe and secure investment option because the 
full faith and credit of the United States government guarantees that 
interest and principal payments will be paid on time. Also, most Treasury 
securities are liquid, which means they can easily be sold for cash.  

What types of securities do you sell to individual investors?  

We sell Treasury bills, notes, bonds, TIPS, and U.S. savings bonds to 
individual investors.  

What are Treasury bills?  

Treasury bills (or T-bills) are short-term securities that mature in one year 
or less from their issue date. You buy T-bills for a price less than their par 
(face) value, and when they mature we pay you their par value. Your 
interest is the difference between the purchase price of the security and 
what we pay you at maturity (or what you get if you sell the bill before it 
matures). For example, if you bought a $10,000 26-week Treasury bill for 
$9,750 and held it until maturity, your interest would be $250.  

What are Treasury notes, bonds, and TIPS?  

Treasury notes and bonds are securities that pay a fixed rate of interest 
every six months until your security matures, which is when we pay you 
their par value. The only difference between them is their length until 
maturity. Treasury notes mature in more than a year, but not more than 10 
years from their issue date. Bonds, on the other hand, mature in more than 
10 years from their issue date.  

http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/bpd/exit.htm?http://www.treas.gov/
http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/sec/sec.htm
http://www.savingsbonds.gov/
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Treasury also sells Treasury inflation-protected securities (TIPS). They pay 
interest twice a year and the principal value of TIPS is adjusted to reflect 
inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index -- the Bureau of Labor 
Statistics' Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U). With 
TIPS, we calculate your semiannual interest payments and maturity 
payment based on the inflation-adjusted principal value of your security.  

 

What are U.S. savings bonds?  

Savings bonds are Treasury securities that are payable only to the person 
to whom they are registered. Savings bonds can earn interest for up to 30 
years, but you can cash them after 6 months if purchased before February 
1, 2003 or 12 months if purchased on or after February 1, 2003.  

What types of savings bonds are available?  

You can buy two types of savings bonds for cash: the Series EE bond or 
the Series I bond. For more information on these types of securities and 
how to purchase them, visit our Savings Bonds website. 

How do Treasury bills, notes, bonds, and TIPS differ from savings 
bonds?  

Unlike savings bonds, Treasury bills, notes, bonds and TIPS are 
transferable, so you can buy or sell them in the securities market. Also, 
bills, notes, bonds, and TIPS are electronic - they're not paper securities 
like savings bonds. You can buy Treasury bills, notes, bonds and TIPS for 
a minimum of $1,000, and you can buy savings bonds for as little as $25.  

How can I buy a Treasury bill, note, bond, or TIPS?  

It's easy. Buy Treasury bills, notes, bonds, or TIPS either at one of the 
auctions we conduct or in the securities market. If you want to buy a 
Treasury security at auction, contact us, a Federal Reserve Bank, a 
financial institution, or a government securities broker or dealer. If you want 
to buy a Treasury security in the securities market, contact your financial 
institution, broker, or dealer for more information.  

 

http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/of/ofinflin.htm
http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/bpd/exit.htm?ftp://ftp.bls.gov/pub/special.requests/cpi/cpiai.txt
http://www.savingsbonds.gov/
http://www.savingsbonds.gov/sav/savinvst.htm
http://www.savingsbonds.gov/sav/sbiinvst.htm
http://www.savingsbonds.gov/
http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/of/ofaucrt.htm
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What is a Treasury auction?  

Each Treasury bill, note, bond or TIPS (except savings bonds, of course) is 
sold at a public auction. In Treasury's auctions, all successful bidders (we'll 
discuss bids in a little bit) are awarded securities at the same price, which 
is the price equal to the highest rate or yield of the competitive bids we 
accept. You can find a complete explanation of the auction process in our 
Uniform Offering Circular, which is in the Code of Federal Regulations 
(CFR) at 31 CFR Part 356.  

How can I find out when an auction will be held?  

Usually a couple days before each auction, we issue a press release 
announcing the security being sold, the amount we're selling, the auction 
date, and other pertinent information. This information is available from us 
and from your financial institution, broker, or dealer. Many newspapers also 
report Treasury auction schedules in their financial sections.  

 

How can I participate in an auction?  

Simply submit a bid for the security you want to buy. You can bid either 
noncompetitively or a competitively, but not both in the same auction.  

If you bid noncompetitively, you'll receive the full amount of the security you 
want at the return determined at that auction. Therefore, you don't have to 
specify the return you'd like to receive. You can't bid for more than $5 
million in a bill, note, bond or TIPS auction. Most individual investors bid 
noncompetitively.  

If you bid competitively, on the other hand, you have to specify the return -- 
the rate for bills or the yield for notes, bonds and TIPS -- that you would like 
to receive. If the return you specify is too high, you might not receive any 
securities, or just a portion of what you bid for. However, you can bid 
competitively for much larger amounts than you can noncompetitively.  

 

 

http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/gsr/gsruocam.htm
http://wwws.publicdebt.treas.gov/AI/OFAnnce
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How do I submit my bid?  

Once we announce the auction of a security, you can submit a bid for an 
auction directly to us, to a Federal Reserve Bank, or through a financial 
institution, broker, or dealer. We accept bids by mail or, for current 
customers, over the Internet and by touch-tone phone. A financial 
institution, government securities broker, or dealer can also submit bids on 
your behalf. Although we don't charge fees to process a bid, some financial 
institutions, brokers, and dealers may charge for that service.  

What is the minimum purchase amount for Treasury securities?  

The minimum amount that you can purchase of any given Treasury bill, 
note, bond, or TIPS is $1,000. Additional amounts must be in multiples of 
$1,000.  

Do I have a choice as to where my Treasury securities are kept?  

All Treasury securities are issued in what we call "book-entry" form -an 
entry in a central electronic ledger. You can hold your Treasury securities in 
one of three systems: TreasuryDirect, Legacy Treasury Direct, or the 
commercial book-entry system. TreasuryDirect and Legacy Treasury Direct 
are direct holding systems where you have a direct relationship with us. 
The commercial book-entry system is an indirect holding system where you 
hold your securities with your financial institution, government securities 
broker, or dealer. The commercial book-entry system is a multi-level 
arrangement that involves the Treasury, the Federal Reserve System 
(acting as Treasury's agent), banks, brokers, dealers, and other financial 
institutions. So, in the commercial book-entry system, there can be one or 
more entities between you (the ultimate owner of the security) and 
Treasury.  

What features does TreasuryDirect offer?  

TreasuryDirect provides a completely online environment for buying and 
holding Treasury bills, notes, bonds, and TIPS, as well as savings bonds. 
You use our web site to open an account, conduct transactions, and 
access account information. All services are available 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week. You designate the financial account or accounts into 
which we make payments and from which we make withdrawals. We don't 
charge any fees when you open an account or buy securities.  
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What features does Legacy Treasury Direct offer?  

Legacy Treasury Direct allows you to conduct transactions online, over the 
phone, and by paper and mail. In this program, you can buy Treasury bills, 
notes, bonds, and TIPS, and hold those securities. You designate the 
financial account into which we make payments and from which we make 
withdrawals. We (Legacy)  send account statements to you by mail.  

We don't charge any fees when you open an account or buy securities. 
(We impose an annual maintenance fee, but ONLY IF your account has a 
total par amount of more than $100,000.) You can reinvest most maturing 
securities. Although you have a direct relationship with us, your financial 
institution, government securities broker, or dealer can submit a bid for a 
security to be delivered to Legacy Treasury Direct for you.  

What features does the commercial book-entry system offer?  

In the commercial book-entry system, you'll maintain your relationship with 
your financial institution, broker, or dealer and potentially pay fees for their 
services. The commercial book-entry system allows you to easily buy and 
sell securities as well as, unlike Legacy Treasury Direct, use them for 
collateral. You can also hold Treasury securities in stripped form, known as 
STRIPS or zero-coupon Treasuries, in the commercial book-entry system.  

What are STRIPS or zero-coupon Treasuries?  

STRIPS, also known as zero-coupon securities, are Treasury securities 
that don't make periodic interest payments. Market participants create 
STRIPS by separating the interest and principal parts of a Treasury note, 
bond, or TIPS. For example, a 10-year Treasury note consists of 20 
interest payments -- one every six months for 10 years -- and a principal 
payment payable at maturity. When this security is "stripped," each of the 
20 interest payments and the principal payment become separate 
securities and can be held and transferred separately. STRIPS can only be 
bought and sold through a financial institution, broker, or dealer and held in 
the commercial book-entry system.  

 

 

http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/of/ofstrips.htm
http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/of/ofstrips.htm
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How can I sell my Treasury security before maturity?  

If you hold your security in the commercial book-entry system, contact your 
financial institution, government securities dealer, broker, or investment 
advisor. Normally there is a fee for this service. If you hold your security in 
TreasuryDirect or Legacy Treasury Direct, you can transfer it to an account 
in the commercial book-entry system or let us sell your security through our 
Sell Direct program for a modest fee.  

 

How do I receive my interest and principal payments in each system?  

In the TreasuryDirect and Legacy Treasury Direct, Treasury makes interest 
and principal payments directly to the financial account you choose. In the 
commercial book-entry system, Treasury's interest and principal payments 
may flow through several institutions on their way to you. For example, a 
payment could go from the Federal Reserve to a large bank to a smaller 
bank to your bank or broker before it gets to you.  

What happens when my security matures?  

When your security matures, we pay you the principal and the final interest 
payment through TreasuryDirect, Legacy Treasury Direct, or the 
commercial book-entry system. Rather than take payment of the principal, 
customers of TreasuryDirect and Legacy Treasury Direct can choose to roll 
the principal into another security. In TreasuryDirect you do this by 
scheduling a repeat purchase. In Legacy Treasury Direct, you do it by 
scheduling a reinvestment. Legacy Treasury Direct allows you to reinvest 
any securities except TIPS, and to schedule reinvestments by mail, phone, 
or over the Internet.  

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.publicdebt.treas.gov/sec/secreind.htm


Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 95 

 

How can I get more information about Treasury securities?  

You can get information about Treasury securities on our website or your 
financial institution, broker, or dealer. If you're interested in Legacy 
Treasury Direct, ask for our Investor Kit (PD P 009).  

Online Investing 

 

What You Need to Know About Trading 
In Fast-Moving Markets  

The price of some stocks, especially recent "hot" IPOs and high tech 
stocks, can soar and drop suddenly. In these fast markets when many 
investors want to trade at the same time and prices change quickly, delays 
can develop across the board. Executions and confirmations slow down, 
while reports of prices lag behind actual prices. In these markets, investors 
can suffer unexpected losses very quickly.  

Investors trading over the Internet or online, who are used to instant access 
to their accounts and near instantaneous executions of their trades, 
especially need to understand how they can protect themselves in fast-
moving markets.  

You can limit your losses in fast-moving markets if you  

¶ know what you are buying and the risks of your investment; and  
¶ know how trading changes during fast markets and take additional 

steps to guard against the typical problems investors face in these 
markets.  

 

 

 

 

http://www.treasurydirect.gov/


Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 96 

 

 

Online trading is quick and easy, online investing takes time 

With a click of mouse, you can buy and sell stocks from more than 100 
online brokers offering executions as low as $5 per transaction. Although 
online trading saves investors time and money, it does not take the 
homework out of making investment decisions. You may be able to make a 
trade in a nanosecond, but making wise investment decisions takes time. 
Before you trade, know why you are buying or selling, and the risk of your 
investment. 

Set your price limits on fast-moving stocks: market orders vs. limit 
orders 

To avoid buying or selling a stock at a price higher or lower than you 
wanted, you need to place a limit order rather than a market order. A limit 
order is an order to buy or sell a security at a specific price. A buy limit 
order can only be executed at the limit price or lower, and a sell limit order 
can only be executed at the limit price or higher. When you place a market 
order, you can't control the price at which your order will be filled.  

For example, if you want to buy the stock of a "hot" IPO that was initially 
offered at $9, but don't want to end up paying more than $20 for the stock, 
you can place a limit order to buy the stock at any price up to $20. By 
entering a limit order rather than a market order, you will not be caught 
buying the stock at $90 and then suffering immediate losses as the stock 
drops later in the day or the weeks ahead.  

Remember that your limit order may never be executed because the 
market price may quickly surpass your limit before your order can be filled. 
But by using a limit order you also protect yourself from buying the stock at 
too high a price. 
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Online trading is not always instantaneous 

Investors may find that technological "choke points" can slow or prevent 
their orders from reaching an online firm. For example, problems can occur 
where:  

¶ an investor's modem, computer, or Internet Service Provider is slow 
or faulty;  

¶ a broker-dealer has inadequate hardware or its Internet Service 
Provider is slow or delayed; or  

¶ traffic on the Internet is heavy, slowing down overall usage.  

A capacity problem or limitation at any of these choke points can cause a 
delay or failure in an investor's attempt to access an online firm's 
automated trading system.  

Know your options for placing a trade if you are unable to access 
your account online 

Most online trading firms offer alternatives for placing trades. These 
alternatives may include touch-tone telephone trades, faxing your order, or 
doing it the low-tech way--talking to a broker over the phone. Make sure 
you know whether using these different options may increase your costs. 
And remember, if you experience delays getting online, you may 
experience similar delays when you turn to one of these alternatives. 

 

If you place an order, don't assume it didn't go through 

Some investors have mistakenly assumed that their orders have not been 
executed and place another order. They end up either owning twice as 
much stock as they could afford or wanted, or with sell orders, selling stock 
they do not own. Talk with your firm about how you should handle a 
situation where you are unsure if your original order was executed. 
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If you cancel an order, make sure the cancellation worked before 
placing another trade 

When you cancel an online trade, it is important to make sure that your 
original transaction was not executed. Although you may receive an 
electronic receipt for the cancellation, don't assume that that means the 
trade was canceled. Orders can only be canceled if they have not been 
executed. Ask your firm about how you should check to see if a 
cancellation order actually worked. 

If you purchase a security in a cash account, you must pay for it 
before you can sell it 

In a cash account, you must pay for the purchase of a stock before you sell 
it. If you buy and sell a stock before paying for it, you are freeriding, which 
violates the credit extension provisions of the Federal Reserve Board. If 
you freeride, your broker must "freeze" your account for 90 days. You can 
still trade during the freeze, but you must fully pay for any purchase on the 
date you trade while the freeze is in effect.  

You can avoid the freeze if you fully pay for the stock within five days from 
the date of the purchase with funds that do not come from the sale of the 
stock. You can always ask your broker for an extension or waiver, but you 
may not get it.  

If you trade on margin, your broker can sell your securities without 
giving you a margin call 

Now is the time to reread your margin agreement and pay attention to the 
fine print. If your account has fallen below the firm's maintenance margin 
requirement, your broker has the legal right to sell your securities at any 
time without consulting you first.  

Some investors have been rudely surprised that "margin calls" are a 
courtesy, not a requirement. Brokers are not required to make margin calls 
to their customers.  Even when your broker offers you time to put more 
cash or securities into your account to meet a margin call, the broker can 
act without waiting for you to meet the call. In a rapidly declining market 
your broker can sell your entire margin account at a substantial loss to you, 
because the securities in the account have declined in value. 
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No regulations require a trade to be executed within a certain time 

There are no Securities and Exchange Commission regulations that require 
a trade to be executed within a set period of time. But if firms advertise their 
speed of execution, they must not exaggerate or fail to tell investors about 
the possibility of significant delays. 

More Information 

For more information on online trading problems, read former SEC 
Chairman Arthur Levitt's message to investors, and the National 
Association of Securities Dealers' Notice to Members 99-11, dealing with 
online trading.  

Are you gambling? Or Investing? The Connecticut Council on Problem 
Gambling has a quiz on their website that you can take to help you decide 
if you have a problem, and suggests where you can go for help.  

What To Do If You Have a Complaint 

Act promptly. By law, you only have a limited time to take legal action. 
Follow these steps to solve your problem:  

1. Talk to your broker or online firm and ask for an explanation. Take notes 
of the answers you receive.  

2. If you are dissatisfied with the response and believe that you have been 
treated unfairly, ask to talk with the broker's branch manager. In the case of 
an online firm, go directly to step number three.  

3. If your are still dissatisfied, write to the compliance department at the 
firm's main office. Explain your problem clearly, and tell the firm how you 
want it resolved. Ask the compliance office to respond to you in writing 
within 30 days.  

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/news/press/pressarchive/1999/99-9.txt
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.nasd.com/web/groups/rules_regs/documents/notice_to_members/nasdw_004569.pdf
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.ccpg.org/financial/investing_gambling_problems.asp
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.ccpg.org/financial/investing_gambling_problems.asp
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Stocks and Financial Research 

 

Getting Info About Companies 

This page tells you how to get information about companies from a variety 
of sources. We'll cover corporate reports, reference books, and commercial 
databases that provide information. If you have questions about corporate 
bankruptcy or the worth of an old stock certificate, we have information that 
may help you.  

Corporate Reports 

Corporate reports are a treasure trove of information for investors: they tell 
you whether a company is making money or losing money and why. You'll 
find this information in the company's quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
annual reports (with audited financial statements) on Form 10-K, and 
periodic reports of significant events on Form 8-K.  

It's usually easy to find information about large companies from the 
companies themselves, newspapers, brokerage firms, and the SEC. By 
contrast, it can be extremely difficult to find information about small 
companies. Generally, smaller companies only have to file reports with the 
SEC if they have $10 million or more in assets and 500 or more 
shareholders, or list their securities on an exchange or Nasdaq.   

To invest wisely and avoid investment scams, research each investment 
opportunity thoroughly and ask questions. If you'd like to learn more about 
the SEC's registration and reporting requirements, read Q&A: Small 
Business and the SEC.  

You can get corporate reports from the following sources:  

¶ The SEC  You can find out whether a company files reports by using 
the SEC's database known as EDGAR. For companies that do not 
file on EDGAR, you can contact the SEC at:  

Office of Public Reference - 450 5th Street, NW, Room 1300 
Washington, D.C. 20549-0102 phone: (202) 551-8090 
fax: (202) 628-9001 e-mail: publicinfo@sec.gov 

http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/bankrupt.htm
http://www.sec.gov/answers/oldcer.htm
http://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/askquestions.htm
http://www.sec.gov/info/smallbus/qasbsec.htm
http://www.sec.gov/info/smallbus/qasbsec.htm
http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml
mailto:publicinfo@sec.gov
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¶ The company  Ask the company if it is registered with the SEC and 
files reports with us. That information may be listed on its Web site.   

¶ Other government regulators  Banks do not have to file reports with 
the SEC, but file with banking regulators. Visit the Web sites at the 
Federal Reserve System's National Information Center of Banking 
Information, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, or the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.   

Other Types of Information 

To find out whether a company has been cleared to sell its securities in a 
particular state and whether it is in good standing, you can contact the 
following:  

¶ Your state securities regulator  Contact the North American 
Securities Administrators Association to get the name and phone 
number of your state securities regulator to see if the company has 
been cleared to sell securities in your state.   

¶ The Secretary of State where the company is incorporated  You 
can find out whether the company is a corporation in good standing 
and has filed annual reports with the state through the secretary of 
state where the company is incorporated. Click here to connect to 
The National Association of Secretaries of State's Web site for a list 
of most secretaries of state.  

 

You can find general financial information about companies from reference 
books and commercial databases. The SEC cannot recommend or endorse 
any particular research firm, its personnel, or its products. But there are a 
number of resources you may consult:  

¶ Bloomberg News Service and Lexis/Nexis provide news stories 
about a company. Dun & Bradstreet, Moody's, Hoover's Profiles, 
and Standard & Poor's Corporate Profiles provide financial data 
about companies. These and other sources are available in many 
libraries or law and business school libraries.   

 

http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.ffiec.gov/NIC/
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.ffiec.gov/NIC/
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.occ.treas.gov/
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.fdic.gov/
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.nasaa.org/QuickLinks/ContactYourRegulator.cfm
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.nasaa.org/QuickLinks/ContactYourRegulator.cfm
http://www.sec.gov/cgi-bin/goodbye.cgi?www.nass.org/
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Mutual Funds 

 

Over the past decade, American investors increasingly have turned to 
mutual funds to save for retirement and other financial goals. Mutual funds 
can offer the advantages of diversification and professional management. 
But, as with other investment choices, investing in mutual funds involves 
risk. And fees and taxes will diminish a fund's returns. It pays to understand 
both the upsides and the downsides of mutual fund investing and how to 
choose products that match your goals and tolerance for risk. 

This brochure explains the basics of mutual fund investing ð how mutual 
funds work, what factors to consider before investing, and how to avoid 
common pitfalls. 

 

Key Points to Remember 

¶ Mutual funds are not guaranteed or insured by the FDIC or any other 
government agency ð even if you buy through a bank and the fund 
carries the bank's name. You can lose money investing in mutual 
funds. 
   

¶ Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. So 
don't be dazzled by last year's high returns. But past performance 
can help you assess a fund's volatility over time. 
   

¶ All mutual funds have costs that lower your investment returns. Shop 
around, and use a mutual fund cost calculator at 
www.sec.gov/investor/tools.shtml to compare many of the costs of 
owning different funds before you buy.  

  

 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/investor/tools.shtml
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How Mutual Funds Work 

What They Are 

A mutual fund is a company that pools money from many investors and 
invests the money in stocks, bonds, short-term money-market instruments, 
other securities or assets, or some combination of these investments. The 
combined holdings the mutual fund owns are known as its portfolio. Each 
share represents an investor's proportionate ownership of the fund's 
holdings and the income those holdings generate. 

 

 

Other Types of Investment Companies  

Legally known as an "open-end company," a mutual fund is one of three 
basic types of investment companies. While this brochure discusses only 
mutual funds, you should be aware that other pooled investment vehicles 
exist and may offer features that you desire. The two other basic types of 
investment companies are: 

Closed-end funds ð which, unlike mutual funds, sell a fixed number 
of shares at one time (in an initial public offering) that later trade on a 
secondary market; and 

Unit Investment Trusts (UITs) ð which make a one-time public 
offering of only a specific, fixed number of redeemable securities called 
"units" and which will terminate and dissolve on a date specified at the 
creation of the UIT. 

"Exchange-traded funds" (ETFs) are a type of investment company that 
aims to achieve the same return as a particular market index. They can be 
either open-end companies or UITs. But ETFs are not considered to be, 
and are not permitted to call themselves, mutual funds. 
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Some of the traditional, distinguishing characteristics of mutual funds 
include the following:  

   
Investors purchase mutual fund shares from the fund itself (or through a 
broker for the fund) instead of from other investors on a secondary 
market, such as the New York Stock Exchange or Nasdaq Stock Market. 

   
The price that investors pay for mutual fund shares is the fund's per 
share net asset value (NAV) plus any shareholder fees that the fund 
imposes at the time of purchase (such as sales loads). 

   
Mutual fund shares are "redeemable," meaning investors can sell their 
shares back to the fund (or to a broker acting for the fund). 
 

   
Mutual funds generally create and sell new shares to accommodate new 
investors. In other words, they sell their shares on a continuous basis, 
although some funds stop selling when, for example, they become too 
large. 

   
The investment portfolios of mutual funds typically are managed by 
separate entities known as "investment advisers" that are registered with 
the SEC. 

 

A Word About Hedge Funds and "Funds of Hedge Funds"  

"Hedge fund" is a general, non-legal term used to describe private, 
unregistered investment pools that traditionally have been limited to 
sophisticated, wealthy investors. Hedge funds are not mutual funds and, 
as such, are not subject to the numerous regulations that apply to mutual 
funds for the protection of investors ð including regulations requiring a 
certain degree of liquidity, regulations requiring that mutual fund shares be 
redeemable at any time, regulations protecting against conflicts of interest, 
regulations to assure fairness in the pricing of fund shares, disclosure 
regulations, regulations limiting the use of leverage, and more. 

"Funds of hedge funds," a relatively new type of investment product, are 
investment companies that invest in hedge funds. Some, but not all, 
register with the SEC and file semi-annual reports. They often have lower 
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minimum investment thresholds than traditional, unregistered hedge funds 
and can sell their shares to a larger number of investors. Like hedge 
funds, funds of hedge funds are not mutual funds. Unlike open-end mutual 
funds, funds of hedge funds offer very limited rights of redemption. And, 
unlike ETFs, their shares are not typically listed on an exchange. 

You'll find more information about hedge funds on the SEC website. To 
learn more about funds of hedge funds, please read NASD's Investor Alert 
entitled  

Advantages and Disadvantages 

Every investment has advantages and disadvantages. But it's important to 
remember that features that matter to one investor may not be important to 
you. Whether any particular feature is an advantage for you will depend on 
your unique circumstances. For some investors, mutual funds provide an 
attractive investment choice because they generally offer the following 
features:  

¶ Professional Management ð Professional money managers 
research, select, and monitor the performance of the securities the 
fund purchases.  
   

¶ Diversification ð Diversification is an investing strategy that can be 
neatly summed up as "Don't put all your eggs in one basket." 
Spreading your investments across a wide range of companies and 
industry sectors can help lower your risk if a company or sector fails. 
Some investors find it easier to achieve diversification through 
ownership of mutual funds rather than through ownership of individual 
stocks or bonds.  
   

¶ Affordability ð Some mutual funds accommodate investors who 
don't have a lot of money to invest by setting relatively low dollar 
amounts for initial purchases, subsequent monthly purchases, or 
both.  
   

¶ Liquidity ð Mutual fund investors can readily redeem their shares at 
the current NAV ð plus any fees and charges assessed on 
redemption ð at any time.  

http://www.sec.gov/answers/hedge.htm
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But mutual funds also have features that some investors might view as 
disadvantages, such as: 

¶ Costs Despite Negative Returns ð Investors must pay sales 
charges, annual fees, and other expenses (which we'll discuss below) 
regardless of how the fund performs. And, depending on the timing of 
their investment, investors may also have to pay taxes on any capital 
gains distribution they receive ð even if the fund went on to perform 
poorly after they bought shares. 
   

¶ Lack of Control ð Investors typically cannot ascertain the exact 
make-up of a fund's portfolio at any given time, nor can they directly 
influence which securities the fund manager buys and sells or the 
timing of those trades.  
   

¶ Price Uncertainty ð With an individual stock, you can obtain real-
time (or close to real-time) pricing information with relative ease by 
checking financial websites or by calling your broker. You can also 
monitor how a stock's price changes from hour to hour ð or even 
second to second. By contrast, with a mutual fund, the price at which 
you purchase or redeem shares will typically depend on the fund's 
NAV, which the fund might not calculate until many hours after you've 
placed your order. In general, mutual funds must calculate their NAV 
at least once every business day, typically after the major U.S. 
exchanges close.  

Different Types of Funds 

When it comes to investing in mutual funds, investors have literally 
thousands of choices. Before you invest in any given fund, decide whether 
the investment strategy and risks of the fund are a good fit for you. The first 
step to successful investing is figuring out your financial goals and risk 
tolerance ð either on your own or with the help of a financial professional. 
Once you know what you're saving for, when you'll need the money, and 
how much risk you can tolerate, you can more easily narrow your choices. 
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Most mutual funds fall into one of three main categories ð money market 
funds, bond funds (also called "fixed income" funds), and stock funds (also 
called "equity" funds). Each type has different features and different risks 
and rewards. Generally, the higher the potential return, the higher the risk 
of loss. 

Money Market Funds 

Money market funds have relatively low risks, compared to other 
mutual funds (and most other investments). By law, they can invest 
in only certain high-quality, short-term investments issued by the 
U.S. government, U.S. corporations, and state and local 
governments. Money market funds try to keep their net asset value 
(NAV) ð which represents the value of one share in a fund ð at a 
stable $1.00 per share. But the NAV may fall below $1.00 if the 
fund's investments perform poorly. Investor losses have been rare, 
but they are possible. 

Money market funds pay dividends that generally reflect short-term 
interest rates, and historically the returns for money market funds 
have been lower than for either bond or stock funds. That's why 
"inflation risk" ð the risk that inflation will outpace and erode 
investment returns over time ð can be a potential concern for 
investors in money market funds. 

Bond Funds 

Bond funds generally have higher risks than money market funds, 
largely because they typically pursue strategies aimed at producing 
higher yields. Unlike money market funds, the SEC's rules do not 
restrict bond funds to high-quality or short-term investments. 
Because there are many different types of bonds, bond funds can 
vary dramatically in their risks and rewards. Some of the risks 
associated with bond funds include: 
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Credit Risk ð the possibility that companies or other issuers 
whose bonds are owned by the fund may fail to pay their debts 
(including the debt owed to holders of their bonds). Credit risk is 
less of a factor for bond funds that invest in insured bonds or U.S. 
Treasury bonds. By contrast, those that invest in the bonds of 
companies with poor credit ratings generally will be subject to 
higher risk. 

Interest Rate Risk ð the risk that the market value of the bonds 
will go down when interest rates go up. Because of this, you can 
lose money in any bond fund, including those that invest only in 
insured bonds or Treasury bonds. Funds that invest in longer-term 
bonds tend to have higher interest rate risk. 

Prepayment Risk ð the chance that a bond will be paid off early. 
For example, if interest rates fall, a bond issuer may decide to pay 
off (or "retire") its debt and issue new bonds that pay a lower rate. 
When this happens, the fund may not be able to reinvest the 
proceeds in an investment with as high a return or yield. 

Stock Funds 

Although a stock fund's value can rise and fall quickly (and 
dramatically) over the short term, historically stocks have performed 
better over the long term than other types of investments ð 
including corporate bonds, government bonds, and treasury 
securities. 

Overall "market risk" poses the greatest potential danger for 
investors in stocks funds. Stock prices can fluctuate for a broad 
range of reasons ð such as the overall strength of the economy or 
demand for particular products or services. 

Not all stock funds are the same. For example: 

¶ Growth funds focus on stocks that may not pay a regular dividend but 
have the potential for large capital gains. 
   

¶ Income funds invest in stocks that pay regular dividends.  
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¶ Index funds aim to achieve the same return as a particular market 
index, such as the S&P 500 Composite Stock Price Index, by 
investing in all ð or perhaps a representative sample ð of the 
companies included in an index. 
   

¶ Sector funds may specialize in a particular industry segment, such as 
technology or consumer products stocks.  

How to Buy and Sell Shares 

You can purchase shares in some mutual funds by contacting the fund 
directly. Other mutual fund shares are sold mainly through brokers, banks, 
financial planners, or insurance agents. All mutual funds will redeem (buy 
back) your shares on any business day and must send you the payment 
within seven days. 

The easiest way to determine the value of your shares is to call the fund's 
toll-free number or visit its website. The financial pages of major 
newspapers sometimes print the NAVs for various mutual funds. When you 
buy shares, you pay the current NAV per share plus any fee the fund 
assesses at the time of purchase, such as a purchase sales load or other 
type of purchase fee. When you sell your shares, the fund will pay you the 
NAV minus any fee the fund assesses at the time of redemption, such as a 
deferred (or back-end) sales load or redemption fee. A fund's NAV goes up 
or down daily as its holdings change in value. 
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Exchanging Shares  

A "family of funds" is a group of mutual funds that share 
administrative and distribution systems. Each fund in a family 
may have different investment objectives and follow different 
strategies. 

Some funds offer exchange privileges within a family of funds, 
allowing shareholders to transfer their holdings from one fund to 
another as their investment goals or tolerance for risk change. 
While some funds impose fees for exchanges, most funds 
typically do not. To learn more about a fund's exchange 
policies, call the fund's toll-free number, visit its website, or read 
the "shareholder information" section of the prospectus. 

Bear in mind that exchanges have tax consequences. Even if 
the fund doesn't charge you for the transfer, you'll be liable for 
any capital gain on the sale of your old shares ð or, depending 
on the circumstances, eligible to take a capital loss. We'll 
discuss taxes in further detail below. 

How Funds Can Earn Money for You 

You can earn money from your investment in three ways: 

1. Dividend Payments ð A fund may earn income in the form of 
dividends and interest on the securities in its portfolio. The fund then 
pays its shareholders nearly all of the income (minus disclosed 
expenses) it has earned in the form of dividends. 
   

2. Capital Gains Distributions ð The price of the securities a fund 
owns may increase. When a fund sells a security that has increased 
in price, the fund has a capital gain. At the end of the year, most 
funds distribute these capital gains (minus any capital losses) to 
investors. 
   

3. Increased NAV ð If the market value of a fund's portfolio increases 
after deduction of expenses and liabilities, then the value (NAV) of 
the fund and its shares increases. The higher NAV reflects the higher 
value of your investment.  
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With respect to dividend payments and capital gains distributions, funds 
usually will give you a choice: the fund can send you a check or other form 
of payment, or you can have your dividends or distributions reinvested in 
the fund to buy more shares (often without paying an additional sales load). 

Factors to Consider 

Thinking about your long-term investment strategies and tolerance for risk 
can help you decide what type of fund is best suited for you. But you should 
also consider the effect that fees and taxes will have on your returns over 
time. 

Degrees of Risk 

All funds carry some level of risk. You may lose some or all of the money 
you invest ð your principal ð because the securities held by a fund go up 
and down in value. Dividend or interest payments may also fluctuate as 
market conditions change. 

Before you invest, be sure to read a fund's prospectus and shareholder 
reports to learn about its investment strategy and the potential risks. Funds 
with higher rates of return may take risks that are beyond your comfort level 
and are inconsistent with your financial goals. 

 

A Word About Derivatives  

Derivatives are financial instruments whose performance is 
derived, at least in part, from the performance of an underlying 
asset, security, or index. Even small market movements can 
dramatically affect their value, sometimes in unpredictable 
ways. 

There are many types of derivatives with many different uses. A 
fund's prospectus will disclose whether and how it may use 
derivatives. You may also want to call a fund and ask how it 
uses these instruments. 
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Fees and Expenses 

As with any business, running a mutual fund involves costs ð including 
shareholder transaction costs, investment advisory fees, and marketing 
and distribution expenses. Funds pass along these costs to investors by 
imposing fees and expenses. It is important that you understand these 
charges because they lower your returns. 

Some funds impose "shareholder fees" directly on investors whenever they 
buy or sell shares. In addition, every fund has regular, recurring, fund-wide 
"operating expenses." Funds typically pay their operating expenses out of 
fund assets ð which means that investors indirectly pay these costs. 

SEC rules require funds to disclose both shareholder fees and operating 
expenses in a "fee table" near the front of a fund's prospectus. The lists 
below will help you decode the fee table and understand the various fees a 
fund may impose: 

Shareholder Fees 

¶ Sales Charge (Load) on Purchases ð the amount you pay when 
you buy shares in a mutual fund. Also known as a "front-end load," 
this fee typically goes to the brokers that sell the fund's shares. Front-
end loads reduce the amount of your investment. For example, let's 
say you have $1,000 and want to invest it in a mutual fund with a 5% 
front-end load. The $50 sales load you must pay comes off the top, 
and the remaining $950 will be invested in the fund. According to 
NASD rules, a front-end load cannot be higher than 8.5% of your 
investment.  
   

¶ Purchase Fee ð another type of fee that some funds charge their 
shareholders when they buy shares. Unlike a front-end sales load, a 
purchase fee is paid to the fund (not to a broker) and is typically 
imposed to defray some of the fund's costs associated with the 
purchase. 
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¶ Deferred Sales Charge (Load) ð a fee you pay when you sell your 
shares. Also known as a "back-end load," this fee typically goes to 
the brokers that sell the fund's shares. The most common type of 
back-end sales load is the "contingent deferred sales load" (also 
known as a "CDSC" or "CDSL"). The amount of this type of load will 
depend on how long the investor holds his or her shares and typically 
decreases to zero if the investor holds his or her shares long enough.  
   

¶ Redemption Fee ð another type of fee that some funds charge their 
shareholders when they sell or redeem shares. Unlike a deferred 
sales load, a redemption fee is paid to the fund (not to a broker) and 
is typically used to defray fund costs associated with a shareholder's 
redemption.  
   

¶ Exchange Fee ð a fee that some funds impose on shareholders if 
they exchange (transfer) to another fund within the same fund group 
or "family of funds." 
   

¶ Account fee ð a fee that some funds separately impose on 
investors in connection with the maintenance of their accounts. For 
example, some funds impose an account maintenance fee on 
accounts whose value is less than a certain dollar amount.  

Annual Fund Operating Expenses 

¶ Management Fees ð fees that are paid out of fund assets to the 
fund's investment adviser for investment portfolio management, any 
other management fees payable to the fund's investment adviser or 
its affiliates, and administrative fees payable to the investment 
adviser that are not included in the "Other Expenses" category 
(discussed below). 
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¶ Distribution [and/or Service] Fees ("12b-1" Fees) ð fees paid by 
the fund out of fund assets to cover the costs of marketing and selling 
fund shares and sometimes to cover the costs of providing 
shareholder services. "Distribution fees" include fees to compensate 
brokers and others who sell fund shares and to pay for advertising, 
the printing and mailing of prospectuses to new investors, and the 
printing and mailing of sales literature. "Shareholder Service Fees" 
are fees paid to persons to respond to investor inquiries and provide 
investors with information about their investments.  
   

¶ Other Expenses ð expenses not included under "Management 
Fees" or "Distribution or Service (12b-1) Fees," such as any 
shareholder service expenses that are not already included in the 
12b-1 fees, custodial expenses, legal and accounting expenses, 
transfer agent expenses, and other administrative expenses. 
   

¶ Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses ("Expense Ratio") ð the 
line of the fee table that represents the total of all of a fund's annual 
fund operating expenses, expressed as a percentage of the fund's 
average net assets. Looking at the expense ratio can help you make 
comparisons among funds.  

A Word About "No-Load" Funds  

Some funds call themselves "no-load." As the name implies, 
this means that the fund does not charge any type of sales 
load. But, as discussed above, not every type of shareholder 
fee is a "sales load." A no-load fund may charge fees that are 
not sales loads, such as purchase fees, redemption fees, 
exchange fees, and account fees. No-load funds will also have 
operating expenses. 

Be sure to review carefully the fee tables of any funds you're considering, 
including no-load funds. Even small differences in fees can translate into 
large differences in returns over time. For example, if you invested $10,000 
in a fund that produced a 10% annual return before expenses and had 
annual operating expenses of 1.5%, then after 20 years you would have 
roughly $49,725. But if the fund had expenses of only 0.5%, then you 
would end up with $60,858 ð an 18% difference. 
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A mutual fund cost calculator can help you understand the impact that 
many types of fees and expenses can have over time. It takes only minutes 
to compare the costs of different mutual funds. 

A Word About Breakpoints  

Some mutual funds that charge front-end sales loads will 
charge lower sales loads for larger investments. The 
investment levels required to obtain a reduced sales load are 
commonly referred to as "breakpoints." 

The SEC does not require a fund to offer breakpoints in the 
fund's sales load. But, if breakpoints exist, the fund must 
disclose them. In addition, a NASD member brokerage firm 
should not sell you shares of a fund in an amount that is "just 
below" the fund's sales load breakpoint simply to earn a higher 
commission.   Each fund company establishes its own formula 
for how they will calculate whether an investor is entitled to 
receive a breakpoint. For that reason, it is important to seek out 
breakpoint information from your financial advisor or the fund 
itself. You'll need to ask how a particular fund establishes 
eligibility for breakpoint discounts, as well as what the fund's 
breakpoint amounts are.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/investor/tools/mfcc/mfcc-int.htm
http://www.sec.gov/answers/mffees.htm#salesloads


Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 116 

Classes of Funds 

Many mutual funds offer more than one class of shares. For example, you 
may have seen a fund that offers "Class A" and "Class B" shares. Each 
class will invest in the same "pool" (or investment portfolio) of securities 
and will have the same investment objectives and policies. But each class 
will have different shareholder services and/or distribution arrangements 
with different fees and expenses. As a result, each class will likely have 
different performance results.  A multi-class structure offers investors the 
ability to select a fee and expense structure that is most appropriate for 
their investment goals (including the time that they expect to remain 
invested in the fund). Here are some key characteristics of the most 
common mutual fund share classes offered to individual investors: 

¶ Class A Shares ð Class A shares typically impose a front-end sales 
load. They also tend to have a lower 12b-1 fee and lower annual 
expenses than other mutual fund share classes. Be aware that some 
mutual funds reduce the front-end load as the size of your investment 
increases. If you're considering Class A shares, be sure to inquire 
about breakpoints. 
   

¶ Class B Shares ð Class B shares typically do not have a front-end 
sales load. Instead, they may impose a contingent deferred sales 
load and a 12b-1 fee (along with other annual expenses). Class B 
shares also might convert automatically to a class with a lower 12b-1 
fee if the investor holds the shares long enough. 
   

¶ Class C Shares ð Class C shares might have a 12b-1 fee, other 
annual expenses, and either a front- or back-end sales load. But the 
front- or back-end load for Class C shares tends to be lower than for 
Class A or Class B shares, respectively. Unlike Class B shares, Class 
C shares generally do not convert to another class. Class C shares 
tend to have higher annual expenses than either Class A or Class B 
shares.  
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Tax Consequences 

When you buy and hold an individual stock or bond, you must pay income 
tax each year on the dividends or interest you receive. But you won't have 
to pay any capital gains tax until you actually sell and unless you make a 
profit. 

Mutual funds are different.   When you buy and hold mutual fund shares, 
you will owe income tax on any ordinary dividends in the year you receive 
or reinvest them. And, in addition to owing taxes on any personal capital 
gains when you sell your shares, you may also have to pay taxes each 
year on the fund's capital gains. That's because the law requires mutual 
funds to distribute capital gains to shareholders if they sell securities for a 
profit that can't be offset by a loss. 

Tax Exempt Funds  If you invest in a tax-exempt fund ð such 
as a municipal bond fund ð some or all of your dividends will 
be exempt from federal (and sometimes state and local) income 
tax. You will, however, owe taxes on any capital gains. 

Bear in mind that if you receive a capital gains distribution, you will likely 
owe taxes ð even if the fund has had a negative return from the point 
during the year when you purchased your shares. For this reason, you 
should call the fund to find out when it makes distributions so you won't pay 
more than your fair share of taxes. Some funds post that information on 
their websites. SEC rules require mutual funds to disclose in their 
prospectuses after-tax returns. In calculating after-tax returns, mutual funds 
must use standardized formulas similar to the ones used to calculate 
before-tax average annual total returns. You'll find a fund's after-tax returns 
in the "Risk/Return Summary" section of the prospectus. When comparing 
funds, be sure to take taxes into account. 

Avoiding Common Pitfalls 

If you decide to invest in mutual funds, be sure to obtain as much 
information about the fund before you invest. And don't make assumptions 
about the soundness of the fund based solely on its past performance or its 
name. 
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Sources of Information  -  Prospectus  

When you purchase shares of a mutual fund, the fund must provide you 
with a prospectus. But you can ð and should ð request and read a fund's 
prospectus before you invest. The prospectus is the fund's selling 
document and contains valuable information, such as the fund's investment 
objectives or goals, principal strategies for achieving those goals, principal 
risks of investing in the fund, fees and expenses, and past performance. 
The prospectus also identifies the fund's managers and advisers and 
describes how to purchase and redeem fund shares. 

While they may seem daunting at first, mutual fund prospectuses contain a 
treasure trove of valuable information. The SEC requires funds to include 
specific categories of information in their prospectuses and to present key 
data (such as fees and past performance) in a standard format so that 
investors can more easily compare different funds.  

Here's some of what you'll find in mutual fund prospectuses: 

¶ Date of Issue ð The date of the prospectus should appear on the 
front cover. Mutual funds must update their prospectuses at least 
once a year, so always check to make sure you're looking at the most 
recent version. 
   

¶ Risk/Return Bar Chart and Table ð Near the front of the 
prospectus, right after the fund's narrative description of its 
investment objectives or goals, strategies, and risks, you'll find a bar 
chart showing the fund's annual total returns for each of the last 10 
years (or for the life of the fund if it is less than 10 years old). All 
funds that have had annual returns for at least one calendar year 
must include this chart. 
  
Except in limited circumstances, funds also must include a table that 
sets forth returns ð both before and after taxes ð for the past 1-, 5-, 
and 10-year periods. The table will also include the returns of an 
appropriate broad-based index for comparison purposes. Here's what 
the table will look like: 
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1-

year 
5-year (or 

life of fund) 
10-year (or 
life of fund) 

Return before taxes ___% ___% ___% 

Return after taxes on 
distributions 

___% ___% ___% 

Return after taxes on 
distributions and sale of fund 
shares 

___% ___% ___% 

 

Index 
(reflects no deductions for 
[fees, expenses, or taxes]) 

  
___% 

  
___% 

  
___% 

 

¶  Note: Be sure to read any footnotes or accompanying explanations 
to make sure that you fully understand the data the fund provides in 
the bar chart and table. Also, bear in mind that the bar chart and table 
for a multiple-class fund (that offers more than one class of fund 
shares in the prospectus) will typically show performance data and 
returns for only one class. 
   

¶ Fee Table ð Following the performance bar chart and annual returns 
table, you'll find a table that describes the fund's fees and expenses. 
These include the shareholder fees and annual fund operating 
expenses described in greater detail above. The fee table includes an 
example that will help you compare costs among different funds by 
showing you the costs associated with investing a hypothetical 
$10,000 over a 1-, 3-, 5-, and 10-year period. 
   

¶ Financial Highlights ð This section, which generally appears 
towards the back of the prospectus, contains audited data concerning 
the fund's financial performance for each of the past 5 years. Here 
you'll find net asset values (for both the beginning and end of each 
period), total returns, and various ratios, including the ratio of 
expenses to average net assets, the ratio of net income to average 
net assets, and the portfolio turnover rate.  
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Profile 

Some mutual funds also furnish investors with a "profile," which 
summarizes key information contained in the fund's prospectus, 
such as the fund's investment objectives, principal investment 
strategies, principal risks, performance, fees and expenses, after-
tax returns, identity of the fund's investment adviser, investment 
requirements, and other information. 

Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") 

Also known as "Part B" of the registration statement, the SAI 
explains a fund's operations in greater detail than the prospectus ð 
including the fund's financial statements and details about the 
history of the fund, fund policies on borrowing and concentration, 
the identity of officers, directors, and persons who control the fund, 
investment advisory and other services, brokerage commissions, 
tax matters, and performance such as yield and average annual 
total return information. If you ask, the fund must send you an SAI. 
The back cover of the fund's prospectus should contain information 
on how to obtain the SAI. 

Shareholder Reports 

A mutual fund also must provide shareholders with annual and 
semi-annual reports within 60 days after the end of the fund's fiscal 
year and 60 days after the fund's fiscal mid-year. These reports 
contain a variety of updated financial information, a list of the fund's 
portfolio securities, and other information. The information in the 
shareholder reports will be current as of the date of the particular 
report (that is, the last day of the fund's fiscal year for the annual 
report, and the last day of the fund's fiscal mid-year for the semi-
annual report). 
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Investors can obtain all of these documents by: 

   
Calling or writing to the fund (all mutual funds have toll-free telephone 
numbers); 

   
Visiting the fund's website; 

   
Contacting a broker that sells the fund's shares; 

   
Searching the SEC's EDGAR database and downloading the documents 
for free; or 

   
Contacting the SEC's Office of Public Reference by telephone at (202) 
551-8090, by fax at (202) 942-9001 (fax), or by email at 
publicinfo@sec.gov. Please be aware that we charge $0.24 per page for 
photocopying. 

Past Performance 

A fund's past performance is not as important as you might think. 
Advertisements, rankings, and ratings often emphasize how well a fund has 
performed in the past. But studies show that the future is often different. 
This year's "number one" fund can easily become next year's below 
average fund. 

Be sure to find out how long the fund has been in existence. Newly created 
or small funds sometimes have excellent short-term performance records. 
Because these funds may invest in only a small number of stocks, a few 
successful stocks can have a large impact on their performance. But as 
these funds grow larger and increase the number of stocks they own, each 
stock has less impact on performance. This may make it more difficult to 
sustain initial results. 

 

 

 

http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml
mailto:publicinfo@sec.gov
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While past performance does not necessarily predict future returns, it can 
tell you how volatile (or stable) a fund has been over a period of time. 
Generally, the more volatile a fund, the higher the investment risk. If you'll 
need your money to meet a financial goal in the near-term, you probably 
can't afford the risk of investing in a fund with a volatile history because you 
will not have enough time to ride out any declines in the stock market. 

Looking Beyond a Fund's Name 

Don't assume that a fund called the "XYZ Stock Fund" invests only in 
stocks or that the "Martian High-Yield Fund" invests only in the securities 
of companies headquartered on the planet Mars. The SEC requires that 
any mutual fund with a name suggesting that it focuses on a particular type 
of investment must invest at least 80% of its assets in the type of 
investment suggested by its name. But funds can still invest up to one-fifth 
of their holdings in other types of securities ð including securities that you 
might consider too risky or perhaps not aggressive enough. 

 

Bank Products versus Mutual Funds 

Many banks now sell mutual funds, some of which carry the bank's name. 
But mutual funds sold in banks, including money market funds, are not 
bank deposits. As a result, they are not federally insured by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC).  

Money Market Matters  

Don't confuse a "money market fund" with a "money market deposit 
account." The names are similar, but they are completely different:  

¶ A money market fund is a type of mutual fund. It is not guaranteed or 
FDIC insured. When you buy shares in a money market fund, you 
should receive a prospectus. 
   

¶ A money market deposit account is a bank deposit. It is guaranteed 
and FDIC insured. When you deposit money in a money market 
deposit account, you should receive a Truth in Savings form.  
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If You Have Problems 

If you encounter a problem with your mutual fund, you can send us your 
complaint using our online complaint form. You can also reach us by 
regular mail at: 

Securities and Exchange Commission  
Office of Investor Education and Assistance  
100 F Street, N.E.  
Washington, D.C. 20549-0213 

For more information about investing wisely and avoiding fraud, please 
check out the Investor Information section of our website. 

Glossary of Key Mutual Fund Terms 

12b-1 Fees ð fees paid by the fund out of fund assets to cover the costs of 
marketing and selling fund shares and sometimes to cover the costs of 
providing shareholder services. "Distribution fees" include fees to 
compensate brokers and others who sell fund shares and to pay for 
advertising, the printing and mailing of prospectuses to new investors, and 
the printing and mailing of sales literature. 

 "Shareholder Service Fees" are fees paid to persons to respond to 
investor inquiries and provide investors with information about their 
investments. 

Account Fee ð a fee that some funds separately impose on investors for 
the maintenance of their accounts. For example, accounts below a 
specified dollar amount may have to pay an account fee. 

Back-end Load ð a sales charge (also known as a "deferred sales 
charge") investors pay when they redeem (or sell) mutual fund shares, 
generally used by the fund to compensate brokers. 

Classes ð different types of shares issued by a single fund, often referred 
to as Class A shares, Class B shares, and so on. Each class invests in the 
same "pool" (or investment portfolio) of securities and has the same 
investment objectives and policies. But each class has different 
shareholder services and/or distribution arrangements with different fees 
and expenses and therefore different performance results. 

http://www.sec.gov/complaint.shtml
http://www.sec.gov/investor.shtml
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Closed-End Fund ð a type of investment company that does not 
continuously offer its shares for sale but instead sells a fixed number of 
shares at one time (in the initial public offering) which then typically trade 
on a secondary market, such as the New York Stock Exchange or the 
Nasdaq Stock Market. Legally known as a "closed-end company." 

Contingent Deferred Sales Load ð a type of back-end load, the amount 
of which depends on the length of time the investor held his or her shares. 
For example, a contingent deferred sales load might be (X)% if an investor 
holds his or her shares for one year, (X-1)% after two years, and so on until 
the load reaches zero and goes away completely. 

Conversion ð a feature some funds offer that allows investors to 
automatically change from one class to another (typically with lower annual 
expenses) after a set period of time. The fund's prospectus or profile will 
state whether a class ever converts to another class. 

Distribution Fees ð fees paid out of fund assets to cover expenses for 
marketing and selling fund shares, including advertising costs, 
compensation for brokers and others who sell fund shares, and payments 
for printing and mailing prospectuses to new investors and sales literature 
prospective investors. Sometimes referred to as "12b-1 fees." 

Exchange Fee ð a fee that some funds impose on shareholders if they 
exchange (transfer) to another fund within the same fund group. 

Exchange-Traded Funds ð a type of an investment company (either an 
open-end company or UIT) whose objective is to achieve the same return 
as a particular market index. ETFs differ from traditional open-end 
companies and UITs, because, pursuant to SEC exemptive orders, shares 
issued by ETFs trade on a secondary market and are only redeemable 
from the fund itself in very large blocks (blocks of 50,000 shares for 
example). 

Expense Ratio ð the fund's total annual operating expenses (including 
management fees, distribution (12b-1) fees, and other expenses) 
expressed as a percentage of average net assets. 

Front-end Load ð an upfront sales charge investors pay when they 
purchase fund shares, generally used by the fund to compensate brokers. 
A front-end load reduces the amount available to purchase fund shares. 
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Index Fund ð describes a type of mutual fund or Unit Investment Trust 
(UIT) whose investment objective typically is to achieve the same return as 
a particular market index, such as the S&P 500 Composite Stock Price 
Index, the Russell 2000 Index, or the Wilshire 5000 Total Market Index. 

Investment Adviser ð generally, a person or entity who receives 
compensation for giving individually tailored advice to a specific person on 
investing in stocks, bonds, or mutual funds. Some investment advisers also 
manage portfolios of securities, including mutual funds. 

Investment Company ð a company (corporation, business trust, 
partnership, or limited liability company) that issues securities and is 
primarily engaged in the business of investing in securities. The three basic 
types of investment companies are mutual funds, closed-end funds, and 
unit investment trusts. 

Load ð see "Sales Charge." 

Management Fee ð fee paid out of fund assets to the fund's investment 
adviser or its affiliates for managing the fund's portfolio, any other 
management fee payable to the fund's investment adviser or its affiliates, 
and any administrative fee payable to the investment adviser that are not 
included in the "Other Expenses" category. A fund's management fee 
appears as a category under "Annual Fund Operating Expenses" in the 
Fee Table. 

Market Index ð a measurement of the performance of a specific "basket" 
of stocks considered to represent a particular market or sector of the U.S. 
stock market or the economy. For example, the Dow Jones Industrial 
Average (DJIA) is an index of 30 "blue chip" U.S. stocks of industrial 
companies (excluding transportation and utility companies). 

Mutual Fund ð the common name for an open-end investment company. 
Like other types of investment companies, mutual funds pool money from 
many investors and invest the money in stocks, bonds, short-term money-
market instruments, or other securities. Mutual funds issue redeemable 
shares that investors purchase directly from the fund (or through a broker 
for the fund) instead of purchasing from investors on a secondary market. 

NAV (Net Asset Value) ð the value of the fund's assets minus its 
liabilities. SEC rules require funds to calculate the NAV at least once daily. 
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To calculate the NAV per share, simply subtract the fund's liabilities from its 
assets and then divide the result by the number of shares outstanding. 

No-load Fund ð a fund that does not charge any type of sales load. But 
not every type of shareholder fee is a "sales load," and a no-load fund may 
charge fees that are not sales loads. No-load funds also charge operating 
expenses. 

Open-End Company ð the legal name for a mutual fund. An open-end 
company is a type of investment company 

Operating Expenses ð the costs a fund incurs in connection with running 
the fund, including management fees, distribution (12b-1) fees, and other 
expenses. 

Portfolio ð an individual's or entity's combined holdings of stocks, bonds, 
or other securities and assets. 

Profile ð summarizes key information about a mutual fund's costs, 
investment objectives, risks, and performance. Although every mutual fund 
has a prospectus, not every mutual fund has a profile. 

Prospectus ð describes the mutual fund to prospective investors. Every 
mutual fund has a prospectus. The prospectus contains information about 
the mutual fund's costs, investment objectives, risks, and performance. You 
can get a prospectus from the mutual fund company (through its website or 
by phone or mail). Your financial professional or broker can also provide 
you with a copy. 

Purchase Fee ð a shareholder fee that some funds charge when 
investors purchase mutual fund shares. Not the same as (and may be in 
addition to) a front-end load. 

Redemption Fee ð a shareholder fee that some funds charge when 
investors redeem (or sell) mutual fund shares. Redemption fees (which 
must be paid to the fund) are not the same as (and may be in addition to) a 
back-end load (which is typically paid to a broker). The SEC generally limits 
redemption fees to 2%. 
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Sales Charge (or "Load") ð the amount that investors pay when they 
purchase (front-end load) or redeem (back-end load) shares in a mutual 
fund, similar to a commission. The SEC's rules do not limit the size of sales 
load a fund may charge, but NASD rules state that mutual fund sales loads 
cannot exceed 8.5% and must be even lower depending on other fees and 
charges assessed. 

Shareholder Service Fees ð fees paid to persons to respond to investor 
inquiries and provide investors with information about their investments. 
See also "12b-1 fees." 

Statement of Additional Information (SAI) ð conveys information about 
an open- or closed-end fund that is not necessarily needed by investors to 
make an informed investment decision, but that some investors find useful. 
Although funds are not required to provide investors with the SAI, they 
must give investors the SAI upon request and without charge. Also known 
as "Part B" of the fund's registration statement. 

Total Annual Fund Operating Expense ð the total of a fund's annual 
fund operating expenses, expressed as a percentage of the fund's average 
net assets. You'll find the total in the fund's fee table in the prospectus. 

Unit Investment Trust (UIT) ð a type of investment company that 
typically makes a one-time "public offering" of only a specific, fixed number 
of units. A UIT will terminate and dissolve on a date established when the 
UIT is created (although some may terminate more than fifty years after 
they are created). UITs do not actively trade their investment portfolios. 
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Retirement Planning 

 

Retirement Strategies for All Ages: A "To-Do" List 

A successful retirement depends largely on the steps you take during 
different stages of your life. Here are some moves to consider. Note: 
Investment portfolios shown are illustrations only. You must decide what 
percentages and investments are right for you. 

Your 20s and 30s (Early Career) 

Contribute as much as you can to IRAs, 401(k)s, Keoghs and other 
retirement savings while meeting other goals, such as buying a home or 
starting a family. 

Keep your debt from credit cards and other sources manageable. 

If you don't already own a home, consider if this is a good option for you. 
While a home purchase can be expensive, it also can be an excellent 
investment and source of tax breaks.  

Given your years until retirement, you probably can afford to be fairly 
aggressive with your investments. Possible portfolio: 60 to 80 percent in 
stocks or stock mutual funds and most of the rest in certificates of deposit 
(CDs), bonds, bond funds or money market accounts. 

 

Your 40s and 50s (Mid-Career) 

Continue putting as much as you can into IRAs, 401(k)s, Keoghs and other 
retirement savings accounts. Once you reach age 50, you can make 
"catch-up" (extra) contributions to IRAs, 401(k)s and other retirement 
savings accounts. 

If you haven't bought a house already, consider doing so as a source of 
equity and a place to live in retirement. If you have a mortgage, periodically 
compare your interest rate to current market rates. If current rates are 
better, consider refinancing.  
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As you get closer to retirement, consider reducing stock investments and 
adding more conservative, income-producing investments. Possible 
portfolio: 50 to 70 percent in stocks or stock mutual funds and most of the 
rest in CDs, bonds, bond funds or money market accounts.  

Your Early 60s (Late Career) 

Ask the Social Security Administration, your accountant or your employer's 
personnel office to help you determine how much Social Security and 
pension income you'd get if you "retire early" ï and how much you'd lose 
compared to holding off on retirement  

Discuss with a financial advisor when to withdraw money from your tax-
deferred retirement accounts, such as employer-sponsored retirement 
plans and traditional IRAs. After age 59 ½, you can withdraw your money 
without penalty but subject to income taxes. Under IRS rules, you must 
withdraw a minimum amount from 401(k)s, traditional IRAs and certain 
other retirement savings plans by April 1 of the year after you reach age 70 
½ and each year after that. There is an exception to the rules for someone 
still working for the employer who sponsors the plan. 

Consult with your legal or financial advisors about estate planning ï 
organizing your financial affairs so that your money, property and other 
assets can go to your heirs with a minimum of costs, taxes and hassles.  

You may need or want to buy health insurance or long-term care (including 
nursing home) insurance. Consider the need for disability (wage 
replacement) or life insurance coverage.  

 

Reduce your consumer debt as much as possible and consider the pros 
and cons of paying off your mortgage early. But if you think you'll need to 
borrow money during retirement, determine whether you want to refinance 
your mortgage, take out a home-equity loan, apply for a credit card or 
otherwise take out a loan before you retire. You might have more options 
for getting a loan when you still have employment income. No matter what 
loans you have or how old you are, it's important to keep your debts 
manageable.  
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Consider reducing your stock ownership and increasing your conservative 
investments. Possible portfolio: 30 to 60 percent in stocks or stock mutual 
funds and most of the rest in CDs, bonds, bond funds or money market 
accounts.  

Your Retirement 

The rules governing retirement can be complicated. So, about a year 
before you plan to retire, discuss your situation with a Social Security 
Administration claims representative. After you decide on a retirement date, 
apply for your Social Security benefits and other pensions about three 
months in advance. If you plan to work part-time, find out how this will 
affect your Social Security income or taxes. 

Arrange to have your periodic payments, such as Social Security benefits, 
directly deposited into your checking account. Ask your personnel 
department or financial advisor about whether to receive your 401(k) 
money in a lump sum or periodic payments.  

Reduce your debts as much as possible. Be careful before taking on new 
debt, such as a home-equity loan or a reverse mortgage. 

Lean toward conservative, income-producing investments, but don't rule 
out stocks or stock funds. Possible portfolio: 20 to 40 percent in stock or 
stock mutual funds and most of the rest in CDs, bonds, bond funds or 
money market accounts. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 131 

10 Tips for Retirement 

 

Know Your Retirement Needs 

Retirement is expensive. Experts estimate that youôll need about 70 
percent of your preretirement income ï lower earners, 90 percent or more ï 
to maintain your standard of living when you stop working. Take charge of 
your financial future.  

Find Out About Your Social Security Benefits  

Social Security pays the average retiree about 40 percent of preretirement 
earnings. Call the Social Security Administration at 1.800.772.1213 for a 
free Social Security Statement and find out more about your benefits at 
www.socialsecurity.gov. 

Learn About Your Employer's Pension Or Profit Sharing Plan  

If your employer offers a plan, check to see what your benefit is worth. 
Most employers will provide an individual benefit statement if you request 
one. Before you change jobs, find out what will happen to your pension. 
Learn what benefits you may have from previous employment. Find out if 
you will be entitled to benefits from your spouseôs plan.  

Contribute To A Tax-Sheltered Savings Plan  

If your employer offers a tax-sheltered savings plan, such as a 401(k), sign 
up and contribute all you can. Your taxes will be lower, your company may 
kick in more, and automatic deductions make it easy. Over time, compound 
interest and tax deferrals make a big difference in the amount you will 
accumulate. 

Ask Your Employer To Start A Plan  

If your employer doesnôt offer a retirement plan, suggest that it start one. 
Simplified plans can be set up by certain employers.  

Put Your Money Into An Individual Retirement Account  

You can put up to $3,000 a year into an Individual Retirement Account 
(IRA) and gain tax advantages. The chart below illustrates the way your 
account can grow in an IRA. 
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When you open an IRA, you have two options ï a traditional IRA or the 
newer Roth IRA. The tax treatment of your contributions and withdrawals 
will depend on which option you select. Also, you should know that the 
after-tax value of your withdrawal will depend on inflation and the type of 
IRA you choose. 

Don't Touch Your Savings  

Donôt dip into your retirement savings. Youôll lose principal and interest, and 
you may lose tax benefits. If you change jobs, roll over your savings directly 
into an IRA or your new employerôs retirement plan.  

Start Now, Set Goals, And Stick To Them  

Start early. The sooner you start saving, the more time your money has to 
grow. Put time on your side. Make retirement savings a high priority. 
Devise a plan, stick to it, and set goals for yourself. Remember, itôs never 
too early or too late to start saving. So start now, whatever your age!  

Consider Basic Investment Principles  

How you save can be as important as how much you save. Inflation and 
the type of investments you make play important roles in how much youôll 
have saved at retirement. Know how your pension or savings plan is 
invested. Financial security and knowledge go hand in hand.  

Ask Questions  

These tips point you in the right direction. But youôll need more information. 
Talk to your employer, your bank, your union, or a financial advisor. Get 
practical advice and act now.  Financial security doesnôt just happen. It 
takes planning and commitment and, yes, money.  
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Facts  

 Today, only 42 percent of Americans have calculated how much they 
need to save for retirement.  

 In 2001, of those who had 401(k) coverage available, 30 percent 
didnôt participate.  

 The average American spends 18 years in retirement.  

Putting money away for retirement is a habit we can all live with. 
Remember é Saving Matters! 

The following Web sites can also be helpful: 

 AARP  www.aarp.com 
 American Savings Education Council www.asec.org 
 Wealth Management Board of Standards 
  www.financialanlayst.org 
 Consumer Federation of America  
 The Investorôs Clearinghouse  
 U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission  www.sec.gov  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.dol.gov/cgi-bin/leave-dol.asp?exiturl=http://www.aarp.org&exittitle=AARP
http://www.dol.gov/cgi-bin/leave-dol.asp?exiturl=http://www.asec.org&exittitle=American_Savings_Education_Council
http://www.financialanalyst.org/
http://www.financialanalyst.org/
http://www.dol.gov/cgi-bin/leave-dol.asp?exiturl=http://www.consumerfed.org&exittitle=Consumer_Federation_of_America
http://www.dol.gov/cgi-bin/leave-dol.asp?exiturl=http://www.investoreducation.org&exittitle=The_Investors_Clearinghouse
http://www.dol.gov/cgi-bin/leave-dol.asp?exiturl=http://www.sec.gov&exittitle=US_Securities_and_Exchange_Commission&fedpage=yes
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Home Mortgages and Loans for your Home 

 
Obtain All Important Cost Information 

 

  

Be sure to get information about mortgages from several lenders or 
brokers. Know how much of a down payment you can afford, and 
find out all the costs involved in the loan. Knowing just the amount of 
the monthly payment or the interest rate is not enough. Ask for 
information about the same loan amount, loan term, and type of loan 
so that you can compare the information. The following information 
is important to get from each lender and broker:  

Rates 

 

 Ask each lender and broker for a list of its current mortgage 
interest rates and whether the rates being quoted are the lowest 
for that day or week. 

 Ask whether the rate is fixed or adjustable. Keep in mind that 
when interest rates for adjustable-rate loans go up, generally so 
does the monthly payment. 

 If the rate quoted is for an adjustable-rate loan, ask how your rate 
and loan payment will vary, including whether your loan payment 
will be reduced when rates go down. 

 Ask about the loanôs annual percentage rate (APR). The APR 
takes into account not only the interest rate but also points, broker 
fees, and certain other credit charges that you may be required to 
pay, expressed as a yearly rate. 

Points 

 
Points are fees paid to the lender or broker for the loan and are often 
linked to the interest rate; usually the more points you pay, the lower 
the rate. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Mortgage#Mortgage
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Fixed#Fixed
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Adjustable#Adjustable
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Annual#Annual
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Points#Points
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 Check your local newspaper for information about rates and 
points currently being offered. 

 Ask for points to be quoted to you as a dollar amount--rather than 
just as the number of points--so that you will actually know how 
much you will have to pay. 

Fees - A home loan often involves many fees, such as loan 
origination or underwriting fees, broker fees, and transaction, 
settlement, and closing costs. Every lender or broker should be able 
to give you an estimate of its fees. Many of these fees are 
negotiable. Some fees are paid when you apply for a loan (such as 
application and appraisal fees), and others are paid at closing. In 
some cases, you can borrow the money needed to pay these fees, 
but doing so will increase your loan amount and total costs. "No 
cost" loans are sometimes available, but they usually involve higher 
rates. 

 Ask what each fee includes. Several items may be lumped into 
one fee. 

 Ask for an explanation of any fee you do not understand. Some 
common fees associated with a home loan closing are listed on 
the Mortgage Shopping Worksheet in this brochure. 

 
Down Payments and Private Mortgage Insurance  Some lenders 
require 20 percent of the homeôs purchase price as a down 
payment. However, many lenders now offer loans that require less 
than 20 percent down--sometimes as little as 5 percent on 
conventional loans. If a 20 percent down payment is not made, 
lenders usually require the home buyer to purchase private 
mortgage insurance (PMI) to protect the lender in case the home 
buyer fails to pay. When government-assisted programs such as 
FHA (Federal Housing Administration), VA (Veterans 
Administration), or Rural Development Services are available, the 
down payment requirements may be substantially smaller. 

 
 
 
 
 

http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Loan#Loan
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Loan#Loan
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Transaction#Transaction
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Transaction#Transaction
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Conventional#Conventional
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Private#Private
http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Private#Private
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 Ask about the lenderôs requirements for a down payment, 
including what you need to do to verify that funds for your down 
payment are available. 

 Ask your lender about special programs it may offer.  

 
If PMI is required for your loan,  

 Ask what the total cost of the insurance will be. 

 Ask how much your monthly payment will be when including the 
PMI premium. 

 Ask how long you will be required to carry PMI.  
 

 

 
Obtain the Best Deal That You Can 

 

  

Once you know what each lender has to offer, negotiate for the best 
deal that you can. On any given day, lenders and brokers may offer 
different prices for the same loan terms to different consumers, even 
if those consumers have the same loan qualifications. The most 
likely reason for this difference in price is that loan officers and 
brokers are often allowed to keep some or all of this difference as 
extra compensation. Generally, the difference between the lowest 
available price for a loan product and any higher price that the 
borrower agrees to pay is an overage. When overages occur, they 
are built into the prices quoted to consumers. They can occur in both 
fixed and variable-rate loans and can be in the form of points, fees, 
or the interest rate. Whether quoted to you by a loan officer or a 
broker, the price of any loan may contain overages.  Have the lender 
or broker write down all the costs associated with the loan. Then ask 
if the lender or broker will waive or reduce one or more of its fees or 
agree to a lower rate or fewer points. Youôll want to make sure that 
the lender or broker is not agreeing to lower one fee while raising 
another or to lower the rate while raising points. Thereôs no harm in 
asking lenders or brokers if they can give better terms than the 
original ones they quoted or than those you have found elsewhere. 
 

 

http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Overages#Overages
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Once you are satisfied with the terms you have negotiated, you may 
want to obtain a written lock-in from the lender or broker. The lock-in 
should include the rate that you have agreed upon, the period the 
lock-in lasts, and the number of points to be paid. A fee may be 
charged for locking in the loan rate. This fee may be refundable at 
closing. Lock-ins can protect you from rate increases while your loan 
is being processed; if rates fall, however, you could end up with a 
less favorable rate. Should that happen, try to negotiate a 
compromise with the lender or broker. 

 
Remember: Shop, Compare, Negotiate 

 

  

When buying a home, remember to shop around, to compare costs 
and terms, and to negotiate for the best deal. Your local newspaper 
and the Internet are good places to start shopping for a loan. You 
can usually find information both on interest rates and on points for 
several lenders. Since rates and points can change daily, youôll want 
to check your newspaper often when shopping for a home loan. But 
the newspaper does not list the fees, so be sure to ask the lenders 
about them.  

The Mortgage Shopping Worksheet that follows may also help you. 
Take it with you when you speak to each lender or broker and write 
down the information you obtain. Donôt be afraid to make lenders 
and brokers compete with each other for your business by letting 
them know that you are shopping for the best deal.  

 
Fair Lending Is Required by Law 

 

  

The Equal Credit Opportunity Act prohibits lenders from 
discriminating against credit applicants in any aspect of a credit 
transaction on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, 
marital status, age, whether all or part of the applicantôs income 
comes from a public assistance program, or whether the applicant 
has in good faith exercised a right under the Consumer Credit 
Protection Act.  

http://www.federalreserve.gov/pubs/mortgage/mortb_1.htm#Lock#Lock
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The Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination in residential real 
estate transactions on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or national origin. 

Under these laws, a consumer cannot be refused a loan based on 
these characteristics nor be charged more for a loan or offered less 
favorable terms based on such characteristics. 

 
Credit Problems? Still Shop, Compare, and Negotiate 

 

  

Donôt assume that minor credit problems or difficulties stemming 
from unique circumstances, such as illness or temporary loss of 
income, will limit your loan choices to only high-cost lenders. If your 
credit report contains negative information that is accurate, but there 
are good reasons for trusting you to repay a loan, be sure to explain 
your situation to the lender or broker. If your credit problems cannot 
be explained, you will probably have to pay more than borrowers 
who have good credit histories. But donôt assume that the only way 
to get credit is to pay a high price. Ask how your past credit history 
affects the price of your loan and what you would need to do to get a 
better price. Take the time to shop around and negotiate the best 
deal that you can.  
Whether you have credit problems or not, itôs a good idea to review 
your credit report for accuracy and completeness before you apply 
for a loan. To order a copy of your credit report, contact: 

 
    Equifax: (800) 685-1111 
    TransUnion: (800) 888-4213 
    Experian: (888) 397-3742  
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Glossary 

 

  

 

Adjustable-rate loans, also known as variable-rate loans, usually 
offer a lower initial interest rate than fixed-rate loans. The interest 
rate fluctuates over the life of the loan based on market conditions, 
but the loan agreement generally sets maximum and minimum rates. 
When interest rates rise, generally so do your loan payments; and 
when interest rates fall, your monthly payments may be lowered. 

Annual percentage rate (APR) is the cost of credit expressed as a 
yearly rate. The APR includes the interest rate, points, broker fees, 
and certain other credit charges that the borrower is required to pay. 

Conventional loans are mortgage loans other than those insured or 
guaranteed by a government agency such as the FHA (Federal 
Housing Administration), the VA (Veterans Administration), or the 
Rural Development Services (formerly know as Farmers Home 
Administration, or FmHA). 

Escrow is the holding of money or documents by a neutral third 
party prior to closing. It can also be an account held by the lender (or 
servicer) into which a homeowner pays money for taxes and 
insurance. 

Fixed-rate loans generally have repayment terms of 15, 20, or 30 
years. Both the interest rate and the monthly payments (for principal 
and interest) stay the same during the life of the loan. 

The interest rate is the cost of borrowing money expressed as a 
percentage rate. Interest rates can change because of market 
conditions. 

Loan origination fees are fees charged by the lender for 
processing the loan and are often expressed as a percentage of the 
loan amount. 
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Lock-in refers to a written agreement guaranteeing a home buyer a 
specific interest rate on a home loan provided that the loan is closed 
within a certain period of time, such as 60 or 90 days. Often the 
agreement also specifies the number of points to be paid at closing. 

A mortgage is a document signed by a borrower when a home loan 
is made that gives the lender a right to take possession of the 
property if the borrower fails to pay off the loan. 

Overages are the difference between the lowest available price and 
any higher price that the home buyer agrees to pay for the loan. 
Loan officers and brokers are often allowed to keep some or all of 
this difference as extra compensation. 

Points are fees paid to the lender for the loan. One point equals 1 
percent of the loan amount. Points are usually paid in cash at 
closing. In some cases, the money needed to pay points can be 
borrowed, but doing so increases the loan amount &  the total costs. 

Private mortgage insurance (PMI) protects the lender against a 
loss if a borrower defaults on the loan. It is usually required for loans 
in which the down payment is less than 20 percent of the sales price 
or, in a refinancing, when the amount financed is greater than 80 
percent of the appraised value. 

Thrift institution is a general term for savings banks and savings 
and loan associations. 

Transaction, settlement, closing costs may include application 
fees; title examination, abstract of title, title insurance, and property 
survey fees; fees for preparing deeds, mortgages, and settlement 
documents; attorneysô fees; recording fees; and notary, appraisal, 
and credit report fees. Under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures 
Act, the borrower receives a good faith estimate of closing costs at 
the time of application or within three days of application. The good 
faith estimate lists each expected cost either as an amount or a 
range. 
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  Lender 1 Lender 2 

Name of Lender: ___ ___ 

Name of Contact: ___ ___ 

Date of Contact: ___ ___ 

Mortgage Amount: ___ ___ 

  mortgage 1 mortgage 2 mortgage 1 mortgage 2 

Basic Information 
on the Loans 
Type of Mortgage: 
fixed rate, 
adjustable rate, 
conventional, FHA, 
other? If adjustable, 
see below 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Minimum down 
payment required 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Loan term (length of 
loan) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Contract interest 
rate 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Annual percentage 
rate (APR) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Points (may be 
called loan discount 
points) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Monthly Private 
Mortgage Insurance 
(PMI) premiums 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

How long must you 
keep PMI? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Estimated monthly ___ ___ ___ ___ 
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escrow for taxes 
and hazard 
insurance 

Estimated monthly 
payment (Principal, 
Interest, Taxes, 
Insurance, PMI) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Fees 
Different institutions 
may have different 
names for some 
fees and may 
charge different 
fees. We have listed 
some typical fees 
you may see on 
loan documents. 

 
Application fee or 
Loan processing fee 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Origination fee or 
Underwriting fee 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Lender fee or 
Funding fee 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Appraisal fee ___ ___ ___ ___ 

Attorney fees ___ ___ ___ ___ 

Document 
preparation and 
recording fees 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Broker fees (may be 
quoted as points, 
origination fees, or 
interest rate add-on) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Credit report fee ___ ___ ___ ___ 

Other fees ___ ___ ___ ___ 
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Other Costs at 
Closing/Settlement 
Title search/Title 
insurance 
    For lender 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

   For you ___ ___ ___ ___ 

Estimated prepaid 
amounts for interest, 
taxes, hazard 
insurance, 
payments to escrow 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

State and local 
taxes, stamp taxes, 
transfer taxes 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Flood determination ___ ___ ___ ___ 

Prepaid Private 
Mortgage Insurance 
(PMI) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Surveys and home 
inspections 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Total Fees and 
Other 
Closing/Settlement 
Cost Estimates 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

  Lender 1 Lender 2 

Name of Lender:     

  mortgage 1 mortgage 2 mortgage 1 mortgage 2 

Other Questions 
and 
Considerations 
about the Loan 
Are any of the fees 
or costs waivable? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 
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Prepayment 
penalties 
Is there a 
prepayment 
penalty? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

If so, how much is 
it? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

How long does the 
penalty period last? 
(for example, 3 
years? 5 years?) 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Are extra principal 
payments allowed? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Lock-ins 
Is the lock-in 
agreement in 
writing? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Is there a fee to 
lock-in? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

When does the lock-
in occurðat 
application, 
approval, or another 
time? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

How long will the 
lock-in last? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

If the rate drops 
before closing, can 
you lock-in at a 
lower rate? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

If the loan is an 
adjustable rate 
mortgage: 
What is the initial 
rate? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 
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What is the 
maximum the rate 
could be next year? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

What are the rate 
and payment caps 
each year and over 
the life of the loan? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

What is the 
frequency of rate 
change and of any 
changes to the 
monthly payment? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

What is the index 
that the lender will 
use? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

What margin will the 
lender add to the 
index? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

Credit life 
insurance 
Does the monthly 
amount quoted to 
you include a 
charge for credit life 
insurance? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

If so, does the 
lender require credit 
life insurance as a 
condition of the 
loan? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

How much does the 
credit life insurance 
cost? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 

How much lower 
would your monthly 

___ ___ ___ ___ 
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payment be without 
the credit life 
insurance? 

If the lender does 
not require credit life 
insurance, and you 
still want to buy it, 
what rates can you 
get from other 
insurance 
providers? 

___ ___ ___ ___ 
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How the USA Economy Works 

 
In every economic system, entrepreneurs and managers bring together 
natural resources, labor, and technology to produce and distribute goods 
and services. But the way these different elements are organized and used 
also reflects a nation's political ideals and its culture. 
      
The United States is often described as a "capitalist" economy, a term 
coined by 19th-century German economist and social theorist Karl Marx to 
describe a system in which a small group of people who control large 
amounts of money, or capital, make the most important economic 
decisions. Marx contrasted capitalist economies to "socialist" ones, which 
vest more power in the political system. Marx and his followers believed 
that capitalist economies concentrate power in the hands of wealthy 
business people, who aim mainly to maximize profits; socialist economies, 
on the other hand, would be more likely to feature greater control by 
government, which tends to put political aims -- a more equal distribution of 
society's resources, for instance -- ahead of profits. 
      
While those categories, though oversimplified, have elements of truth to 
them, they are far less relevant today. If the pure capitalism described by 
Marx ever existed, it has long since disappeared, as governments in the 
United States and many other countries have intervened in their economies 
to limit concentrations of power and address many of the social problems 
associated with unchecked private commercial interests. As a result, the 
American economy is perhaps better described as a "mixed" economy, with 
government playing an important role along with private enterprise. 
      
Although Americans often disagree about exactly where to draw the line 
between their beliefs in both free enterprise and government management, 
the mixed economy they have developed has been remarkably successful.  

Basic Ingredients of the U.S. Economy 

 

The first ingredient of a nation's economic system is its natural resources. 

The United States is rich in mineral resources and fertile farm soil, and it is 

blessed with a moderate climate. It also has extensive coastlines on both 
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the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, as well as on the Gulf of Mexico. Rivers 

flow from far within the continent, and the Great Lakes -- five large, inland 

lakes along the U.S. border with Canada -- provide additional shipping 

access. These extensive waterways have helped shape the country's 

economic growth over the years and helped bind America's 50 individual 

states together in a single economic unit. 

The second ingredient is labor, which converts natural resources into 

goods. The number of available workers and, more importantly, their 

productivity help determine the health of an economy. Throughout its 

history, the United States has experienced steady growth in the labor force, 

and that, in turn, has helped fuel almost constant economic expansion. 

Until shortly after World War I, most workers were immigrants from Europe, 

their immediate descendants, or African-Americans whose ancestors were 

brought to the Americas as slaves. 

 In the early years of the 20th century, large numbers of Asians immigrated 

to the United States, while many Latin American immigrants came in later 

years. 

    

Although the United States has experienced some periods of high 

unemployment and other times when labor was in short supply, immigrants 

tended to come when jobs were plentiful. Often willing to work for 

somewhat lower wages than acculturated workers, they generally 

prospered, earning far more than they would have in their native lands. The 

nation prospered as well, so that the economy grew fast enough to absorb 

even more newcomers. 
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The quality of available labor -- how hard people are willing to work and 

how skilled they are -- is at least as important to a country's economic 

success as the number of workers. In the early days of the United States, 

frontier life required hard work, and what is known as the Protestant work 

ethic reinforced that trait. A strong emphasis on education, including 

technical and vocational training, also contributed to America's economic 

success, as did a willingness to experiment and to change.  Labor mobility 

has likewise been important to the capacity of the American economy to 

adapt to changing conditions. When immigrants flooded labor markets on 

the East Coast, many workers moved inland, often to farmland waiting to 

be tilled. Similarly, economic opportunities in industrial, northern cities 

attracted black Americans from southern farms in the first half of the 20th 

century.  

Labor-force quality continues to be an important issue. Today, Americans 

consider "human capital" a key to success in numerous modern, high-

technology industries. As a result, government leaders and business 

officials increasingly stress the importance of education and training to 

develop workers with the kind of nimble minds and adaptable skills needed 

in new industries such as computers and telecommunications. 

But natural resources and labor account for only part of an economic 

system. These resources must be organized and directed as efficiently as 

possible. In the American economy, managers, responding to signals from 

markets, perform this function. The traditional managerial structure in 

America is based on a top-down chain of command; authority flows from 

the chief executive in the boardroom, who makes sure that the entire 

business runs smoothly and efficiently, through various lower levels of 

management responsible for coordinating different parts of the enterprise, 

down to the foreman on the shop floor. Numerous tasks are divided among 

different divisions and workers. In early 20th-century America, this 

specialization, or division of labor, was said to reflect "scientific 

management" based on systematic analysis.   
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Many enterprises continue to operate with this traditional structure, but 

others have taken changing views on management. Facing heightened 

global competition, American businesses are seeking more flexible 

organization structures, especially in high-technology industries that 

employ skilled workers and must develop, modify, and even customize 

products rapidly. Excessive hierarchy and division of labor increasingly are 

thought to inhibit creativity. As a result, many companies have "flattened" 

their organizational structures, reduced the number of managers, and 

delegated more authority to interdisciplinary teams of workers.  Before 

managers or teams of workers can produce anything, of course, they must 

be organized into business ventures. 

In the United States, the corporation has proved to be an effective device 

for accumulating the funds needed to launch a new business or to expand 

an existing one. The corporation is a voluntary association of owners, 

known as stockholders, who form a business enterprise governed by a 

complex set of rules and customs. 

Corporations must have financial resources to acquire the resources they 

need to produce goods or services. They raise the necessary capital 

largely by selling stock (ownership shares in their assets) or bonds (long-

term loans of money) to insurance companies, banks, pension funds, 

individuals, and other investors. Some institutions, especially banks, also 

lend money directly to corporations or other business enterprises. Federal 

and state governments have developed detailed rules and regulations to 

ensure the safety and soundness of this financial system and to foster the 

free flow of information so investors can make well-informed decisions. 
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The gross domestic product measures the total output of goods and 

services in a given year. In the United States it has been growing steadily, 

rising from more than $3.4 trillion in 1983 to around $8.5 trillion by 1998. 

But while these figures help measure the economy's health, they do not 

gauge every aspect of national well-being. GDP shows the market value of 

the goods and services an economy produces, but it does not weigh a 

nation's quality of life. And some important variables -- personal happiness 

and security, for instance, or a clean environment and good health -- are 

entirely beyond its scope.  

A Mixed Economy: The Role of the Market 

The United States is said to have a mixed economy because privately 

owned businesses and government both play important roles. Indeed, 

some of the most enduring debates of American economic history focus on 

the relative roles of the public and private sectors. 

     

 The American free enterprise system emphasizes private ownership. 

Private businesses produce most goods and services, and almost two-

thirds of the nation's total economic output goes to individuals for personal 

use (the remaining one-third is bought by government and business). The 

consumer role is so great, in fact, that the nation is sometimes 

characterized as having a "consumer economy."   This emphasis on private 

ownership arises, in part, from American beliefs about personal freedom. 

From the time the nation was created, Americans have feared excessive 

government power, and they have sought to limit government's authority 

over individuals -- including its role in the economic realm. In addition, 

Americans generally believe that an economy characterized by private 

ownership is likely to operate more efficiently than one with substantial 

government ownership. 
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Why? When economic forces are unfettered, Americans believe, supply 

and demand determine the prices of goods and services. Prices, in turn, tell 

businesses what to produce; if people want more of a particular good than 

the economy is producing, the price of the good rises. That catches the 

attention of new or other companies that, sensing an opportunity to earn 

profits, start producing more of that good. 

On the other hand, if people want less of the good, prices fall and less 

competitive producers either go out of business or start producing different 

goods. Such a system is called a market economy. A socialist economy, in 

contrast, is characterized by more government ownership and central 

planning. Most Americans are convinced that socialist economies are 

inherently less efficient because government, which relies on tax revenues, 

is far less likely than private businesses to heed price signals or to feel the 

discipline imposed by market forces. There are limits to free enterprise, 

however. Americans have always believed that some services are better 

performed by public rather than private enterprise. For instance, in the 

United States, government is primarily responsible for the administration of 

justice, education (although there are many private schools and training 

centers), the road system, social statistical reporting, and national defense. 

In addition, government often is asked to intervene in the economy to 

correct situations in which the price system does not work. It regulates 

"natural monopolies," for example, and it uses antitrust laws to control or 

break up other business combinations that become so powerful that they 

can surmount market forces.  
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Government also addresses issues beyond the reach of market forces. It 

provides welfare and unemployment benefits to people who cannot support 

themselves, either because they encounter problems in their personal lives 

or lose their jobs as a result of economic upheaval; it pays much of the cost 

of medical care for the aged and those who live in poverty; it regulates 

private industry to limit air and water pollution; it provides low-cost loans to 

people who suffer losses as a result of natural disasters; and it has played 

the leading role in the exploration of space, which is too expensive for any 

private enterprise to handle. 

In this mixed economy, individuals can help guide the economy not only 

through the choices they make as consumers but through the votes they 

cast for officials who shape economic policy. In recent years, consumers 

have voiced concerns about product safety, environmental threats posed 

by certain industrial practices, and potential health risks citizens may face; 

government has responded by creating agencies to protect consumer 

interests and promote the general public welfare.  The U.S. economy has 

changed in other ways as well. The population and the labor force have 

shifted dramatically away from farms to cities, from fields to factories, and, 

above all, to service industries. In today's economy, the providers of 

personal and public services far outnumber producers of agricultural and 

manufactured goods. As the economy has grown more complex, statistics 

also reveal over the last century a sharp long-term trend away from self-

employment toward working for others.  

Government's Role in the Economy 

While consumers and producers make most decisions that mold the 

economy, government activities have a powerful effect on the U.S. 

economy in at least four areas. 
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Stabilization and Growth. Perhaps most importantly, the federal 

government guides the overall pace of economic activity, attempting to 

maintain steady growth, high levels of employment, and price stability. By 

adjusting spending and tax rates (fiscal policy) or managing the money 

supply and controlling the use of credit (monetary policy), it can slow down 

or speed up the economy's rate of growth -- in the process, affecting the 

level of prices and employment. 

      

For many years following the Great Depression of the 1930s, recessions -- 

periods of slow economic growth and high unemployment -- were viewed 

as the greatest of economic threats. When the danger of recession 

appeared most serious, government sought to strengthen the economy by 

spending heavily itself or cutting taxes so that consumers would spend 

more, and by fostering rapid growth in the money supply, which also 

encouraged more spending. In the 1970s, major price increases, 

particularly for energy, created a strong fear of inflation -- increases in the 

overall level of prices.  

As a result, government leaders came to concentrate more on controlling 

inflation than on combating recession by limiting spending, resisting tax 

cuts, and reining in growth in the money supply.   

Ideas about the best tools for stabilizing the economy changed 

substantially between the 1960s and the 1990s. In the 1960s, government 

had great faith in fiscal policy -- manipulation of government revenues to 

influence the economy. Since spending and taxes are controlled by the 

president and the Congress, these elected officials played a leading role in 

directing the economy. A period of high inflation, high unemployment, and 

huge government deficits weakened confidence in fiscal policy as a tool for 

regulating the overall pace of economic activity. Instead, monetary policy -- 

controlling the nation's money supply through such devices as interest 

rates -- assumed growing prominence. Monetary policy is directed by the 
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nation's central bank, known as the Federal Reserve Board, with 

considerable independence from the president and the Congress. 

Regulation and Control. The U.S. federal government regulates private 

enterprise in numerous ways. Regulation falls into two general categories. 

Economic regulation seeks, either directly or indirectly, to control prices. 

Traditionally, the government has sought to prevent monopolies such as 

electric utilities from raising prices beyond the level that would ensure them 

reasonable profits. At times, the government has extended economic 

control to other kinds of industries as well. In the years following the Great 

Depression, it devised a complex system to stabilize prices for agricultural 

goods, which tend to fluctuate wildly in response to rapidly changing supply 

and demand. A number of other industries -- trucking and, later, airlines -- 

successfully sought regulation themselves to limit what they considered 

harmful price-cutting. 

      

Another form of economic regulation, antitrust law, seeks to strengthen 

market forces so that direct regulation is unnecessary. The government -- 

and, sometimes, private parties -- have used antitrust law to prohibit 

practices or mergers that would unduly limit competition. 

Government also exercises control over private companies to achieve 

social goals, such as protecting the public's health and safety or 

maintaining a clean and healthy environment. The U.S. Food and Drug 

Administration bans harmful drugs, for example; the Occupational Safety 

and Health Administration protects workers from hazards they may 

encounter in their jobs; and the Environmental Protection Agency seeks to 

control water and air pollution. 

     

 



Private Wealth Management Guide  ï George Mentz, JD, MBA  

 156 

American attitudes about regulation changed substantially during the final 

three decades of the 20th century. Beginning in the 1970s, policy-makers 

grew increasingly concerned that economic regulation protected inefficient 

companies at the expense of consumers in industries such as airlines and 

trucking. At the same time, technological changes spawned new 

competitors in some industries, such as telecommunications, that once 

were considered natural monopolies. Both developments led to a 

succession of laws easing regulation.   

While leaders of both political parties generally favored economic 

deregulation during the 1970s, 1980s, and 1990s, there was less 

agreement concerning regulations designed to achieve social goals. Social 

regulation had assumed growing importance in the years following the 

Depression and World War II, and again in the 1960s and 1970s. But 

during the presidency of Ronald Reagan in the 1980s, the government 

relaxed rules to protect workers, consumers, and the environment, arguing 

that regulation interfered with free enterprise, increased the costs of doing 

business, and thus contributed to inflation. Still, many Americans continued 

to voice concerns about specific events or trends, prompting the 

government to issue new regulations in some areas, including 

environmental protection. 

Some citizens, meanwhile, have turned to the courts when they feel their 

elected officials are not addressing certain issues quickly or strongly 

enough. For instance, in the 1990s, individuals, and eventually government 

itself, sued tobacco companies over the health risks of cigarette smoking.  

A large financial settlement provided states with long-term payments to 

cover medical costs to treat smoking-related illnesses 

. 
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Direct Services. Each level of government provides many direct services. 

The federal government, for example, is responsible for national defense, 

backs research that often leads to the development of new products, 

conducts space exploration, and runs numerous programs designed to help 

workers develop workplace skills and find jobs. Government spending has 

a significant effect on local and regional economies -- and even on the 

overall pace of economic activity. 

State governments, meanwhile, are responsible for the construction and 

maintenance of most highways. State, county, or city governments play the 

leading role in financing and operating public schools. Local governments 

are primarily responsible for police and fire protection. Government 

spending in each of these areas can also affect local and regional 

economies, although federal decisions generally have the greatest 

economic impact.  Overall, federal, state, and local spending accounted for 

almost 18 percent of gross domestic product in 1997. 

Direct Assistance. Government also provides many kinds of help to 

businesses and individuals. It offers low-interest loans and technical 

assistance to small businesses, and it provides loans to help students 

attend college. Government-sponsored enterprises buy home mortgages 

from lenders and turn them into securities that can be bought and sold by 

investors, thereby encouraging home lending. Government also actively 

promotes exports and seeks to prevent foreign countries from maintaining 

trade barriers that restrict imports. 

      

Government supports individuals who cannot adequately care for 

themselves. Social Security, which is financed by a tax on employers and 

employees, accounts for the largest portion of Americans' retirement 

income. The Medicare program pays for many of the medical costs of the 

elderly. The Medicaid program finances medical care for low-income 

families. In many states, government maintains institutions for the mentally 

ill or people with severe disabilities. The federal government provides Food 
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Stamps to help poor families obtain food, and the federal and state 

governments jointly provide welfare grants to support low-income parents 

with children. 

Many of these programs, including Social Security, trace their roots to the 

"New Deal" programs of Franklin D. Roosevelt, who served as the U.S. 

president from 1933 to 1945. Key to Roosevelt's reforms was a belief that 

poverty usually resulted from social and economic causes rather than from 

failed personal morals. This view repudiated a common notion whose roots 

lay in New England Puritanism that success was a sign of God's favor and 

failure a sign of God's displeasure. This was an important transformation in 

American social and economic thought. Even today, however, echoes of 

the older notions are still heard in debates around certain issues, especially 

welfare.    

Many other assistance programs for individuals and families, including 

Medicare and Medicaid, were begun in the 1960s during President Lyndon 

Johnson's (1963-1969) "War on Poverty." Although some of these 

programs encountered financial difficulties in the 1990s and various 

reforms were proposed, they continued to have strong support from both of 

the United States' major political parties.  

Critics argued, however, that providing welfare to unemployed but healthy 

individuals actually created dependency rather than solving problems. 

Welfare reform legislation enacted in 1996 under President Bill Clinton 

(1993-2001) requires people to work as a condition of receiving benefits 

and imposes limits on how long individuals may receive payments.  
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Poverty and Inequality 

Americans are proud of their economic system, believing it provides 

opportunities for all citizens to have good lives. Their faith is clouded, 

however, by the fact that poverty persists in many parts of the country. 

Government anti-poverty efforts have made some progress but have not 

eradicated the problem. Similarly, periods of strong economic growth, 

which bring more jobs and higher wages, have helped reduce poverty but 

have not eliminated it entirely. 

      

The federal government defines a minimum amount of income necessary 

for basic maintenance of a family of four. This amount may fluctuate 

depending on the cost of living and the location of the family. In 1998, a 

family of four with an annual income below $16,530 was classified as living 

in poverty. 

The percentage of people living below the poverty level dropped from 22.4 

percent in 1959 to 11.4 percent in 1978. But since then, it has fluctuated in 

a fairly narrow range.  

In 1998, it stood at 12.7 percent.   What is more, the overall figures mask 

much more severe pockets of poverty. In 1998, more than one-quarter of 

all African-Americans (26.1 percent) lived in poverty; though distressingly 

high, that figure did represent an improvement from 1979, when 31 percent 

of blacks were officially classified as poor, and it was the lowest poverty 

rate for this group since 1959. Families headed by single mothers are 

particularly susceptible to poverty. Partly as a result of this phenomenon, 

almost one in five children (18.9 percent) was poor in 1997. The poverty 

rate was 36.7 percent among African-American children and 34.4 percent 

among Hispanic children. 
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Some analysts have suggested that the official poverty figures overstate 

the real extent of poverty because they measure only cash income and 

exclude certain government assistance programs such as Food Stamps, 

health care, and public housing. Others point out, however, that these 

programs rarely cover all of a family's food or health care needs and that 

there is a shortage of public housing. Some argue that even families whose 

incomes are above the official poverty level sometimes go hungry, 

skimping on food to pay for such things as housing, medical care, and 

clothing. Still others point out that people at the poverty level sometimes 

receive cash income from casual work and in the "underground" sector of 

the economy, which is never recorded in official statistics.  In any event, it 

is clear that the American economic system does not apportion its rewards 

equally.  

In 1997, the wealthiest one-fifth of American families accounted for 47.2 

percent of the nation's income, according to the Economic Policy Institute, 

a Washington-based research organization. In contrast, the poorest one-

fifth earned just 4.2 percent of the nation's income, and the poorest 40 

percent accounted for only 14 percent of income. 

      

Despite the generally prosperous American economy as a whole, concerns 

about inequality continued during the 1980s and 1990s. Increasing global 

competition threatened workers in many traditional manufacturing 

industries, and their wages stagnated. At the same time, the federal 

government edged away from tax policies that sought to favor lower-

income families at the expense of wealthier ones, and it also cut spending 

on a number of domestic social programs intended to help the 

disadvantaged. Meanwhile, wealthier families reaped most of the gains 

from the booming stock market. 
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In the late 1990s, there were some signs these patterns were reversing, as 

wage gains accelerated -- especially among poorer workers. But at the end 

of the decade, it was still too early to determine whether this trend would 

continue.  

The Growth of Government 

The U.S. government grew substantially beginning with President Franklin 

Roosevelt's administration. In an attempt to end the unemployment and 

misery of the Great Depression, Roosevelt's New Deal created many new 

federal programs and expanded many existing ones.  The rise of the United 

States as the world's major military power during and after World War II 

also fueled government growth. The growth of urban and suburban areas in 

the postwar period made expanded public services more feasible. Greater 

educational expectations led to significant government investment in 

schools and colleges. An enormous national push for scientific and 

technological advances spawned new agencies and substantial public 

investment in fields ranging from space exploration to health care in the 

1960s. And the growing dependence of many Americans on medical and 

retirement programs that had not existed at the dawn of the 20th century 

swelled federal spending further. While many Americans think that the 

federal government in Washington has ballooned out of hand, employment 

figures indicate that this has not been the case. There has been significant 

growth in government employment, but most of this has been at the state 

and local levels. From 1960 to 1990, the number of state and local 

government employees increased from 6.4 million to 15.2 million, while the 

number of civilian federal employees rose only slightly, from 2.4 million to 3 

million. Cutbacks at the federal level saw the federal labor force drop to 2.7 

million by 1998, but employment by state and local governments more than 

offset that decline, reaching almost 16 million in 1998. (The number of 

Americans in the military declined from almost 3.6 million in 1968, when the 

United States was embroiled in the war in Vietnam, to 1.4 million in 1998.) 
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The rising costs of taxes to pay for expanded government services, as well 

as the general American distaste for "big government" and increasingly 

powerful public employee unions, led many policy-makers in the 1970s, 

1980s, and 1990s to question whether government is the most efficient 

provider of needed services. A new word -- "privatization" -- was coined 

and quickly gained acceptance worldwide to describe the practice of 

turning certain government functions over to the private sector. 

     

In the United States, privatization has occurred primarily at the municipal 

and regional levels. Major U.S. cities such as New York, Los Angeles, 

Philadelphia, Dallas, and Phoenix began to employ private companies or 

nonprofit organizations to perform a wide variety of activities previously 

performed by the municipalities themselves, ranging from streetlight repair 

to solid-waste disposal and from data processing to management of 

prisons. Some federal agencies, meanwhile, sought to operate more like 

private enterprises; the United States Postal Service, for instance, largely 

supports itself from its own revenues rather than relying on general tax 

dollars. 

Privatization of public services remains controversial, however. While 

advocates insist that it reduces costs and increases productivity, others 

argue the opposite, noting that private contractors need to make a profit 

and asserting that they are not necessarily being more productive. Public 

sector unions, not surprisingly, adamantly oppose most privatization 

proposals.  

They contend that private contractors in some cases have submitted very 

low bids in order to win contracts, but later raised prices substantially. 

Advocates counter that privatization can be effective if it introduces 

competition. Sometimes the spur of threatened privatization may even 

encourage local government workers to become more efficient. 
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As debates over regulation, government spending, and welfare reform all 

demonstrate, the proper role of government in the nation's economy 

remains a hot topic for debate more than 200 years after the United States 

became an independent nation.  

The USA Stock Markets and Financial Markets 

 
Capital markets in the United States provide the lifeblood of capitalism. 
Companies turn to them to raise funds needed to finance the building of 
factories, office buildings, airplanes, trains, ships, telephone lines, and 
other assets; to conduct research and development; and to support a host 
of other essential corporate activities. Much of the money comes from such 
major institutions as pension funds, insurance companies, banks, 
foundations, and colleges and universities. Increasingly, it comes from 
individuals as well. As noted in chapter 3, more than 40 percent of U.S. 
families owned common stock in the mid-1990s. Very few investors would 
be willing to buy shares in a company unless they knew they could sell 
them later if they needed the funds for some other purpose. The stock 
market and other capital markets allow investors to buy and sell stocks 
continuously. The markets play several other roles in the American 
economy as well. They are a source of income for investors. When stocks 
or other financial assets rise in value, investors become wealthier; often 
they spend some of this additional wealth, bolstering sales and promoting 
economic growth. Moreover, because investors buy and sell shares daily 
on the basis of their expectations for how profitable companies will be in 
the future, stock prices provide instant feedback to corporate executives 
about how investors judge their performance. 
      
Stock values reflect investor reactions to government policy as well. If the 
government adopts policies that investors believe will hurt the economy 
and company profits, the market declines; if investors believe policies will 
help the economy, the market rises. Critics have sometimes suggested that 
American investors focus too much on short-term profits; often, these 
analysts say, companies or policy-makers are discouraged from taking 
steps that will prove beneficial in the long run because they may require 
short-term adjustments that will depress stock prices. Because the market 
reflects the sum of millions of decisions by millions of investors, there is no 
good way to test this theory. 
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In any event, Americans pride themselves on the efficiency of their stock 
market and other capital markets, which enable vast numbers of sellers 
and buyers to engage in millions of transactions each day. These markets 
owe their success in part to computers, but they also depend on tradition 
and trust -- the trust of one broker for another, and the trust of both in the 
good faith of the customers they represent to deliver securities after a sale 
or to pay for purchases. Occasionally, this trust is abused. But during the 
last half century, the federal government has played an increasingly 
important role in ensuring honest and equitable dealing. As a result, 
markets have thrived as continuing sources of investment funds that keep 
the economy growing and as devices for letting many Americans share in 
the nation's wealth. 
     
 
To work effectively, markets require the free flow of information. Without it, 
investors cannot keep abreast of developments or gauge, to the best of 
their ability, the true value of stocks. Numerous sources of information 
enable investors to follow the fortunes of the market daily, hourly, or even 
minute-by-minute. Companies are required by law to issue quarterly 
earnings reports, more elaborate annual reports, and proxy statments to tell 
stockholders how they are doing. In addition, investors can read the market 
pages of daily newspapers to find out the price at which particular stocks 
were traded during the previous trading session. They can review a variety 
of indexes that measure the overall pace of market activity; the most 
notable of these is the Dow Jones Industrial Average (DJIA), which tracks 
30 prominent stocks. Investors also can turn to magazines and newsletters 
devoted to analyzing particular stocks and markets. Certain cable television 
programs provide a constant flow of news about movements in stock 
prices. And now, investors can use the Internet to get up-to-the-minute 
information about individual stocks and even to arrange stock transactions.  
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The Stock Exchanges  

There are thousands of stocks, but shares of the largest, best-known, and 

most actively traded corporations generally are listed on the New York 

Stock Exchange (NYSE). The exchange dates its origin back to 1792, 

when a group of stockbrokers gathered under a buttonwood tree on Wall 

Street in New York City to make some rules to govern stock buying and 

selling. By the late 1990s, the NYSE listed some 3,600 different stocks. 

The exchange has 1,366 members, or "seats," which are bought by 

brokerage houses at hefty prices and are used for buying and selling 

stocks for the public. Information travels electronically between brokerage 

offices and the exchange, which requires 200 miles (320 kilometers) of 

fiber-optic cable and 8,000 phone connections to handle quotes and 

orders. 

How are stocks traded? Suppose a schoolteacher in California wants to 

take an ocean cruise. To finance the trip, she decides to sell 100 shares of 

stock she owns in General Motors Corporation. So she calls her broker and 

directs him to sell the shares at the best price he can get. At the same time, 

an engineer in Florida decides to use some of his savings to buy 100 GM 

shares, so he calls his broker and places a "buy" order for 100 shares at 

the market price. Both brokers wire their orders to the NYSE, where their 

representatives negotiate the transaction. All this can occur in less than a 

minute. In the end, the schoolteacher gets her cash and the engineer gets 

his stock, and both pay their brokers a commission. The transaction, like all 

others handled on the exchange, is carried out in public, and the results are 

sent electronically to every brokerage office in the nation.   Stock exchange 

"specialists" play a crucial role in the process, helping to keep an orderly 

market by deftly matching buy and sell orders. If necessary, specialists buy 

or sell stock themselves when there is a paucity of either buyers or 

sellers. The smaller American Stock Exchange, which lists numerous 

energy industry-related stocks, operates in much the same way and is 
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located in the same Wall Street area as the New York exchange. Other 

large U.S. cities host smaller, regional stock exchanges.   

The largest number of different stocks and bonds traded are traded on the 

National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation system, or 

Nasdaq. This so-called over-the-counter exchange, which handles trading 

in about 5,240 stocks, is not located in any one place; rather, it is an 

electronic communications network of stock and bond dealer . The National 

Association of Securities Dealers, which oversees the over-the-counter 

market, has the power to expel companies or dealers that it determines are 

dishonest or insolvent. Because many of the stocks traded in this market 

are from smaller and less stable companies, the Nasdaq is considered a 

riskier market than either of the major stock exchanges. But it offers many 

opportunities for investors. By the 1990s, many of the fastest growing high-

technology stocks were traded on the Nasdaq.  

A Nation of Investors 

An unprecedented boom in the stock market, combined with the ease of 

investing in stocks, led to a sharp increase in public participation in 

securities markets during the 1990s. The annual trading volume on the 

New York Stock Exchange, or "Big Board," soared from 11,400 million 

shares in 1980 to 169,000 million shares in 1998. Between 1989 and 1995, 

the portion of all U.S. households owning stocks, directly or through 

intermediaries like pension funds, rose from 31 percent to 41 percent. 

Public participation in the market has been greatly facilitated by mutual 

funds, which collect money from individuals and invest it on their behalf in 

varied portfolios of stocks. Mutual funds enable small investors, who may 

not feel qualified or have the time to choose among thousands of individual 

stocks, to have their money invested by professionals. And because mutual 

funds hold diversified groups of stocks, they shelter investors somewhat 

from the sharp swings that can occur in the value of individual shares. 
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There are dozens of kinds of mutual funds, each designed to meet the 

needs and preferences of different kinds of investors. Some funds seek to 

realize current income, while others aim for long-term capital appreciation. 

Some invest conservatively, while others take bigger chances in hopes of 

realizing greater gains. Some deal only with stocks of specific industries or 

stocks of foreign companies, and others pursue varying market strategies. 

Overall, the number of funds jumped from 524 in 1980 to 7,300 by late 

1998. 

Attracted by healthy returns and the wide array of choices, Americans 

invested substantial sums in mutual funds during the 1980s and 1990s. At 

the end of the 1990s, they held $5.4 trillion in mutual funds, and the portion 

of U.S. households holding mutual fund shares had increased to 37 percent 

in 1997 from 6 percent in 1979.  

How Stock Prices Are Determined 

Stock prices are set by a combination of factors that no analyst can 

consistently understand or predict. In general, economists say, they reflect 

the long-term earnings potential of companies. Investors are attracted to 

stocks of companies they expect will earn substantial profits in the future; 

because many people wish to buy stocks of such companies, prices of 

these stocks tend to rise. On the other hand, investors are reluctant to 

purchase stocks of companies that face bleak earnings prospects; because 

fewer people wish to buy and more wish to sell these stocks, prices fall. 

When deciding whether to purchase or sell stocks, investors consider the 

general business climate and outlook, the financial condition and prospects 

of the individual companies in which they are considering investing, and 

whether stock prices relative to earnings already are above or below 

traditional norms. Interest rate trends also influence stock prices 

significantly. Rising interest rates tend to depress stock prices -- partly 

because they can foreshadow a general slowdown in economic activity and 

corporate profits, and partly because they lure investors out of the stock 
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market and into new issues of interest-bearing investments. Falling rates, 

conversely, often lead to higher stock prices, both because they suggest 

easier borrowing and faster growth, and because they make new interest-

paying investments less attractive to investors. 

  

A number of other factors complicate matters, however. For one thing, 

investors generally buy stocks according to their expectations about the 

unpredictable future, not according to current earnings. Expectations can 

be influenced by a variety of factors, many of them not necessarily rational 

or justified. As a result, the short-term connection between prices and 

earnings can be tenuous. 

      

Momentum also can distort stock prices. Rising prices typically woo more 

buyers into the market, and the increased demand, in turn, drives prices 

higher still. Speculators often add to this upward pressure by purchasing 

shares in the expectation they will be able to sell them later to other buyers 

at even higher prices. 

Analysts describe a continuous rise in stock prices as a "bull" market. 

When speculative fever can no longer be sustained, prices start to fall. If 

enough investors become worried about falling prices, they may rush to sell 

their shares, adding to downward momentum. This is called a "bear" 

market.  

Market Strategies 

During most of the 20th century, investors could earn more by investing in 

stocks than in other types of financial investments -- provided they were 

willing to hold stocks for the long term. 
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In the short term, stock prices can be quite volatile, and impatient investors 

who sell during periods of market decline easily can suffer losses. Peter 

Lynch, a renowned former manager of one of America's largest stock 

mutual funds, noted in 1998, for instance, that U.S. stocks had lost value in 

20 of the previous 72 years.  

According to Lynch, investors had to wait 15 years after the stock market 

crash of 1929 to see their holdings regain their lost value. But people who 

held their stock 20 years or more never lost money. In an analysis prepared 

for the U.S. Congress, the federal government's General Accounting Office 

said that in the worst 20-year period since 1926, stock prices increased 3 

percent. In the best two decades, they rose 17 percent. By contrast, 20-

year bond returns, a common investment alternative to stocks, ranged 

between 1 percent and 10 percent. 

Economists conclude from analyses like these that small investors fare 

best if they can put their money into a diversified portfolio of stocks and 

hold them for the long term. But some investors are willing to take risks in 

hopes of realizing bigger gains in the short term. And they have devised a 

number of strategies for doing this. 

Buying on Margin. Americans buy many things on credit, and stocks are 

no exception. Investors who qualify can buy "on margin," making a stock 

purchase by paying 50 percent down and getting a loan from their brokers 

for the remainder. If the price of stock bought on margin rises, these 

investors can sell the stock, repay their brokers the borrowed amount plus 

interest and commissions, and still make a profit.  If the price goes down, 

however, brokers issue "margin calls," forcing the investors to pay 

additional money into their accounts so that their loans still equal no more 

than half of the value of the stock. If an owner cannot produce cash, the 

broker can sell some of the stock -- at the investor's loss -- to cover the 

debt. 
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Buying stock on margin is one kind of leveraged trading. It gives 

speculators -- traders willing to gamble on high-risk situations -- a chance 

to buy more shares. If their investment decisions are correct, speculators 

can make a greater profit, but if they are misjudge the market, they can 

suffer bigger losses.The Federal Reserve Board (frequently called"the 

Fed"), the U.S. government's central bank, sets the minimum margin 

requirements specifying how much cash investors must put down when 

they buy stock. The Fed can vary margins.  If it wishes to stimulate the 

market, it can set low margins. If it sees a need to curb speculative 

enthusiasm, it sets high margins. In some years, the Fed has required a full 

100 percent payment, but for much of the time during the last decades of 

the 20th century, it left the margin rate at 50 percent. 

Selling Short. Another group of speculators are known as "short sellers." 

They expect the price of a particular stock to fall, so they sell shares 

borrowed from their broker, hoping to profit by replacing the stocks later 

with shares purchased on the open market at a lower price. While this 

approach offers an opportunity for gains in a bear market, it is one of the 

riskiest ways to trade stocks. If a short seller guesses wrong, the price of 

stock he or she has sold short may rise sharply, hitting the investor with 

large losses. 

Options. Another way to leverage a relatively small outlay of cash is to buy 

"call" options to purchase a particular stock later at close to its current 

price. If the market price rises, the trader can exercise the option, making a 

big profit by then selling the shares at the higher market price (alternatively, 

the trader can sell the option itself, which will have risen in value as the 

price of the underlying stock has gone up). An option to sell stock, called a 

"put" option, works in the opposite direction, committing the trader to sell a 

particular stock later at close to its current price. Much like short selling, put 

options enable traders to profit from a declining market. But investors also 

can lose a lot of money if stock prices do not move as they hope.  
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Commodities and Other Futures 

Commodity "futures" are contracts to buy or sell certain certain goods at set 

prices at a predetermined time in the future. Futures traditionally have been 

linked to commodities such as wheat, livestock, copper, and gold, but in 

recent years growing amounts of futures also have been tied to foreign 

currencies or other financial assets as well. They are traded on about a 

dozen commodity exchanges in the United States, the most prominent of 

which include the Chicago Board of Trade, the Chicago Mercantile 

Exchange, and several exchanges in New York City. Chicago is the historic 

center of America's agriculture-based industries. Overall, futures activity 

rose to 417 million contracts in 1997, from 261 million in 1991. 

Commodities traders fall into two broad categories: hedgers and 

speculators. Hedgers are business firms, farmers, or individuals that enter 

into commodity contracts to be assured access to a commodity, or the 

ability to sell it, at a guaranteed price. They use futures to protect 

themselves against unanticipated fluctuations in the commodity's price. 

Thousands of individuals, willing to absorb that risk, trade in commodity 

futures as speculators. They are lured to commodity trading by the 

prospect of making huge profits on small margins (futures contracts, like 

many stocks, are traded on margin, typically as low as 10 to 20 percent on 

the value of the contract). 

Speculating in commodity futures is not for people who are averse to risk. 

Unforeseen forces like weather can affect supply and demand, and send 

commodity prices up or down very rapidly, creating great profits or losses.  

While professional traders who are well versed in the futures market are 

most likely to gain in futures trading, it is estimated that as many as 90 

percent of small futures traders lose money in this volatile market. 
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Commodity futures are a form of "derivative" -- complex instruments for 

financial speculation linked to underlying assets. Derivatives proliferated in 

the 1990s to cover a wide range of assets, including mortgages and 

interest rates. This growing trade caught the attention of regulators and 

members of Congress after some banks, securities firms, and wealthy 

individuals suffered big losses on financially distressed, highly leveraged 

funds that bought derivatives, and in some cases avoided regulatory 

scrutiny by registering outside the United States.  

 

The Regulators 

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), which was created in 

1934, is the principal regulator of securities markets in the United States. 

Before 1929, individual states regulated securities activities. But the stock 

market crash of 1929, which triggered the Great Depression, showed that 

arrangement to be inadequate. The Securities Act of 1933 and the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 consequently gave the federal 

government a preeminent role in protecting small investors from fraud and 

making it easier for them to understand companies' financial reports. 

      

 

The commission enforces a web of rules to achieve that goal. Companies 

issuing stocks, bonds, and other securities must file detailed financial 

registration statements, which are made available to the public. The SEC 

determines whether these disclosures are full and fair so that investors can 

make well-informed and realistic evaluations of various securities. The SEC 

also oversees trading in stocks and administers rules designed to prevent 

price manipulation; to that end, brokers and dealers in the over-the-counter 

market and the stock exchanges must register with the SEC. In addition, 

the commission requires companies to tell the public when their own 
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officers buy or sell shares of their stock; the commission believes that these 

"insiders" possess intimate information about their companies and that their 

trades can indicate to other investors their degree of confidence in their 

companies' future.     

The agency also seeks to prevent insiders from trading in stock based on 

information that has not yet become public. In the late 1980s, the SEC 

began to focus not just on officers and directors but on insider trades by 

lower-level employees or even outsiders like lawyers who may have access 

to important information about a company before it becomes public. 

      

The SEC has five commissioners who are appointed by the president. No 

more than three can be members of the same political party; the five-year 

term of one of the commissioners expires each year. 

      

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission oversees the futures 

markets. It is particularly zealous in cracking down on many over-the-

counter futures transactions, usually confining approved trading to the 

exchanges. But in general, it is considered a more gentle regulator than the 

SEC. In 1996, for example, it approved a record 92 new kinds of futures 

and farm commodity options contracts. From time to time, an especially 

aggressive SEC chairman asserts a vigorous role for that commission in 

regulating futures business.  

"Black Monday" and the Long Bull Market 

On Monday, October 19, 1987, the value of stocks plummeted on markets 

around the world. The Dow Jones Industrial Average fell 22 percent to 

close at 1738.42, the largest one-day decline since 1914, eclipsing even 

the famous October 1929 market crash. 
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The Brady Commission (a presidential commission set up to investigate the 

fall) the SEC, and others blamed various factors for the 1987 debacle -- 

including a negative turn in investor psychology, investors' concerns about 

the federal government budget deficit and foreign trade deficit, a failure of 

specialists on the New York Stock Exchange to discharge their duty as 

buyers of last resort, and "program trading" in which computers are 

programmed to launch buying or selling of large volumes of stock when 

certain market triggers occur. The stock exchange subsequently initiated 

safeguards. It said it would restrict program trading whenever the Dow 

Jones Industrial Average rose or fell 50 points in a single day, and it 

created a "circuit-breaker" mechanism to halt all trading temporarily any 

time the DJIA dropped 250 points. Those emergency mechanisms were 

later substantially adjusted to reflect the large rise in the DJIA level. 

In late 1998, one change required program-trading curbs whenever the 

DJIA rose or fell 2 percent in one day from a certain average recent close; 

in late 1999, this formula meant that program trading would be halted by a 

market change of about 210 points. The new rules set also a higher 

threshold for halting all trading; during the fourth quarter of 1999, that would 

occur if there was at least a 1,050-point DJIA drop. 

      

Those reforms may have helped restore confidence, but a strong 

performance by the economy may have been even more important. Unlike 

its performance in 1929, the Federal Reserve made it clear it would ease 

credit conditions to ensure that investors could meet their margin calls and 

could continue operating.  
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Partly as a result, the crash of 1987 was quickly erased as the market 

surged to new highs. In the early 1990s, the Dow Jones Industrial Average 

topped 3,000, and in 1999 it topped the 11,000 mark. What's more, the 

volume of trading rose enormously. While trading of 5 million shares was 

considered a hectic day on the New York Stock Exchange in the 1960s, 

more than a thousand-million shares were exchanged on some days in 

1997 and 1998. On the Nasdaq, such share days were routine by 1998. 

Much of the increased activity was generated by so-called day traders who 

would typically buy and sell the same stock several times in one day, 

hoping to make quick profits on short-term swings. These traders were 

among the growing legions of persons using the Internet to do their trading. 

In early 1999, 13 percent of all stock trades by individuals and 25 percent 

of individual transactions in securities of all kinds were occurring over the 

Internet. 

      

With the greater volume came greater volatility. Swings of more than 100 

points a day occurred with increasing frequency, and the circuit-breaker 

mechanism was triggered on October 27, 1997, when the Dow Jones 

Industrial Average fell 554.26 points. Another big fall -- 512.61 points -- 

occurred on August 31, 1998. But by then, the market had climbed so high 

that the declines amounted to only about 7 percent of the overall value of 

stocks, and investors stayed in the market, which quickly rebounded.  

Since 1987, the market has more volitility due to various forces including: 

Global investors, internet access, day trading, institutional trading, hedge 

funds, sovereign countries investing and electronic markets.  Investors from 

inside and  outside of the USA buy stocks, mutual funds, ETFs, annuities, 

and other investments which hold stocks.  Thus, electronic markets and 

global investors and move markets in a big way in just one day. 
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Economic Terms and Glossary  
 

Agribusiness: A term that reflects the large, corporate nature of many 
farm enterprises in the modern U.S. economy.  

American Stock Exchange: One of the key stock exchanges in the United 

States, it consists mainly of stocks and bonds of companies that are small 

to medium-sized, compared with the shares of large corporations traded on 

the New York Stock Exchange.  

Antitrust law: A policy or action that seeks to curtail monopolistic powers 

within a market.  

Asset: A possession of value, usually measured in terms of money.  

Balance of payments: An accounting statement of the money value of 

international transactions between one nation and the rest of the world over 

a specific period of time. The statement shows the sum of transactions of 

individuals, businesses, and government agencies located in one nation, 

against those of all other nations.  

Balance of trade: That part of a nation's balance of payments dealing with 

imports and exports -- that is, trade in goods and services -- over a given 

period. If exports of goods exceed imports, the trade balance is said to be 

"favorable"; if imports exceed exports, the trade balance is said to be 

"unfavorable."  

Bear market: A market in which, in a time of falling prices, shareholders 

may rush to sell their stock shares, adding to the downward momentum.  

Bond: A certificate reflecting a firm's promise to pay the holder a periodic 

interest payment until the date of maturity and a fixed sum of money on the 

designated maturing date.  
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Budget deficit: The amount each year by which government spending is 

greater than government income.  

Budget surplus: The amount each year by which government income 

exceeds government spending.  

Bull market: A market in which there is a continuous rise in stock prices.  

Capital: The physical equipment (buildings, equipment, human skills) used 

in the production of goods and services. Also used to refer to corporate 

equity, debt securities, and cash.  

Capitalism: An economic system in which the means of production are 

privately owned and controlled and which is characterized by competition 

and the profit motive.  

Capital market: The market in which corporate equity and longer-term 

debt securities (those maturing in more than one year) are issued and 

traded.  

Central bank: A country's principal monetary authority, responsible for 

such key functions as issuing currency and regulating the supply of credit in 

the economy.  

Commercial bank: A bank that offers a broad range of deposit accounts, 

including checking, savings, and time deposits, and extends loans to 

individuals and businesses -- in contrast to investment banking firms such 

as brokerage firms, which generally are involved in arranging for the sale of 

corporate or municipal securities.  

Common market: A group of nations that have eliminated tariffs and 

sometimes other barriers that impede trade with each other while 

maintaining a common external tariff on goods imported from outside the 

union.  
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Common stock: A share in the ownership of a corporation.  

Consumer price index: A measure of the U.S. cost of living as tabulated 

by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics based on the actual retail prices of a 

variety of consumer goods and services at a given time and compared to a 

base period that is changed from time to time.  

Consumption tax: A tax on expenditures, rather than on earnings.  

Deficiency payment: A government payment to compensate farmers for 

all or part of the difference between producer prices actually paid for a 

specific commodity and higher guaranteed target prices.  

Demand: The total quantity of goods and services consumers are willing 

and able to buy at all possible prices during some time period.  

Depression: A severe decline in general economic activity in terms of 

magnitude and/or length.  

Deposit insurance: U.S. government backing of bank deposits up to a 

certain amount -- currently, $100,000.  

Deregulation: Lifting of government controls over an industry.  

Discount rate: The interest rate paid by commercial banks to borrow funds 

from Federal Reserve Banks.  

Dividend: Money earned on stock holdings; usually, it represents a share 

of profits paid in proportion to the share of ownership.  

Dow Jones Industrial Average: A stock price index, based on 30 

prominent stocks, that is a commonly used indicator of general trends in 

the prices of stocks and bonds in the United States.  
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Dumping: Under U.S. law, sales or merchandise exported to the United 

States at "less than fair market value," when such sales materially injure or 

threaten material injury to producers of like merchandise in the United 

States.  

Economic growth: An increase in a nation's capacity to produce goods 

and services.  

Electronic commerce: Business conducted via the World Wide Web.  

Exchange rate: The rate, or price, at which one country's currency is 

exchanged for the currency of another country.  

Exports: Goods and services that are produced domestically and sold to 

buyers in another country.  

Export subsidy: A lump sum given by the government for the purpose of 

promoting an enterprise considered beneficial to the public welfare.  

Fast track: Procedures enacted by the U.S. Congress under which it votes 

within a fixed period on legislation submitted by the president to approve 

and implement U.S. international trade agreements.  

Federal Reserve Bank: One of the 12 operating arms of the Federal 

Reserve System, located throughout the United States, that together with 

their 25 branches carry out various functions of the U.S. central bank 

system.  

Federal Reserve System: The principal monetary authority (central bank) 

of the United States, which issues currency and regulates the supply of 

credit in the economy. It is made up of a seven-member Board of 

Governors in Washington, D.C., 12 regional Federal Reserve Banks, and 

their 25 branches.  
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Fiscal policy: The federal government's decisions about the amount of 

money it spends and collects in taxes to achieve full employment and non-

inflationary economy.  

Fixed exchange rate system: A system in which exchange rates between 

currencies are set at a predetermined level and do not move in response to 

changes in supply and demand.  

Floating exchange rate system: A flexible system in which the exchange 

rate is determined by market forces of supply and demand, without 

intervention.  

Food for Peace: A program that provides for the disposition of U.S. farm 

products outside the United States.  

Free enterprise system: An economic system characterized by private 

ownership of property and productive resources, the profit motive to 

stimulate production, competition to ensure efficiency, and the forces of 

supply and demand to direct the production and distribution of goods and 

services.  

Free trade: The absence of tariffs and regulations designed to curtail or 

prevent trade among nations.  

Fringe benefit: An indirect, non-cash benefit provided to employees by 

employers in addition to regular wage or salary compensation, such as 

health insurance, life insurance, profit-sharing, and the like.  

Futures: Contracts that require delivery of a commodity of specified quality 

and quantity, at a specified price, on a specified future date.  

Gold standard: A monetary system in which currencies are defined in 

terms of a given weight of gold.  
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Gross domestic product: The total value of a nation's output, income, or 

expenditure produced within its physical boundaries.  

Human capital: The health, strength, education, training, and skills that 

people bring to their jobs.  

Imports: Goods or service that are produced in another country and sold 

domestically.  

Income tax: An assessment levied by government on the net income of 

individuals and businesses.  

Industrial Revolution: The emergence of the factory system of production, 

in which workers were brought together in one plant and supplied with 

tools, machines, and materials with which they worked in return for wages. 

The Industrial Revolution was spearheaded by rapid changes in the 

manufacture of textiles, particularly in England about 1770 and 1830. More 

broadly, the term applies to continuing structural economic change in the 

world economy.  

Inflation: A rate of increase in the general price level of all goods and 

services. (This should not be confused with increases in the prices of 

specific goods relative to the prices of other goods.)  

Intellectual property: Ownership, as evidenced by patents, trademarks, 

and copyrights, conferring the right to possess, use, or dispose of products 

created by human ingenuity.  

Investment: The purchase of a security, such as a stock or bond.  

Labor force: As measured in the United States, the total number of people 

employed or looking for work.  
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Laissez-faire: French phrase meaning "leave alone." In economics and 

politics, a doctrine that the economic system functions best when there is 

no interference by government.  

Managed float regime: An exchange rate system in which rates for most 

currencies float, but central banks still intervene to prevent sharp changes.  

Market: A setting in which buyers and sellers establish prices for identical 

or very similar products, and exchange goods or services.  

Market economy: The national economy of a country that relies on market 

forces to determine levels of production, consumption, investment, and 

savings without government intervention.  

Mixed economy: An economic system in which both the government and 

private enterprise play important roles with regard to production, 

consumption, investment, and savings.  

Monetary policy: Federal Reserve System actions to influence the 

availability and cost of money and credit as a means of helping to promote 

high employment, economic growth, price stability, and a sustainable 

pattern of international transactions.  

Money supply: The amount of money (coins, paper currency, and 

checking accounts) that is in circulation in the economy.  

Monopoly: The sole seller of a good or service in a market.  

Mutual fund: An investment company that continually offers new shares 

and buys existing shares back on demand and uses its capital to invest in 

diversified securities of other companies. Money is collected from 

individuals and invested on their behalf in varied portfolios of stocks.  

National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation 

system (Nasdaq): An automated information network that provides 
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brokers and dealers with price quotations on the approximately 5,000 most 

active securities traded over the counter.  

New Deal: U.S. economic reform programs of the 1930s established to 

help lift the United States out of the Great Depression.  

New York Stock Exchange: The world's largest exchange for trading 

stocks and bonds.  

Nontariff barrier: Government measures, such as import monitoring 

systems and variable levies, other than tariffs that restrict imports or that 

have the potential for restricting international trade.  

Open trading system: A trading system in which countries allow fair and 

nondiscriminatory access to each other's markets.  

Over-the-counter: Figurative term for the means of trading securities that 

are not listed on an organized stock exchange such as the New York Stock 

Exchange. Over-the-counter trading is done by broker-dealers who 

communicate by telephone and computer networks.  

Panic: A series of unexpected cash withdrawals from a bank caused by a 

sudden decline in depositor confidence or fear that the bank will be closed 

by the chartering agency, i.e. many depositors withdraw cash almost 

simultaneously. Since the cash reserve a bank keeps on hand is only a 

small fraction of its deposits, a large number of withdrawals in a short 

period of time can deplete available cash and force the bank to close and 

possibly go out of business.  

Price discrimination: Actions that give certain buyers advantages over 

others.  
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Price fixing: Actions, generally by a several large corporations that 

dominate in a single market, to escape market discipline by setting prices 

for goods or services at an agreed-on level.  

Price supports: Federal assistance provided to farmers to help them deal 

with such unfavorable factors as bad weather and overproduction.  

Privatization: The act of turning previously government-provided services 

over to private sector enterprises.  

Productivity: The ratio of output (goods and services) produced per unit of 

input (productive resources) over some period of time.  

Protectionism: The deliberate use or encouragement of restrictions on 

imports to enable relatively inefficient domestic producers to compete 

successfully with foreign producers.  

Recession: A significant decline in general economic activity extending 

over a period of time.  

Regulation: The formulation and issuance by authorized agencies of 

specific rules or regulations, under governing law, for the conduct and 

structure of a certain industry or activity.  

Revenue: Payments received by businesses from selling goods and 

services.  

Securities: Paper certificates (definitive securities) or electronic records 

(book-entry securities) evidencing ownership of equity (stocks) or debt 

obligations (bonds).  
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Securities and Exchange Commission: An independent, non-partisan, 

quasi-judicial regulatory agency with responsibility for administering the 

federal securities laws. The purpose of these laws is to protect investors 

and to ensure that they have access to disclosure of all material information 

concerning publicly traded securities. The commission also regulates firms 

engaged in the purchase or sale of securities, people who provide 

investment advice, and investment companies.  

Services: Economic activities -- such as transportation, banking, 

insurance, tourism, telecommunications, advertising, entertainment, data 

processing, and consulting -- that normally are consumed as they are 

produced, as contrasted with economic goods, which are more tangible.  

Socialism: An economic system in which the basic means of production 

are primarily owned and controlled collectively, usually by government 

under some system of central planning.  

Social regulation: Government-imposed restrictions designed to 

discourage or prohibit harmful corporate behavior (such as polluting the 

environment or putting workers in dangerous work situations) or to 

encourage behavior deemed socially desirable.  

Social Security: A U.S. government pension program that provides 

benefits to retirees based on their own and their employers' contributions to 

the program while they were working.  

Standard of living: A minimum of necessities, comforts, or luxuries 

considered essential to maintaining a person or group in customary or 

proper status or circumstances.  

Stagflation: An economic condition of both continuing inflation and 

stagnant business activity.  

Stock: Ownership shares in the assets of a corporation.  
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Stock exchange: An organized market for the buying and selling of stocks 

and bonds.  

Subsidy: An economic benefit, direct or indirect, granted by a government 

to domestic producers of goods or services, often to strengthen their 

competitive position against foreign companies.  

Supply: A schedule of how much producers are willing and able to sell at 

all possible prices during some time period.  

Tariff: A duty levied on goods transported from one customs area to 

another either for protective or revenue purposes.  

Trade deficit: The amount by which a country's merchandise exports 

exceed its merchandise imports.  

Trade surplus: The amount by which a country's merchandise exports 

exceed its imports.  

Venture capital: Investment in a new, generally possibly risky, enterprise.  

This glossary is based principally on-line glossaries developed by the 

Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, the Federal Reserve Bank of 

Minneapolis, the Virtual Trade Mission, and the Wisconsin Economic 

Education Council.  
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Financial Glossary 

Acceleration clause A stipulation in a loan contract stating that the entire 
balance becomes due immediately if other contract conditions are not met. 
 
Accrued interest Interest that has been earned but not received or 
recorded. 
 
Amortization Liquidation of a debt by making periodic payments over a set 
period, at the end of which the balance is zero. 
 
Annuity A series of equal payments made at regular intervals, with interest 
compounded at a specified rate. 
 
Appreciation An increase in the value or price. 
 
Asset Anything an individual or business owns that has commercial or 
exchange value. 
 
Balance The amount owed on a loan or credit card or the amount in a 
savings or investment account. 
 
Balance sheet A financial statement showing a "snapshot" of the assets, 
liabilities and net worth of an individual or organization on a given date. 
 
Bankruptcy A legal proceeding declaring that an individual is unable to 
pay debts. Chapters 7 and 13 of the federal bankruptcy code govern 
personal bankruptcy. 
 
Budget An itemized summary of probable income and expenses for a 
given period. 
 
Capital Cash or other resources accumulated and available for use in 
producing wealth. 
 
Cash flow Money coming to an individual or business less money being 
paid out during a given period. 
 
Certificate of deposit (CD) A type of savings account that earns a fixed 
interest rate over a specified period of time. 
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Collateral Assets pledged to secure a loan. 
 
Common stock A kind of ownership in a corporation that entitles the 
investor to share any profits remaining after all other obligations have been 
met. 
 
Compound interest Interest computed on the sum of the original principal 
and accrued interest. 
 
Credit The granting of money or something else of value in exchange for a 
promise of future repayment. 
 
Credit bureau An organization that compiles credit information on 
individuals and businesses and makes it available to businesses for a fee. 
 
Credit card A plastic card from a financial services company that allows 
cardholders to buy goods and services on credit. 
 
Credit rating An estimate of the amount of credit that can be extended to 
an individual or business without undue risk. 
 
Credit report A loan and bill payment history, kept by a credit bureau and 
used by financial institutions and other potential creditors to determine the 
likelihood a future debt will be repaid. 
 
Credit union A cooperative organization that provides financial services to 
its members. 

Creditor A person, financial institution or other business that lends money. 
 
Debt Money owed; also known as a liability. 
 
Debt service Periodic payment of the principal and interest on a loan. 
 
Debit Charges to an account. 
 
Debit card A plastic card similar to a credit card that allows money to be 
withdrawn or the cost of purchases paid directly from the holder's bank 
account. 
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Delinquency The failure to make timely payments under a loan or other 
credit agreement. 
 
Diversification The distribution of investments among several companies 
to lessen the risk of loss. 
 
Dividend A share of profits paid to a stockholder. 
 
Equity Ownership interest in an asset after liabilities are deducted. 
 
Face value The principal amount of a bond, which will be paid off at 
maturity. 
 
Fair market value The price a willing buyer will pay and a willing seller will 
accept for real or personal property. 
 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corp. (FDIC) A federally chartered 
corporation that insures bank deposits up to $100,000. 
 
Finance company A company that makes loans to individuals. 
 
Financing fee The fee a lender charges to originate a loan. The fee is 
based on a percentage of the loan amount; one point is equivalent to 1 
percent. 
 
Foreclosure The legal process used to force the payment of debt secured 
by collateral whereby the property is sold to satisfy the debt. 
 
401(k) plan A tax-deferred investment and savings plan that serves as a 
personal retirement fund for employees. 
 
General obligation bond A type of municipal bond backed by the full faith 
and credit of the governmental unit that issues it. 
 
Individual development account (IDA) A type of savings account, offered 
in some communities, for people whose income is below a certain level. 
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Individual retirement account (IRA) A retirement plan, offered by banks, 
brokerage firms and insurance companies, to which individuals can 
contribute each year on a tax-deferred basis. 
 
Industrial bond A financial instrument issued by businesses primarily to 
fund expansion or acquisitions. 
 
Interest A fee for the use of money over time. It is an expense to the 
borrower and revenue to the lender. Also, money earned on a savings 
account. 
 
Interest rate The percentage charged for a loan, usually a percentage of 
the amount lent. Also, the percentage paid on a savings account. 
 
Investor An organization, corporation, individual or other entity that 
acquires an ownership position in an investment, assuming risk of loss in 
exchange for anticipated returns. 
 
Installment plan A plan requiring a borrower to make payments at 
specified intervals over the life of a loan. 
 
Investing The act of using money to make more money. 
 
Leverage The ability to use a small amount of money to attract other funds, 
including loans, grants and equity investments. 
 
Liability Money an individual or organization owes; same as debt. 
 
Lien A creditor's claim against a property, which may entitle the creditor to 
seize the property if a debt is not repaid. 
 
Liquidity The ease with which an investment can be converted into cash. 
 
Load The fee a brokerage firm charges an investor for handling 
transactions. 
 
Loan A sum of money lent at interest. 
 
Management fee The fee paid to a company for managing an investment 
portfolio. 
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Market value The amount a seller can expect to receive on the open 
market for merchandise, services or securities. 
 
Maturity The time when a note, bond or other investment option comes 
due for payment to investors. 
 
Money market savings account A type of savings account offered by a 
financial institution. 
 
Mortgage A temporary and conditional pledge of property to a creditor as 
security for the repayment of a debt. 
 
Municipal bond A bond issued by cities, counties, states and local 
governmental agencies to finance public projects, such as construction of 
bridges, schools and highways. 
 
Mutual fund A pool of money managed by an investment company. 
 
Net worth The difference between the total assets and total liabilities of an 
individual. 
 
Par value The nominal, or face, value of a stock or bond, expressed as a 
specific amount on the security. 
 
Pretax A person?s salary before state and federal income taxes are 
calculated. 
 
Predatory lending Targeting loans to elderly, low-income and other people 
to take advantage of their financial status or lack of financial knowledge. 
 
Prime rate The lowest interest rate on bank loans, offered to preferred 
borrowers. 
 
Principal The unpaid balance on a loan, not including interest; the amount 
of money invested. 
 
Promissory note A written promise on a financial instrument to repay the 
money plus interest. 
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Qualified plan A tax-deferred retirement plan for the self-employed. 
 
Risk The possibility of loss on an investment. 
 
Return The profit made on an investment. 
 
Revenue bond A type of municipal bond backed by revenue from the 
project the bond finances. 
 
Savings account A service depository institutions offer whereby people 
can deposit their money for future use and earn interest. 
 
Stockholder A person who owns stock in a company and is eligible to 
share in profits and losses; same as shareholder. 
 
 

Tax-deferred Phrase referring to money that is not subject to income tax 
until it is withdrawn from an account, such as an individual retirement 
account or a 401(k) account. 
 
Term The period from when a loan is made until it is fully paid. 
 
Terms Provisions specified in a loan agreement. 
 
Treasury bill A short-term investment issued by the U.S. government for a 
year or less. 
 
Treasury bond A government security with a term of more than 10 years; 
interest is paid semiannually. 
 
Treasury note A government security with a maturity that can range from 
two to 10 years; interest is paid every six months. 
 
U.S. savings bond A nontransferable, registered bond issued by the 
U.S.government in denominations of $50 to $10,000. 
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Appendix  -  Wealth Management and Trust Glossary 

10b-10 SEC Rule requiring written confirmations for securities transactions. 
Equivalent to FDIC Part 344. 

12b-1 SEC Rule permitting mutual funds to use a portion of the mutual 
fund's assets for promotional expenses. The fund must be specifically 
registered as 12b-1 fund and disclose the existence and amount of such 
charges against the fund. 

13d SEC Rule requiring a filing by any person acquiring a direct or indirect 
5% interest in a registered stock. 

13f-1 SEC Rule requiring quarterly Form 13F reports by institutions holding 
more than $100 million in discretionary equities. 

13g SEC Rule requiring an annual filing by persons holding a direct or 
indirect 5% interest in a registered stock for passive investment purposes. 

17f-1 SEC Rule covering lost, stolen, counterfeit and missing securities 
certificates, and requiring banks and transfer agents to register with the 
Securities Information Center. 

114 Form 114 was an old designation for the Statement of Principles of 
Trust Department Management. 

156 SEC Rule governing mutual fund advertising and sales literature, and 
prohibiting false and misleading materials. 

401(a) Plan A savings plan in which contributions are made in after tax 
dollars. 

401(h) Account A separate account of a pension plan that, under 
Section 401(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, may be used to fund medical 
benefits for retirees and dependents. 

401(h) Plan An employee benefit that provides, through a pension or 
annuity plan, for the payment of benefits for sickness, accident, 
hospitalization and medical expenses for retirees, their spouses and 
dependents, subject to certain restrictions. 
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401(k) Plan A defined contribution plan established by an employer which 
enables employees to make pretax contributions by salary reductions 
structured within the format of a cash or deferred plan. 

403(b) Annuity An annuity that provides retirement income for employees 
of certain tax-exempt organizations or public schools. Also known as a tax-
sheltered annuity. 

403(b) Plan A defined contribution employee benefit plan established by 
certain tax-exempt organizations (such as charities) and public schools for 
their employees. Similar to a 401(k) plan. 

457 Plan A deferred compensation plan for employees of state and local 
governments. Named after the governing section of the Internal Revenue 
Code, a portion of their income may be deferred and is not taxable until a 
distribution is made. 

501(c)(9) Trust (1) Used by employers and jointly administered welfare 
funds to provide group employee benefits of the following types: medical, 
disability, term life insurance, severance compensation, vacation benefits, 
recreational facilities and unemployment compensation. These trusts are 
governed by Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code. (2) A type of 
self-insured or self-funded plan that is a tax exempt trust. Under its terms, 
both employer and employee contributions are paid into the fund, with 
claims and expenses paid out of it. Excess funds are invested as reserves 
by the fund's trustees. In a tax-qualified fund, the employer's deductions 
are immediately deductible, the trust's investment income is tax exempt, 
and employee contributions are not currently taxed. See also VEBAs. 

Abatement The reduction of a gift under a will because of insufficiency of 
assets to satisfy the gifts after the legal obligations of the estate (debts, 
taxes, charges, and claims) have been paid in full. The general rule is that 
all gifts of the same class shall abate proportionately, unless otherwise 
provided. 

ACCELERATED DEATH BENEFIT (ADB) Provision in a life insurance 
policy that permits a terminally ill person get a percentage of the life 
insurance benefit from the life insurance company prior to death. See also 
Viatical Settlement. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#veba#veba
http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#viaticalsettlement#viaticalsettlement
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Accounting (1) The record of an account showing the transactions therein. 
(2) The submission of such a record to the court or to the beneficiaries of a 
trust or estate by the fiduciary. 

Active Trust A trust regarding which the trustee has some active duty to 
perform; opposed to bare, naked, or passive trust. 

Actuary, Enrolled See Enrolled Actuary. 

ADA Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990. 

ADB See Accelerated Death Benefit. 

Adequate Consideration (1) For a security with a generally recognized 
market value: (a) the price of the security on a national securities 
exchange, or (b) if not traded on a national securities exchange, a price not 
less favorable to the plan than the offering price for the security as 
established by current bid and asked prices quoted by persons 
independent of the issuer and of any party in interest; (2) for other assets, 
the fair market value of the asset as determined in good faith by a fiduciary. 

Adjusted Gross Estate The value of an estate after all allowable 
deductions have reduced the gross estate, but before Federal estate taxes. 

Ad Litem For the purpose of the suit. 

Administrator An individual or a trust institution appointed by a court to 
settle the estate of a person who has died without leaving a valid will. If the 
individual appointed is a woman, she is known as an administratrix. 

Administrator Ad Litem An administrator appointed by the court to supply 
a party to an action at law or in equity in which the decedent or his 
representative was, or is, a necessary party. 

Administrator Cum Testamento Annexo (Administrator with the will 
annexed): An individual or a trust institution appointed by a court to settle 
the estate of a deceased person in accordance with the terms of his will 
when no executor has been named in the will or when the one named has 
failed to qualify. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#enrolledactuary#enrolledactuary
http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#accelerateddeathbenefit#accelerateddeathbenefit
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Administrator Cum Testamento Annexo De Bonis Non (Administrator 
with the will annexed as to property not yet distributed): An individual or a 
trust institution appointed by a court to complete the settlement of the 
estate of a deceased person in accordance with the terms of his will when 
the executor or the administrator with the will annexed has failed to 
continue in office. 

Administrator De Bonis Non (Administrator as to property not yet 
distributed): An individual or a trust institution appointed by a court to 
complete the settlement of the estate of a person who has died without 
leaving a valid will when the administrator originally appointed has failed to 
continue in office. 

Administrator with the will annexed An individual or a trust institution 
appointed by a court to settle the estate of a deceased person in 
accordance with the terms of his will when no executor has been named in 
the will or when the one named has failed to qualify. 

Administratrix See Administrator. 

ADR See American Depository Receipt. 

Advance See Overdraft. 

Agency An account in which the title to the property constituting the 
agency does not pass to the trust institution but remains in the owner of the 
property, who is known as the principal, and in which the agent is charged 
with certain duties with respect to the property. 

Agent A person who acts for another person by the latter's authority. The 
distinguishing characteristics of an agent are (1) that he acts on behalf and 
subject to the control of his principal, (2) that he does not have title to the 
property of his principal, and (3) that he owes the duty of obedience to his 
principal's orders. 

Allocation (1) The crediting of a receipt in its entirety or the charging of a 
disbursement in its entirety to one account, as to the principal account or to 
the income account; to be distinguished from apportionment. (2) A process 
that determines the optimum distribution of funds among various types of 
assets that offer the highest probability of consistently achieving investment 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#administrator#administrator
http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#americandepositoryreceipt#americandepositoryreceipt
http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#overdraft#overdraft
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objectives within a given risk tolerance. The process often uses a computer 
model to aid in processing a myriad of data. 

Allowance (1) The sum or sums awarded a fiduciary by a court as 
compensation for its services; to be distinguished from charge, 
commission, and fee. (2) See Widow's Allowance. (3) Waiver by a 
beneficiary or other interested party of certain actions performed by the 
fiduciary which might not conform with instrument terms, local statutes, 
prudent practices, etc. 

Alpha A numerical investment measure sometimes used as a performance 
indicator or to aid in selection of securities. Alpha is the premium an 
investment would be expected to earn if the market rate of return were 
equal to the Treasury bill rate, e.g., a premium of zero for the market rate of 
return.  

A positive alpha indicates that you have earned on the average a premium 
above that expected for the level of market variability. A negative alpha 
indicates, on the average, a premium lower than that expected for the level 
of market variability. See also Beta. 

AMBAC American Municipal Bond Assurance Corporation. 

American Depository Receipts (ADR) American certificates issued by an 
approved New York bank or trust company against the original (foreign) 
shares with a European branch of the New York institution. These receipts 
facilitate the financing of foreign companies in the United States. As foreign 
shares are deposited abroad, the equivalent ADR's change hands, not the 
certificates. This eliminates the actual shipment of stock certificates 
between the U. S. and foreign countries. 

American Option An option that can be exercised any time during an 
exercise period. 

AmortizationWith respect to bonds purchased at a premium, the process 
by which a part of the income is set aside as received to reduce gradually 
the amount by which the cost of the bond exceeds its face value.  

Ancillary Subordinate or auxiliary to something or someone else; used in 
such terms as ancillary administration, ancillary administrator, and ancillary 
guardian. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#beta#beta
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Annuity (1) A contract that provides an income for a specified period of 
time or for life; (2) the periodic payments provided under an annuity 
contract, (3) the specified monthly or periodic payment to a pensioner. 

Annuity Certain A contract the provides an income for a specified number 
of years, regardless of life or death. If an annuitant dies, the beneficiary will 
receive payments for the remaining number of specified years. Also called 
period certain, term certain or dollar temporary annuity. 

Annuity Contract A contract in which an insurance company 
unconditionally undertakes a legal obligation to provide specified pension 
benefits to specific individuals in return for a fixed fee or premium. An 
annuity contract is irrevocable and involves the transfer of significant risk 
from the employer to the insurance company. Also called allocated 
contracts. 

Apportionment The division or distribution of a receipt or a disbursement 
of property between or among two or more accounts, as between principal 
and income; to be distinguished from allocation. 

Approved List A list, statutory or otherwise, which contains the authorized 
investments that a fiduciary may acquire. 

Arbitrage A technique employed to take advantage of price differences in 
separate markets. This is accomplished by purchasing in one market for 
immediate sale at a better price in another market. Such transactions may 
be executed in the same type or similar types of securities. 

Assent Written agreement with or approval of actions of a fiduciary which 
have already taken place. 

Assurance (1) A pledge or guaranty of performance or protection from 
loss. Generally, prohibited for banks to give such a surety or 
indemnification. (2) A Canadian and British term for insurance. 

At-The-Money Option An option whose exercise price equals the spot 
price of the underlying instrument. 

Attorney In Fact A person who, acting as agent, is given written 
authorization by another person to transact business for him out of court; to 
be distinguished from attorney at law. See also Power of Attorney. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#powerofattorney#powerofattorney
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Authentication Applied to bonds, the signing, by the trustee, of a 
certificate on a bond for the purpose of identifying it as being issued under 
a certain indenture, thus validating the bond. 

Back End Load A sales charge due upon the sale, transfer or disposition 
of securities (usually mutual funds), partnership interests, annuities and life 
insurance. 

Bankers Acceptance An irrevocable obligation of an issuing bank and the 
borrower whereby both are liable for payment. Used in domestic and 
international commerce to finance the shipment and storage of goods or to 
facilitate dollar exchanges with foreign banks. Bankers acceptances are 
issued in a wide variety of principal amounts. Maturities can be up to 
180 days, but usually are for 30-60-90 days. 

Bank Investment Certificate See BIC. 

Basis In futures and forwards, the difference between a futures contract 
price for an item and the current spot price of the same item. 

Basis Convergence In futures and forwards, the phenomenon where the 
market value of a futures contract approaches the spot price for the 
underlying item as the delivery date nears. 

Basis Swap A variable-for-variable interest rate swap. 

Beneficiary (1) The person for whose benefit a trust is created. (2) The 
person to whom the amount of an insurance policy or annuity is payable. 

Bequeath To give personal property by will; to be distinguished from 
devise. 

Bequest A gift of personal property by will; a legacy. 
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Best Execution The principal whereby a trust department has a duty to 
obtain the most favorable possible performance of securities purchases 
and sales. This is generally done through the selection of a broker for a 
particular transaction. Given the size and type of the transaction, its 
complexity and where it is traded, the most favorable mix of at least the 
following factors must be obtained: (1) most favorable price, (2) lowest 
commission or equivalent, (3) prompt and accurate execution of orders, 
(4) prompt and accurate confirmation of orders, (5) prompt and accurate 
delivery of securities or proceeds. A broker's special abilities, access to, or 
knowledge of a particular type of investment or transaction could also 
impact on best execution. 

Beta A numerical investment measure sometimes used as a performance 
indicator or to aid in selection of securities. Beta measures market 
sensitivity: the extent to which a portfolio fluctuates with the market as 
represented by the S&P 500. Beta is calculated by measuring the 
sensitivity of a fund's portfolio to market patterns. It is a statistical estimate 
of the average change in a fund's rate of return corresponding to a one 
percent change in the market. An investment with a Beta of 1 matched the 
market; a beta of 1.1 indicates 10% better performance than the market in 
up markets, 10% worse in down markets. See also Alpha. 

BIC A "BIC" is a bank investment certificate. This is a large certificate of 
deposit sold to institutional investors, such as employee benefit plans. 
There is a facts-and-circumstances test as to whether FDIC insurance 
covers the instrument; if so, the first $100,000 of the BIC is insured by 
FDIC, and pass-through deposit insurance coverage may also apply. A BIC 
is the deposit industry's equivalent of a "GIC". See also "GIC", "Bullets", 
and "Windows". 

Bid/Ask Spread ï The difference between the quoted bid (broker will buys 
stock) and the quoted ask or offer (broker will sell a stock).  

Bifurcation The separation of gains and losses on investment transactions 
involving foreign currencies. For instance, the amount of profit attributable 
to the increase in the price of a German stock on the Frankfurt DAX Stock 
Exchange, as opposed to the amount of profit attributable to the change in 
the Deutsche Mark versus the dollar. Important for provisions of IRS Code 
988. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#gic#gic
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Blackout Period Any period of more than 3 consecutive business days 
during which the ability of not fewer than 50 percent of the participants or 
beneficiaries under all individual account plans maintained by the issuer to 
purchase, sell, or otherwise acquire or transfer an interest in any plan is 
temporarily suspended by the issuer or by a fiduciary of the plan. 

Blue Sky Laws State securities laws that attempt to ensure that the terms 
of securities offerings are fair, just and equitable and meet minimum 
standards of quality. Generally, certain information must be filed with a 
state's securities regulator before the security can be offered for sale within 
the state. 

Bond Anticipation Note Short-term notes sold in anticipation of a bond 
issue and retired with the proceeds from the sale of the bonds. 

Bond Power A form of assignment executed by the owner of registered 
bonds which contains an irrevocable appointment of an attorney in fact to 
make the actual transfer on the books of the corporation. 

Breach of Trust Violation of a duty of a trustee to a beneficiary.  

Bullet A term used with BIC's and GIC's when a lump sum of money is 
invested at a fixed interest rate, and repaid at maturity. Interest may be 
compounded or paid out periodically. 

Cafetaria Plan An approach to offering health benefits to employees where 
the employee may select which benefits, and how much coverage within a 
type of benefit, they elect to have. Such plans enable employees to tailor 
benefits coverage to their own situation. Some plans require a common 
core of benefits. Sometimes, employee contributions are permitted for 
additional coverage. Also known as Flexible Benefit Plans and Flexible 
Compensation. 

Callable A bond issue, all of part of which may be redeemed ("called") by 
the issuer prior to maturity. Specific terms in the bond indenture ensure that 
the bonds may not be called prior to the call date(s). Call provisions in the 
indenture also set the price at which the bond may be called; to 
compensate for this privilege, a price above par is usually paid. 
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Call Option Option to buy shares of a certain stock within a given period of 
time at a specific price fixed in the contract. 

Cap An option contract that protects the holder from a rise in interest rates 
or some other underlying index beyond a certain point. 

Cash Balance Plansa defined benefit plan which defines benefits in terms 
of a stated "account balance," as opposed to a specific monthly benefit for 
life under traditional defined benefit pension plans. In this type of plan, 
employers credit a participantôs account each year with a "pay credit" 
(typically based on a percentage of compensation) plus an "interest credit" 
(either a fixed rate, or a rate which is linked to an index, such as the one 
year treasury bill rate). When a participant retires under a cash balance 
plan, he or she is entitled to the balance of his or her vested benefit (similar 
to a defined contribution plan), which may be taken as an annuity or in a 
lump sum. This is opposed to retirements under traditional defined benefit 
pension plans, where retirees are entitled to lifetime monthly annuities 
based upon years of service and pay.  

Cash Equivalents Short-term investments held in lieu of cash and readily 
converted into cash within a short time-span (i.e. Certificates of Deposit, 
commercial paper, Treasury bills, etc.). 

Cede and Company The name of the nominee partnership for securities 
held at Depository Trust Company, New York. 

Cemetry Trust A trust which has as its purpose the upkeep of a grave, 
burial plot, or cemetery. 

Cesop (Tax) Credit ESOP. 

Cestui Que Trust (plural, cestuis que trust) A person for whose benefit a 
trust is created; a beneficiary. 

Charge The price fixed or demanded by a trust institution for service; 
compensation which a trust institution has a legal right to fix (in the form of 
either a commission of a fee), in contrast to an allowance which is granted 
by a court. See also Allowance, Commission, and Fee. 

Chesop Charity ESOP. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#allowance#allowance
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Chinese Wall A policy barrier between the trust department and the rest of 
the bank designed to stop the flow of non-public information for the purpose 
of preventing use by the trust department of any material inside 
information, which may come into the possession of other bank 
departments, in making investment decisions. 

CIF   See Collective Investment Fund. 

Clifford Trust See Short-Term Trust. 

Cliff Vesting Full (100%) vesting after x years of service. Benefits must be 
100% vested after not more than 5 years of service, except in collectively 
bargained plans, where the maximum period is 10 years. 

Closed End Mutual Fund A mutual fund which is limited in the number of 
shares outstanding. The shares are traded on a securities exchange or the 
over-the-counter market. The value is determined by bid and asked prices 
in the open market. 

COBRA The Consolidated Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985. 

CODA Cash or Deferred Arrangements. A term associated with certain 
employee benefit plans where the employee is given a choice of receiving 
an employer contribution in cash or having it deferred under a plan and/or 
the choice of making his or her own contribution to the plan from before-tax 
income. Most CODA's are either cash or deferred profit sharing plans or 
thrift and savings plans. 

Codicil An amendment or supplement to a will executed with all the 
formalities of the will itself. 

Collar An upper and lower limit on the coupon of a floating rate note. The 
issuer pays a premium for the collar. 

Collateral Heir A person not in the direct line of the decedent from whom 
he inherits real property, as, for example, a nephew of the decedent who 
receives a share of his uncleôs estate.  

Collective Investment Fund A pooled fund, operated by a bank or trust 
company in conformity with Section 9.18 of OCC Regulation 9 or Revenue 
Ruling 81-100, for investment of the assets of separate trust accounts.  
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Commercial Paper - Negotiable, short-term, unsecured promissory notes 
issued in bearer form on a discount or coupon basis by a corporation to 
raise working capital, for up to 270 days term. A direct obligation of the 
issuer, it is sold in multiples of $25,000 and is rated by Standard & Poor's 
(A-1, A-2, and A-3) and Moody's (Prime 1, Prime 2, and Prime 3). Interest 
is paid at maturity. Payment is required in Federal Funds on settlement 
date (usually at the buyer's option) and payment is required by Federal 
Funds on the maturity at the issuer's bank. The principal types are Prime 
Finance Paper issued by sales finance companies and certain large bank 
holding companies, Prime Industrial Paper issued by leading industrial 
companies, and Finance Paper of less-than-prime quality. For Prime 
Finance Paper, investors may specify both the issue and maturity dates. 
For Prime Industrial Paper, only those maturities listed on the market are 
available. 

Commission A percentage of the principal or of the income or of both 
which a fiduciary receives as compensation for its services; to be 
distinguished from allowance, charge, and fee. 

Committee for incompetent An individual or a trust institution appointed 
by a court to care for the property or the person (or both) of an 
incompetent; similar to a guardian, conservator, or curator. 

Common Law The legal system prevailing in the English-speaking 
countries - that is, the United States of American and the British 
Commonwealth of Nations. It originated in England and its form of 
development was different from that of Roman (civil) law. Compare Civil 
Law. 

Common Trust Fund A fund maintained by a bank or a trust company 
exclusively for the collective investment and reinvestment of money 
contributed to the fund by the bank or trust company in its capacity as 
trustee, executor, administrator, or guardian and in conformity with the 
rules and regulations of the Comptroller of the Currency pertaining to the 
collective investment of trust funds by national banks, as well as with the 
statutes and regulations (if any) of the several states.  
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Community Property Property in which a husband and wife have each an 
undivided one-half interest by reason of their marital status; recognized in 
all civil law countries and in certain states of the Southwest and Pacific 
Coast area of the United States. 

Compliance RiskThe risk that non compliance with laws and regulations 
can lead to financial loss and/or damage to the institutionôs reputation.  

Compound Option One type of option contract. It is an option, such as a 
put on a call, a call on a put, a put on a put, or a call on a call. 

Conservator (1) Generally, an individual or a trust institution appointed by 
a court to care for property. (2) Specifically, an individual or a trust 
institution appointed by a court to care for and manage the property of an 
incompetent person, in the same way as a guardian cares for an manages 
the property of a minor. 

Contingent Liability (1) For FDIC Trust Examinations: an estimate by the 
examiner of the gross possible liability of the institution resulting from the 
purchase of nonconforming investments for trust accounts, unwarranted 
retention of nonconforming assets, self-dealing, questionable practices and 
procedures, or other acts of omission or commission which appear not to 
comply with the terms of governing trust instruments or provisions of law 
and on which an accounting may be subject to objection by appropriate 
parties. Until appropriate consents, waivers or releases of liability are 
obtained from interested parties or nonliability is determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the liabilities are regarded as "contingent." (2) A 
liability which is dependent upon certain events occurring before it 
becomes an active liability.  

Contractual Derivative These investment instruments represent a one-of-
a-kind arrangement between two parties and include swaps, floors, collars, 
and swaptions. They are not standardized contracts nor do they trade on a 
regulated exchange. While they offer enticing return potential, some carry 
high degrees of both market risk and income risk. Because they are not 
standardized or exchange traded, they are subject to valuation risk (the 
potential for inaccurate pricing) and liquidity risk (the potential that it cannot 
be sold at a reasonable price). See also Derivatives. 
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Conversion (1) In law, wrongful appropriation to one's own use of the 
property of another. (2) In equity, the change of property from one form to 
that of another (as from real property to personal property, or the reverse) 
which is considered to have taken place even though no actual exchange 
has been effected. 

Corporate Depositary A trust institution serving as the depositary of funds 
or other property. See also Depositary, and Depository. 

Corporate Fiduciary A trust institution serving in a fiduciary capacity, such 
as executor, administrator, trustee, or guardian. 

Corporate Trust A trust created by a corporation, typical of which is a trust 
to secure a bond issue. 

Corpus (Body) The principal or capital of an estate, as distinguished from 
the income. 

Counterparty A principal party to a transaction, other than an intermediary. 
When looked at from the buyer's viewpoint, the seller is the counterparty 
and vice versa. 

Court Account Accounts which require court accountings and approval in 
their normal conduct. Probate, guardianship, conservatorship, and 
testamentary trust accounts are the most common. 

Covered Call A type of stock option in which a trust account sells to a third 
party the right (the option) to purchase a specific stock (the call) at a 
specific price until a specific expiration date. Possession of the stock by the 
trust account (covered) is the final element for a covered call option. It is 
different from a naked call option, in which the trust account does not own 
the stock. 

Covered Put A type of option on an instrument or commodity in which the 
writer has a short position. 
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Credit RiskCredit risk is the possibility of loss due to a counterpartyôs or an 
issuerôs default or inability to meet contractual payment terms. Default 
exposes the holder of the instrument to the cost of replacing the instrument 
under present market conditions. The amount of credit risk equals the 
replacement cost (also known as current exposure) of an identical 
instrument. The replacement cost is established by assessing the 
instrumentôs current market value rather than its value at its inception.  

Crown Loan Refers to an interest-free or below-market-rate term or 
demand loan, viewed by the IRS as a taxable gift to the borrower. Name 
stems from the L. Crown case at the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh 
Circuit [84-1 USTC]. Current precedent is Supreme Court case involving 
E.C. Dickman [84-1 USTC]. Refer to Section 7872 of the Internal Revenue 
Code and also to Revenue Procedure 86-46 (8-26-85), IR 85-86, and 
Announcement 85-132. 

Crummey Trust A type of unfunded insurance trust. The trust acts as 
owner of a life insurance policy. The trust receives the donor's cash 
payments on a periodic basis, from which the beneficiary of the trust has a 
specified period to make a cash withdrawal. If this is not done, the cash 
paid by the donor is used to pay the premiums due on the life insurance 
policy. The IRS has ruled that such an arrangement represents a gift of 
present value interest has been made by the donor. Since it is a gift of 
present value, the donor may contribute up to $10,000 ($20,000 if two 
donors, such has husband and wife contribute) per year in premium 
payments and enjoy the gift tax exclusion. When the donor dies, the life 
insurance policy in the trust is effectively removed from the donor's estate. 

Curator An individual or a trust institution appointed by a court to care for 
the property of a minor or an incompetent person. In some states a curator 
is essentially the same as a temporary administrator or a temporary 
guardian. 

Currency Coupon Swap A variation of a currency swap in which one 
party's interest payments are variable-rate. Essentially a combination of a 
currency swap and an interest rate swap. 

Currency Swap A swap contract in which two counterparties agree to 
exchange principal and interest denominated in different currencies based 
on an agreed-upon currency exchange rate. 
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Cusip Acronym for Committee on Uniform Security Identification 
Procedures. Standardized numbering system begun in 1968 for identifying 
individual issues of equity and debt securities in the United States and 
Canada to facilitate compatible automated processing by multiple 
organizations (banks, brokers, etc.). Not all issues meet the criteria for 
issuance of a CUSIP number. System operated by the CUSIP Service 
Bureau, a part of the Standard and Poor's Corporation. See also FINS. 

Custody Account An agency account concerning which the main duties of 
the custodian (agent) are to keep safe and preserve the property and to 
perform ministerial acts with respect to the property as directed by the 
principal. The agent has no investment or managerial responsibilities. To 
be distinguished from managing agency account and safekeeping account. 

Cy-Pres Doctrine Cy-pres means "as nearly as may be." The doctrine, 
applied in English and Scots law and in some of the states of the United 
States, that, where a testator or settlor make a gift to or for a charitable 
object that cannot be carried out to the letter, the court will direct that the 
gift will be made as nearly as possible, in its judgment, in conformity with 
the intention of the donor. 

Daily Settlement In futures and forwards, the process where futures 
participants are charged for their losses or credited for their gains at the 
end of each trading day. 

Debenture A general debt obligation backed only by the integrity and net 
worth of the issuer. An obligation that is not secured by a specific lien on 
property, as an unsecured note of a corporation. 

Deed - A written instrument, signed, sealed, and delivered according to 
applicable law, containing some transfer, bargain, or contract with respect 
to property. The common term for an instrument transferring the ownership 
of property.  

Deed of Trust - A sealed instrument in writing duly executed and delivered, 
conveying or transferring property to a trustee. This is usually real property.  

DefaultWith regard to a bond or promissory note, the failure to make a 
payment either of principal or interest as or when due. 
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Defective Trust A trust designed that income taxes are paid outside of the 
trust by the grantor.  The most commonly used provision allows the grantor 
the power to substitute property he or she owns for equally valued trust 
property. 

Defeasement A type of municipal debt financing which enables the issuing 
government entity to reduce the amount of interest it pays on existing 
outstanding bonds. As an example, an entity that has high-rate outstanding 
bonds issues new debt at a lower rate. The proceeds are used to buy 
Treasuries, which pay enough interest to pay the interest on the old 
outstanding bonds. The Treasuries can be sold when the old bonds reach 
their call date, providing a source of funds to retire the old debt. The net 
effect is the government entity pays less on a current basis. 

Deferred Payment Swap A swap that requires payments to be made at a 
later date than the date at which the payments are determined. 

Defined Benefit Plan A pension plan which guarantees the payment of a 
specified benefit at retirement age and provides annual contributions equal 
to an actuarially determined amount sufficient to produce the specified 
benefit. 

Defined Contribution Plan A pension plan which provides for an individual 
account for each participant and for benefits based upon the amount 
contributed to the participant's account including any income, expenses, 
gains, or losses. See also Individual Account Plan, Money Purchase Plans, 
Profit Sharing Plans, Target Plans, and Employee Stock Ownership Plans 
(ESOP's). 

DEFRA Deficit Reduction Act of 1984. One part of this act was the Tax 
Reform Act of 1984. Another part was the Spending Reduction Act of 1984. 

Depletion The consumption or exhaustion of wasting property - such as, 
royalties, patent rights, mines, oil and gas wells, quarries, timberlands, and 
other things that are consumed or worn out in the sing. 

Deposit Administration Contract A funding contract with an insurance 
company in which an unallocated account is kept for active participants. 
Annuities are purchased for employees when they retire. 
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Depositary One who receives a deposit of money, securities, instruments, 
or other property; to be distinguished from depository, which is the place of 
deposit. 

Depository A place where something is deposited, such as a safe deposit 
vault. See Securities Depository. 

Derivative A financial contract whose value is designed to track the return 
on stocks, bonds, currencies, or some other benchmark. Generally, 
derivatives fall into two broad categories: forward-type contracts and 
option-type contracts. They may be traded on exchanges or traded 
privately. See also Contractual Derivatives, Security-Based Derivatives, 
and Synthetic Derivatives. 

Determination Letter A letter issued by the District office of the Internal 
Revenue Service which states whether a plan meets the qualification 
requirements under the Internal Revenue Code. Requesting an IRS 
Determination Letter is not an IRS requirement and is optional with the plan 
sponsor. 

Devise A gift of real property by will; to be distinguished from bequest. 

Devisee A person to whom a devise is given. 

Direct Heir A person in the direct line of ascent or descent of the decedent; 
as, father, mother, son, daughter.  

Directed Trust One under which a trustee has less then full managerial 
authority because another party or parties has the power to control some of 
the trustee's actions. Normally, this involves the investments of an 
employee benefit plan. Often, this direction is provided by an outside 
investment manager, a "named fiduciary", or the individual participant. 

Disbursement Money paid out in discharge of a debt or an expense; to be 
distinguished from distribution. 

Disqualified Person Term defined in Section 4975(e)(2) of the Internal 
Revenue Code that is roughly equivalent to ERISA's party in interest, but 
also includes highly-compensated employees. See Party in Interest. 
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Distribution The apportionment of personal property (or its proceeds) 
among those entitled to receive the property according to the applicable 
statute of distribution or under the terms of the will or trust agreement; to be 
distinguished from disbursement. 

DOL Department of Labor. 

Domicile The place which a person regards as his permanent home and 
principal establishment; the place to which, whenever he is absent, he has 
the intention of returning. A person's domicile may or may not be the same 
as his residence at a given time. See also Residence. 

Donor One who makes a gift. 

DTC Depository Trust Company, New York City. A noninsured limited-
purpose state chartered trust company which is a member of the Federal 
Reserve System. Securities certificates belonging to a variety of financial 
institutions (banks, trust companies, broker-dealers, mutual funds, etc.) are 
kept at DTC, with transfers between "depositors" accomplished by 
bookkeeping entry. This greatly reduces the volume of physical transfers 
which must be made within the securities industry. 

DRP Dividend Reinvestment Plan. 

Duration A numerical measure of the price change of a bond due to a 
change in its yield to maturity. Duration summarizes the various 
characteristics that cause bond prices to fluctuate in response to interest 
rate changes. The lower the duration number, the less change that can be 
expected in a bond's price. 

Education IRA is not a retirement arrangement. It is a trust or custodial 
account established for the purpose of paying "qualified higher education 
expenses" of the designated beneficiary at an "eligible educational 
institution." Up to $500 per year can be contributed to an Education IRA. 
Contributions to the IRA are taxable. Investments grow tax free until 
distributed. If withdrawals are less than the beneficiaryôs "qualified higher 
education expenses," the withdrawals are tax free. Any portion of a 
withdrawal that is greater than the beneficiaryôs educational expenses is 
taxable to the beneficiary.  
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Eleemosynary Pertaining or devoted to legal charity; as an eleemosynary 
institution. 

Embedded Derivatives Derivatives that are part of another financial 
instrument. For example, a callable bond consists of the bond and a call 
option. The call option is the embedded derivative. 

Employee Benefit Security Administration  This office was formerly 
known as the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, PWBA, and is 
a part of the U. S. Department of Labor. 

Employee Benefit Plan A plan established or maintained by an employer 
or employee organization, or both, for the purpose of providing employees 
a certain benefit, such as pension profit-sharing, stock bonus, thrift medical, 
sickness, accident, or disability benefits. 

Employee Stock Ownership Plan An employee benefit account in which 
employees may become stockholders of the employer. These plans are 
qualified under the Internal Revenue Code and are not subject to the 
10% ERISA limits on holdings of employer stock. Typically, an employer's 
contributions to an ESOP are used to purchase existing or new shares of 
the employer's stock, thus providing a means for the employer to raise new 
capital while, at the same time, getting a tax deduction for the annual 
contributions. When such purchases are from insiders, the IRS has special 
requirements concerning the valuation of the stock's price. Often, ESOP's 
involve borrowing funds by the ESOP with which to purchase employer 
stock; such plans are termed "leveraged" ESOP's. When speaking of the 
trust account, ESOP's are sometimes called ESOT's: Employee Stock 
Ownership Trusts. See also CESOP, CHESOP, PAYSOP, and TRASOP. 

En Ventre Sa Mere "In mother's womb" - a child conceived but not yet 
born. 

Enrolled Actuary A person who performs actuarial services for an 
employee benefit plan which is subject to ERISA and who is enrolled with 
the federal Joint Board for Enrolling Actuaries. ERISA plans may use only 
Enrolled Actuaries to perform services for the plan. 
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ERISA An acronym for the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974 which set up federal minimum standards for employee benefit plans, 
including standards regulating the conduct of plan fiduciaries and trustees. 
The Act also established an insurance program designed to guarantee 
workers receipt of pension benefits if their defined benefit pension plan 
should terminate. 

ERTA Economic Recovery Tax Act of 1981. Expanded IRA and Keogh 
plan availability. Covered specific areas of employee compensation, 
including incentive stock options, deductible voluntary employee 
contributions, tax credit ESOP's, and withdrawal provisions in savings/thrift 
plans. 

Escheat The reversion of property to the state (in the United States) in 
case there are no devisees, legatees, heirs, or next of kin; originally 
applicable only to real property but now applicable to all kinds of property. 

Escrow Money, securities, instruments, or other property or evidences of 
property deposited by two or more persons with a third person, to be 
delivered on a certain contingency or on the happening of a certain event. 
The subject matter of the transaction (the money, securities, instruments, 
or other property) is the escrow; the terms upon which it is deposited with 
the third person constitute the escrow agreement; and the third person is 
termed the escrow agent. 

Escrow Agent See Escrow. 

ESOP See Employee Stock Ownership Plan. 

ESOT See Employee Stock Ownership Plan (Trust). 

Estate (1) The right, title, or interest which a person has in any property; to 
be distinguished from the property itself, which is the subject matter of the 
interest. (2) The property of a decedent. 

Estate Tax A tax imposed on a decedent's estate as such and not on the 
distributive shares of the estate or on the right to receive the shares; to be 
distinguished from an inheritance tax. 
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Estimated Loss For FDIC Trust Examinations: an estimate by the 
examiner of the amount of loss which appears certain to be sustained by 
the institution as a result of its fiduciary activities. 

ETI Acronym used by the Labor Department in ERISA Interpretive 
Bulletin (IB) 94-1 for Economically Targeted Investment. See Social 
Investing. 

Eurobond A bond denominated in U.S. dollars (or another currency) and 
sold to investors outside the country whose currency is used. An example 
might be a bond denominated in German Deutsche Mark but issued by a 
Dutch company and sold to Swiss investors. 

Eurodollar Certificate of Deposit A certificate of deposit issued by banks 
outside the U.S., primarily in Europe, with interest and principal paid in 
dollars. Such CDs usually have minimum denominations of $100,000 and 
short-term maturities of less than two years. Interest rates are usually 
pegged to LIBOR. 

European Option An option that can only be exercised on the expiration 
date. 

Event of Default The non-occurrence or non-performance of something 
called for in a bond indenture. Examples of events of default are: 
(1) nonpayment of interest, (2) nonpayment of principal, (3) failure to make 
payments into a sinking fund, (4) filing of bankruptcy or reorganization, 
(5) nonpayment of a prior lien obligation, (6) failure to perform any 
obligation called for in the indenture (such as provide financial statements, 
insurance, proof of tax payments, etc.). 

Excess Benefit Plan A non-qualified plan maintained by an employer 
solely for the purpose of providing benefits for certain employees in excess 
of those which, because of Internal Revenue Code limitations on 
contributions and benefits, can be provided by the employer's qualified 
plan. 

Exculpatory Provision A provision in a will or trust instrument relieving or 
attempting to relieve an executor or trustee from liability for breach of trust; 
sometimes called an immunity provision. 
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Executor An individual or a trust institution nominated in a will and 
appointed by a court to settle the estate of the testator. If a woman, she is 
an executrix. 

Executor De Bonis Non The individual or corporation named in the will to 
take over and complete the settlement of an estate in those cases in which 
the original executor, for one reason or another, has failed or been unable 
to do so. Unless the testator himself names such a successor executor, the 
court appoints an administrator de bonis non. 

Executrix See Executor. 

Exercise Period The period of time during which an option may be 
exercised. 

Expiration Date The last day an option can be exercised. 

 

Express Trust A trust stated orally or in writing, with the terms of the trust 
definitely prescribed; to be distinguished from a resulting trust and a 
constructive trust. 

Family Incentive Trustï Twist on an irrevocable family trust. Assets enter 
the trust in the normal fashion. However, there is specific language as to 
how funds may be taken out of the trust. The purpose of the trust is to 
provide an incentive for the beneficiary to lead a productive life. The trusts 
also contain a safety-net so a beneficiary will not become destitute. 
Examples of what distribution provisions include are (1) Matching earnings 
dollar for dollar, (2) Paying a parent for staying home with the children, (3) 
Paying an amount for completing a higher education, and (4) Starting a 
new business.  

FAS Financial Accounting Standard. Authoritative accounting 
pronouncement on handling different specific accounting situations. Issued 
by FASB. 

FAS 87 Statement issued by FASB covering employer accounting for 
pensions. 
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FAS 106 Statement issued by FASB requiring employers to record on their 
balance sheets the future financial liability they incur by promising health 
benefits to retirees. 

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board. Non-governmental authority 
for establishing accounting standards in the United States. 

Fee (1) Fixed amount which a trust institution receives as compensation for 
its services; to be distinguished from allowance, charge, and commission. 
(2) An estate of inheritance in real property, sometimes referred to as an 
estate in fee or fee simple estate. 

Fee Simple An estate of inheritance without limitation to any particular 
class of heirs and with no restrictions upon alienation; sometimes known as 
fee simple absolute; the largest interest or estate in real property a person 
may own. 

Fiduciary An individual or a trust institution charged with the duty of acting 
for the benefit of another party as to matters coming within the scope of the 
relationship between them. The relationship between a guardian and his 
ward, an agent and his principal, an attorney and his client, one partner and 
another partner, a trustee and a beneficiary, each is an example of 
fiduciary relationship, See also ERISA Section 3(21)(A). 

FINS Acronym for Financial Industry Number Standard. Standardized 
numbering system for identifying individual institutions (brokers, banks, 
transfer agents) in the securities industry in the United States and Canada 
to facilitate compatible automated processing in multiple organizations. 
FINS Numbers issued by Depository Trust Company, New York City. See 
also CUSIP. 

Fiscal Agent (1) An agent for a corporation to handle specified matters 
relating to taxes in connection with an issue of bonds. (2) An agent for a 
national, state, or municipal government or government body to pay its 
bonds and coupons or to perform certain other duties related to financial 
matters. 

Flexible Benefit Plan/Flexible Compensation See Cafeteria Plan. 
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Flexible Spending Accounts or Arrangements Employee benefit which 
gives employees a choice between taxable cash and nontaxable 
compensation in the form of payment or reimbursement of eligible, tax-
favored benefits. FSAs can be funded through salary reduction, employer 
contributions, or a combination of the two. Employees can purchase 
additional benefits, pay health insurance deductibles, and copayments, or 
pay for child care benefits with FSAs. 

Floater A floating rate instrument that pays interest at a rate that adjusts 
periodically, relative to a spread over a specific benchmark or index. 

Floor An option contract that protects the holder against a decline in 
interest rates or some other underlying below a certain point. 

Form Adv Form used to apply for registration as an investment advisor or 
to amend a registration. It consists of two parts. Part I contains general and 
personal information about the applicant. Part II contains information 
relating to the nature of the applicantôs business, including basic 
operations, services offered, fees charged, types of clients advised, 
educational and business backgrounds of associates and other business 
activities of the applicant.  

Forward Contract A cash market transaction in which two parties agree to 
the purchase and sale of a commodity at some future time under such 
conditions as the two agree. In contrast to futures contracts, the terms of 
forward contracts are not standardized. A forward contract is not 
transferable and usually can be cancelled only with the consent of the other 
party, which often must be obtained for consideration and under penalty. 
Forward contracts are not traded in federally designated contract markets. 

Forward-Start Swaps An agreement that includes a deferred start date 
before the swaps' interest payments are exchanged. 

Fourth Market The trading of securities directly from one institutional 
investor to another without the services of a brokerage firm. 

Fractional Share BequestA bequest of property, often made in connection 
with the establishment of a marital deduction trust, that is expressed in 
terms of a proportion of the assets involved rather than in terms of a 
specific dollar amount.  
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Freddie Mac Trade name for the Federal Home Loan Mortgage 
Corporation. 

Front-End Receipt Swaps Also known as off-market swaps. A swap in 
which one party receives an amount equal to the present value of a future 
fixed rate swap payment now rather than at the respective periodic 
payment dates. 

Front Running A practice where an investment manager purchases 
securities for his/her own personal interest prior to an anticipated purchase 
of the same securities by the accounts for which he/she acts as investment 
manager. 

Funded Insurance Trust An insurance trust in which, in addition to life 
insurance policies, cash and securities have been placed in trust to provide 
sufficient income for the payment of premiums and other charges on or 
assessments against the insurance policies. 

Futures Contract A transferable agreement to make or take delivery of 
standardized minimum quality grades, during a specific month, under terms 
and conditions established by a federally designated contract market upon 
which trading is conducted. 

General Account An undivided fund maintained by an insurance company 
that commingles plan assets with other assets of the insurance company 
for investment purposes. Funds held by an insurance company that are not 
maintained in a separate account are in its general account. 

General Obligation (GO) Bond A type of municipal bond that is backed by 
the full faith, credit and taxing power of the issuer for payment of interest 
and principal. Its sale finances public improvements. It is repaid by taxes. 

General Partner A person who usually is actively engaged in the trade or 
business of the partnership and has unlimited personal liability in the 
partnership. 

General Partnership A form of business whose partners include only 
general partners. Profits, losses and deductions are passed through to the 
individual partners involved in the business. 
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Generally Accepted Accounting Principles(GAAP) Uniform minimum 
standards of and guidelines to financial accounting and reporting, which 
govern the form and content of financial statements. GAAP encompass 
principles necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular 
time and include detailed procedures as well as broad guidelines. 

Generation-Skipping Tax A tax imposed on any testamentary generation-
skipping transfer, with the intention that this tax be substantially equal to 
the transfer tax which would have been payable if the property had actually 
been transferred outright to each generation. 

Generation-Skipping Trust Any trust having beneficiaries who belong to 
two or more generations younger than the grantor. 

GIC A "GIC" is a guaranteed investment contract, normally offered by 
insurance companies. It is similar to a financial institution's certificate of 
deposit in that it provides a guaranteed rate of return over a specified 
period. GIC's are normally used by institutional investors, such as 
employee benefit plans. GIC's are dependent upon the financial soundness 
of the issuing insurance company for their repayment. See also "BIC", 
"SLIC", "Synthetic GIC", "Bullets", and "Windows".  

Gift Causa Mortis A gift of personal property made by a person in 
expectation of death, completed by actual delivery of the property, and 
effective only if the donor dies; to be distinguished from gift inter vivos. 

Gift Tax A tax imposed by the Federal Government since 1932 and by 
some states on transfers of property by gift during the donor's lifetime. 
Gifts, under this law, may include irrevocable living trusts. 

Ginnie Mae Colloquial for Government National Mortgage Association. 

Going Concern Value A valuation approach used by appraisers. It implies 
that a company is actively and profitably in business and, therefore, should 
be valued on that basis rather than on the liquidation of its assets. 

Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA) A wholly-owned 
government corporation within the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD). Also known colloquially as Ginnie Mae. 
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Governmental Plan An employee benefit plan established or maintained 
by the employees of the U.S. government or any state or political 
subdivision thereof or by any agency or instrumentality of the foregoing. 

Grantor A person who transfers property by deed or who grants property 
rights by means of a trust instrument or some other document. See also 
Settlor. 

Grantor TrustFor purposes of the income taxation of trusts and estates, a 
trust in which the grantor or a third party, because of certain rights to 
income or principal or certain power over the disposition of income and 
principal, is treated as the owner of the trust and taxed on the income 
thereof. Consequently, a grantor trust is not treated as a separate entity for 
income tax purposes.  

GRIT Acronym for a grantor retained income trust, which is an irrevocable 
trust to which a residence is transferred for a term of years, with the grantor 
retaining the use of the residence for that term. At the end of the term, the 
residence becomes the property of the remainder beneficiary. The present 
value of the retained interest is not taxed for transfer tax purposes. The 
present value of the retained interest is the sum of: (1) the value of an 
income interest for the specified term, and (2) the present value of the 
contingent right to receive the value if the grantor dies during the specified 
term. 

Guaranteed Investment Contract See "GIC"  

Guardian An individual or a trust institution appointed by a court to care for 
the property or the person (or both) of a minor or an incompetent person. 
When the guardian's duties are limited to the property, he is known as a 
guardian of the property; when they are limited to the person, he is known 
as a guardian of the person; when they apply both to property and to the 
person, he is known merely as a guardian. In some states the term 
committee, conservator, curator, or tutor is used to designate one who 
performs substantially the same duties as those of a guardian. 

Guardian Ad Litem A person appointed by a court to represent and 
defend a minor or an incompetent person in connection with court 
proceedings; sometimes called a special guardian. 
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Hard Dollars Goods or services purchased with cash are said to be 
purchased with "hard" dollars. Purchases made with brokerage 
commissions are said to be made with "soft" dollars. 

Health Stock Ownership Plan (HSOP) Combination of an employee stock 
ownership plan (ESOP) and a 401(h) account. HSOPs allow the sponsor to 
provide for retiree medical benefits for its current employees without having 
to accrue such future liabilities currently for financial accounting purposes. 

 

Hedging The temporary purchase and sale of a contract calling for future 
delivery of a specific quantity of a particular commodity at an agreed-upon 
price to offset a present (or anticipated) position in the cash market. An 
operation intended to protect against loss in another operation. 

Heir A person who inherits real property; to be distinguished from next of 
kin and from distributee. An heir of the body is an heir in the direct line of 
the decedent. A son, for example, is the heir of the body of his father or 
mother. See also Collateral Heir; Direct Heir; Next of Kin. 

Hereditament Any kind of property that is capable of being inherited. If the 
property is visible and tangible, it is a corporeal hereditament; of it is not, it 
is an incorporeal hereditament -- for example, a right to rent or a promise to 
pay money. 

HH Bonds Effective August 31, 2004. Series HH bonds are no longer 
offered. HH bonds issued prior to that date pay a fixed rate of interest 
based on market rates at the time of issuance. Interest is paid semi-
annually and the bonds have a maturity of 20 years after date of issuance. 

Highly Compensated Employee (HCE) Any employee who, during the 
current or preceding plan year: (1) owned more than 5% of the company; or 
(2) received more than $80,000 (indexed) in annual compensation, 
and was in the top 20% of employees ranked on the basis of annual 
compensation, under Section 414(q) of the IRC; or, (3) was an officer of the 
company earning more than the defined benefit limit under Section 415 of 
the IRC. Discrimination in favor of this group is prohibited. For 2005, highly 
compensated employees are those earning $95,000 or more. 
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Highly Compensated Individual For purposes of IRC § 105(h), (1) one of 
the five highest paid officers, (2) a 10% owner or (3) an employee who is 
among the highest 25% of all employees (other than the 10% owners who 
are not participants). 

Highly Compensation Participant Under IRC § 125(e), an officer, a more-
than-5% shareholder, a highly compensated employee, or a spouse or 
dependent of one of the former. 

Holographic Will A will entirely in the handwriting of the testator. 

Hours Worked Standard hours worked in a year is 2,080 (52 weeks x 40 
hours per week). 

HR 10 Plan See Keogh Plan. 

HSOP See Health Stock Ownership Plan. 

Hurdle Rate A minimum standard rate of return for acceptability as an 
investment. 

Hybrid Pension Plan A qualified retirement plan that has characteristics 
typical of both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. 

Immunization The design of a bond portfolio to achieve a target level of 
return in the face of changing reinvestment rates and price levels. It is the 
combining of short- and long-term bonds in the same portfolio to produce a 
predictable rate of return regardless of movements in interest rates. 

Income The return from property, such as rent, interest, dividends, profits, 
and royalties; opposed to principal or capital. 

Income Beneficiary The beneficiary of a trust who is entitled to receive the 
income from it. 

Incorporeal Hereditament See Hereditament. 

Indemnity Protection or exemption from loss or damage. 
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Indenture (1) A mutual agreement in writing between or among two or 
more parties whereof usually each party has a counterpart or duplicate; 
originally so called because the parts were indented by a notched cut or 
line so that the two parts could be fitted together. (2) A legal document 
prepared in connection with a bond issue describing the terms of the issue, 
such as a security, maturity date, interest rate, and remedies in case of 
default. 

Index Amortizing Swaps Swaps that operate as basic swaps for an initial 
period, after which time the notional principal balance is amortized or 
extended based on a schedule linked to interest rate changes or some 
other index during the interim period. 

Index Fund A collective investment fund or common trust fund which is 
composed of securities which are intended to duplicate the returns of a 
designated securities index, such as the Standard & Poor's 500 stock 
index. Not all of the securities which make up the designated index need to 
be in an index fund.  

Individual Account Plan A defined contribution plan that allows 
participants to choose, from a broad range of investment options, how their 
own accounts will be invested. See also Defined Contributions Plan and 
Money Purchase Plan. 

Individual Retirement Account (IRA) A retirement savings program for 
individuals to which yearly tax deductible contributions up to a specified 
limit can be made. The amounts contributed are not taxed until withdrawal. 
Withdrawal is not permitted, without penalty, until the individual reaches 
age 59 1/2. 

Infant A person not of legal age, which at common law was 21 years but 
which in some states has been changed by statue; the same as a minor. 

Inheritance Tax A tax on the right to receive property by inheritance; to be 
distinguished from an estate tax. 

Initial Margin In futures and forwards, the amount of cash that must be 
deposited with a broker when a futures position is initiated. 

Initial Public Offering (IPO) The original sale of a company's securities to 
the public. 
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In-Kind Transfer - A distribution of property (e.g., stock, bond, partnership, 
etc.) from a trust or estate other than in cash. Noncash contributions to a 
trust or estate are also "in-kind" transfers.  

Insurance Guaranty Fund A fund maintained by a state guaranty 
association which pay claims of insolvent insurance companies. The fund is 
financed by contributions from insurance companies. 

Insurance Trust A trust composed partly or wholly of life insurance policy 
contracts. 

Insured Pension Plans Retirement and other employee benefit plans the 
source of the benefits of which is life insurance paid for wholly or partially 
by the employer. 

Inter-Account Transaction Transactions in which a trust department sells 
assets directly from one account to another, bypassing a non-affiliated third 
party broker. This form of transaction should be permissible under local law 
and the governing instrument, and it should be covered by written policy. 
Fiduciaries engaging in this type of activity place themselves in an onerous 
conflict of interest position. They must be capable of demonstrating to each 
party to the transaction that it simultaneously sold an asset at the highest 
fair market value, and purchased it at the lowest fair market value. 
Generally, management should be cautioned against engaging in these 
transactions.  

Interest Assumption The expected rate of investment return on a plan's 
assets. It includes interest on debt securities, dividends on equity 
securities, rentals on real estate, and gains or losses on fund investments. 

Interest Rate Futures A transferable agreement to make or take delivery 
of a fixed income security at a specific time, under terms and conditions 
established by the federally designated market upon which futures trading 
is conducted. 

Interest Rate Risk One of the three types of investment risk. When interest 
rates rise, the market value of fixed income contracts (such as bonds) 
declines. Similarly, when interest rates decline, the market value of fixed 
income contracts increases. Interest rate risk is the risk associated with 
these fluctuations. See also Credit Risk and Market Risk. 
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Internal Revenue Code (IRC) This is the basic federal tax law. 

Inter Vivos Between living persons. 

Inter Vivos Trust A trust created during the settlor's lifetime; the same as a 
living trust; to be distinguished from trust under will or testamentary trust. 

Intestacy The condition resulting from a person's dying without leaving a 
valid will. 

Intestate (Adjective): (1) Without having made and left a valid will. (2) Not 
devised or bequeathed; not disposed of by will. (Noun): A person who dies 
intestate. 

In The Money Option A call option whose exercise price is lower than the 
spot price of the underlying or a put option whose exercise price is greater 
than the spot price of the underlying instrument. 

Intrinsic Value The value of an option were it to be exercised. Only in-the-
money options have intrinsic value. 

Inverse Floater A floating rate instrument that adjusts inversely with 
changes in the benchmark index. 

Investment Adviser A person who advises the public concerning the 
purchase or sale of securities. Such persons must generally register with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Investment Advisers 
Act of 1940. Effective May 12, 2001, there is no longer a unilateral 
exemption afforded to banks. However, banks will continue to be exempt 
provided that the investment advisory services are only made available to 
individuals and those other than mutual funds. The category of other 
includes private equity issues and unregistered mutual funds. * Please 
check to make sure the organization or individual is licensed to sell 
securities or offer advice for a fee. 

Investment Advisor Agent An agency account in which the trust 
department provides investment recommendations on various types of 
assets, without actually having custody or safekeeping of those assets. 
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Investment Management Agent An agency account in which the trust 
department contracts to analyze and review the various assets, to make 
recommendations for changes in existing investments, and to make 
recommendations for new investments. The department also performs 
safekeeping and custodial functions for the assets of the account. 

Investment Company Legal term for a mutual fund. The Investment 
Company Act of 1940 provides the framework for SEC regulatory authority 
over mutual fund operations. 

Investment Powers The powers of a fiduciary regarding the investments in 
the account. 

IO (Interest Only) The holder of this derivative instrument receives interest 
payments from a specific regular interest class or from a piece of the 
collateral. The holder receives no interest payments. 

IPO See Initial Public Offering. 

IRA See Individual Retirement Account. 

IRC Internal Revenue Code. This is the basic federal tax law. 

Irrevocable Trust A trust which by its terms (1) cannot be revoked by the 
settlor or (2) can be terminated by him only with the consent of someone 
who has an adverse interest in the trust -- that is, someone to whose 
interest it would be for the trust not to be terminated, such as a beneficiary; 
to be distinguished from a revocable trust with consented approval. 

ISN A securities identification numbering system similar to CUSIP but used 
in some countries outside the United States. 

Issue All persons who have descended from a common ancestor; a 
broader term than children. 

Item A Registered Transfer Agent term defined in SEC Rule 17Ad-1(a)(1), 
as follows: (i) A certificate or certificates of the same issue of securities 
covered by one ticket (or, if there is no ticket, presented by one presentor) 
presented for transfer, or an instruction to a transfer agent which holds 
securities registered in the name of the presentor to transfer or to make 
available all or a portion of those securities; (ii) Each line on a "deposit 
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shipment control list" or a "withdrawal shipment control list"; or (iii) In the 
case of an outside registrar, each certificate to be countersigned. 

Joint and Several Liability Used when compensation for liability may be 
obtained from one or more parties either individually or jointly, whichever 
may be most advantageous. Example: Partners are responsible for their 
own and other partners' actions. 

Joint and Survivor Annuity A contract that provides income periodically 
during the longer lifetime of two persons. The benefit amount may be 
adjusted to account for the extended life expectancy of the couple, and the 
benefit amount may decrease when one or the other dies. The contingent 
annuitant is usually the spouse. 

Joint Tenancy The holding of property by two or more persons in such a 
manner that, upon the death of one joint owner, the survivor or survivors 
take the entire property; to be distinguished from tenancy in common and 
tenancy by the entirety. 

Junk Bonds Bonds that are issued by organizations which often are 
encountering financial setbacks. A junk bond may be issued as a low 
quality security, or its issuer may encounter setbacks so that a quality bond 
is reduced to junk level. They offer high interest and high risk. Assurance of 
interest and principal payments in the future is limited; repayment often 
depends on asset sales rather than the ongoing profitability of the 
business. Junk bonds are often issued in conjunction with takeovers, 
leveraged buyouts and restructurings. 

KEOGH Plan A retirement plan for self-employed persons and their 
employees to which yearly tax deductible contributions up to a specified 
limit can be made, if the plan meets certain requirements of the Internal 
Revenue Code. 

KSOP 401(k) Employee Stock Ownership Plan. 

Laches Neglect to do a thing at the proper time; such as undue delay in 
asserting a right or asking for a privilege. 
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Land Trust An unincorporated association for holding real property by 
putting the title in one or more trustees for the benefit of the members 
whose interests are evidenced by land-trust certificates. In general terms, it 
is a trust created to effectuate a real estate ownership relationship in which 
the trustee holds legal and equitable title to the property subject to the 
provisions of a trust agreement setting out the rights of the beneficiaries 
whose interests in the trust are declared to be personal property.  

Last Will and Testament  A legally enforceable declaration of a person's 
wishes regarding matters to be attended to after his death and not 
operative until his death; usually but not always relating to property; 
revocable (or amendable by means of a codicil) up to the time of his death 
or loss of mental capacity to make a valid will. Originally, "will" related to 
real property; "testament", to personal property; but at the present time, 
"will" is equally applicable to real and personal property. Olographic or 
Holographic wills are usually handwritten, dated and signed in the USA. 

Legacy A gift of personal property by will; the same as a bequest. A person 
receiving such a gift is called a legatee. 

Legal Common Trust Fund A common trust fund invested wholly in 
property that is legal for the investment of trust funds in the state in which 
the common trust is being administered. The term is employed most often 
in or with respect to common trust funds in states that have a statutory or 
court-approved list of authorized investments for trustees where the terms 
of the trust do not provide otherwise.  

Legal Investment An investment that conforms to the requirements of the 
statutes. A term used principally with reference to investments by trustees 
and other fiduciaries and by savings banks; often abbreviated to "legals"; to 
be distinguished from an authorized investment. 

Legal List A list of securities legal for fiduciary investments, as compiled 
and promulgated by a state agency (such as the state banking department) 
for the use and guidance of fiduciaries, lawyers, trustees, savings banks. 
Used infrequently now, as most states have adopted either the Prudent 
Man or Prudent Investor Rules. 

Legatee See Legacy. 
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Letter of Attorney- A written instrument which evidences the authority of 
an agent who is known as an attorney-in-fact.  

Letters of Administration A certificate of authority to settle a particular 
estate issued to an administrator by the appointing court; to be 
distinguished from letters testamentary. 

Letters of Conservatorship A certificate of authority issued by the court to 
an individual or corporate fiduciary to serve as conservator of the property 
of a person; corresponds with letters of guardianship. 

Letter Ruling A private ruling issued by the IRS in response to a request 
from a taxpayer about the tax consequences of a proposed or completed 
transaction. Private letter rulings are not considered to be precedents for 
use by taxpayers other than the one who requested the ruling, but they do 
give an indication of the current IRS attitude towards the transaction in 
question. 

Letters Testamentary A certificate of authority to settle a particular estate 
issued by the appointing court to the executor named in the will; to be 
distinguished from letters of administration. 

Leveraged Buyout The purchase of assets or stock of a privately owned 
company, a public company, or a subsidiary thereof, in which the acquirer 
uses a significant amount of debt and very little (or no) capital. This is 
accomplished primarily by utilizing the purchased assets for collateral and 
the acquired earnings stream to amortize the debt. 

Leveraged ESOP An employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) in which 
money is borrowed by the ESOP trust for the purpose of buying stock of 
the employer. The stock is normally held as security by the lender and is 
released for allocation to participant accounts as the loan is paid off. 

LIBOR London InterBank Offered Rate (of interest). 

Life Beneficiary The beneficiary of a trust usually for the term of his own 
life, but it may be for the life of some other person.  Similar to a life estate 
or usufruct. 
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Life Estate Either an estate for the life of the life tenant alone or an estate 
for the life or lives of some other person or persons. If the estate is for the 
life of a person other than the life tenant, it is known as an estate pour autre 
vie. 

Life Insurance Trust See Insurance Trust. 

Life Interest The estate or interest that a person has in property that will 
endure only during his own or someone else's lifetime. 

Limit Order ï An order to buy or sell a stock but only at a specific price or 
better. It allows the individual initiating the trade to set a ceiling on the 
purchase price they are willing to pay and a floor on the sales price they 
are willing to accept.. However, because of the limits the trade is not 
always executed.  

Listed Stock The stock of a company that is traded on a recognized 
securities exchange. The various stock exchanges have different standards 
for listings. The New York Stock Exchange, for instance, includes national 
interest in the company, at least 1 million shares publicly held by at least 
2,000 round lot shareholders, $16 million in market value, more than 
$2.5 million pre-tax income in the most recent year, and $2 million in pre-
tax income in each of the preceding two years. 

Lives in Being Lives in existence at a given time. See Rule Against 
Perpetuities. 

Living Trust A trust that becomes operative during the lifetime of the 
settlor; opposed to a trust under will. The same as an inter vivos trust. 

Living Will A document that allows a person to state in advance his/her 
wishes regarding the use or removal of life-sustaining or death-delaying 
procedures in the event of illness or injury. 

Load A sales charge paid when purchasing or selling mutual fund shares. 
A "front end" load is assessed when money is initially invested. A "back 
end" load is assessed when shares are sold or funds withdrawn, and may 
be levied as a percentage of the withdrawn amount or at a flat rate. Back 
end loads may also be known as a redemption or exit fee. Loads may also 
be charged when dividends are reinvested. 
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Lookback Option One type of an option contract which confers the 
retroactive right to buy a given financial instrument at its minimum price, or 
sell at its maximum price, during a specific "lookback" period. 

Lump Sum Distribution With respect to pension plans, the distribution of 
an individual's benefits in the form of one payment rather than in equal 
installments over a specified period of time or the individual's lifetime. The 
Internal Revenue Code imposes certain requirements in order for the 
distribution to qualify for special tax treatment. 

LUST Acronym for leaking underground storage tank. Covered by 
Recourse Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 

Maintenance Margin In futures and forwards, the level to which a margin 
account may fall before the holder of the contract is required to bring the 
balance back up to the initial margin level. 

Managing Agency Accounts An agency account concerning which the 
agent has managerial duties and responsibilities appropriate to the kind of 
property and in conformity with the terms of the agency; to be distinguished 
from a safekeeping or custody account. 

Marital Deduction The portion of a decedent's estate that may be given to 
the surviving wife or husband without its becoming subject to the Federal 
estate tax levied against the decedent's estate; a term that came into 
general use under the Internal Revenue Act of 1954. 

 

Market Order ï An order to buy or sell shares at the prevailing market 
price. This type of order will always be complete. The individual initiating 
the purchase or sale has no control over the price, hence the name market.  

MarketabilityThe degree of investment or speculative interest that 
underlies any security; the ease with which it can be sold. Synonymous 
with "saleability." 

Market Maker A dealer that stands prepared to buy or sell at the bid and 
offer prices that it quotes. The market is maintained when the dealer 
continues to quote bids and offerings over a period of time. See also 
Specialist. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#specialist#specialist
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Market Risk One of three types of investment risk. Deals with the day-to-
day fluctuations at which a security can be bought or sold. See also Interest 
Rate Risk and Credit Risk. 

Massachusetts Rule A term frequently applied to a rule for the investment 
of trust funds enunciated by the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts 
in 1830; now commonly referred to as the prudent man rule. See Prudent 
Man Rule. 

Master-Feeder Mutual Fund A two-tiered mutual fund arrangement in 
which one or more mutual funds (the feeder funds) invest solely in the 
securities of another mutual fund (the master fund). Master-feeder funds 
are authorized, without prior SEC approval, under SEC Rule 18f-3. A 
multiple-class fund is different from a multiple-class mutual fund. 

Master Plan A defined benefit or defined contribution employee benefit 
plan that has been prepared by a sponsoring organization and provides a 
single trust account in which all adopting employers must invest their plan 
contributions; the sponsoring organization must have the plan approved by 
the Internal Revenue Service. See also Prototype Plan. 

Master Trust An arrangement designating the custodianship and 
accounting for all employee benefit assets of a corporation or a controlled 
group of corporations to a single trustee, facilitating uniform administration 
of the assets of multiple plans and multiple investment managers. 

Material Information Anything of material fact that could affect an 
investor's decision to buy a certain security. 

Matched Swap An interest rate swap in which an asset or liability of the 
counterparty has interest payment terms similar to those of the swap. 

MBIA Municipal Bond Insurance Association. 

MEWA A Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangement. A means whereby small 
employers can pool contributions to purchase health insurance at a lower 
cost. Suppliers of MEWA's may offer insurance-like products, but normally 
are not insurance companies. These suppliers generally are not subject to 
state insurance regulation or reserve requirements. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#interestraterisk#interestraterisk
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Mezzanine FinancingG Use of preferred stock or convertible subordinated 
debentures to finance a takeover. This type of financing expands the 
resulting company's equity capital instead of its debt. 

MGIC Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Corporation. 

Modern Portfolio Theory The theoretical constructs that enable 
investment managers to classify, estimate and control the sources of risk 
and return. In popular terms, the term is applied to modern investment and 
portfolio theory. Refer to Appendix C, Uniform Prudent Investor Act for 
additional discussion.  

Money Market Instruments Fixed income securities that mature in less 
than one year. Also known as cash equivalents since their marketability 
and characteristics provide easy liquidity. Included are U.S. government 
securities, negotiable certificates of deposit, commercial paper, STIF 
accounts, bankers acceptances and mutual funds. 

Money Purchase Plan The basic type of a defined contribution employee 
benefit plan. The employer or plan sponsor's contribution to the plan is 
specified for each employee in terms of a flat dollar amount ($100 per 
month of employment), or in terms of a percentage (10% of compensation), 
or on the basis of a point system. Unlike a profit sharing plan, forfeitures 
are not added to participants' accounts; they are used to reduce employer 
contributions. See also Individual Account Plan. 

Mortgage Banker An organization that originates mortgages and then sells 
them to investors, usually retaining servicing rights. Income is derived from 
origination and servicing fees. Funding for the mortgages is usually from 
borrowings, which are paid off when the loan is sold. 

Mortgage Pass-Through Securities A security consisting of a pool of 
residential mortgages, with monthly distribution of 100% of the interest and 
principal to the investor. There are both government (Freddie Mac and 
Ginnie Mae) and commercial versions of these instruments. 

MPPAA Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980 

Multi-Employer Plan For purposes of ERISA, a pension plan maintained 
pursuant to one or more collective bargaining agreements to which more 
than one employer is required to contribute. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_c/appendix_c.html#c_uniforminvestorprudentact
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Multiple-Class Mutual Fund A mutual fund which has multiple classes of 
shares. Each class participates in the same portfolio of investments and is 
identical to other classes of shares except that each class has different 
sales charges and/or other expenses. In some cases, there may also be a 
difference in the services rendered to different classes of the fund. Multiple-
class funds are authorized, without prior SEC approval, under SEC Rule 
18f-3. A multiple-class fund is different from a master-feeder mutual fund. 

Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangement (MEWA) See MEWA. 

Municipal Bonds Debt issues of state and local governments, and their 
agencies. In general, interest paid on municipal bonds is exempt from 
federal income taxes and from state and local income taxes within the state 
of issue. 

Negligence Failure, through omission or commission, to act as an 
ordinary, reasonable and prudent person would act. Consideration must be 
given to the particular situation, circumstances involved, and knowledge of 
the parties. 

Next of Kin The person or persons in the nearest degree of blood 
relationship to the decedent. As the term is usually employed, those 
entitled by law to the personal property of a person who has died without 
leaving a valid will (such persons do not include the surviving spouse and 
wife except where specifically so provided by statute); to be distinguished 
from the heirs, who take the real property.  

Nominee The partnership in whose name registered securities are held. 
This facilitates the making of "good" delivery of securities to brokers at the 
time of sale or exchange. Nominee names are usually registered with the 
American Society of Corporate Secretaries, to preclude the possibility of 
more than one nominee with the same name. 

Non Compos Mentis (Not of sound mind): A term that includes all forms of 
mental unsoundness. 

Nonlegal Investment An investment that does not conform to the 
requirements of the statutes; a term used principally with references to trust 
investments; to be distinguished from unauthorized investment. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#mewa#mewa
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Notional Principal Amount In an interest rate swap, the contractual 
amount on which interest payments are calculated. 

Nuncupative Will An oral will made by a person on his deathbed or by one 
who is conscious of the possibility of meeting death in the near future -- as 
by a person in active military service. It is declared in the presence of at 
least two witnesses and later reduced to writing by someone other than the 
testator and offered for probate in the manner prescribed by statute. 

OBRA Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Acts of 1986, 1987, 1988 and 1989. 
OBRA 1989 partially repealed the interest exclusion on ESOP loans, 
provided Labor Department civil money penalties for fiduciary violations, 
and created a tax penalty for overstatement of pension liabilities in 
determining deductibility. 

OCC  Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. 

Off-Market Swaps See Front-end receipt swaps. 

Open End Mutual Funds These funds issue shares to investors 
continuously and stand ready to repurchase them at any time based on Net 
Asset Value. Both load and no-load funds are included. 

Operating (Transactional) Risk The possibility that inadequate internal 
controls or procedures, human error, system failure or fraud can cause 
loss.  

Optimization The process of selecting a securities portfolio that minimizes 
risk for a given level of risk. An example would be an aim that a portfolio 
have no more than 5% of its value in a single stock and/or that the current 
yield be at least 4%. Optimization includes expected return, variances of 
expected return, and covariance of return with every other security under 
consideration. 

Option A contract for which the buyer pays a fee in exchange for the right, 
but not the obligation, to buy or sell, a fixed amount of a given financial 
instrument at a set price within a specified time. Options are considered a 
type of "price insurance" because they protect buyers from adverse swings 
in the price of the underlying asset. The buyer can never lose more than 
the price paid for the option, but the seller's losses are potentially unlimited. 
See also Call Option, Compound Option, Lookback Option, and Put Option. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#frontendreceiptswaps#frontendreceiptswaps
http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#calloption#calloption
http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#compoundoption#compoundoption
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Optionee Buyer of the option. The person who received an option on 
property. 

Optioner Seller of the option. The person who gives an option on his/her 
property. 

Option Overriding A type of options management where an options 
manager writes options on stocks managed by another manager. The goal 
is to provide an incremental return to the equity portfolio without interfering 
with the equity manager. 

Option Premiums The dollar amounts paid to the writer for the option. The 
amount is determine generally by supply and demand, duration of the 
contract and difference between the fluctuations, among various 
considerations. 

Order Flow Practice whereby securities brokers agree to receive cash 
payments in exchange for routine customer orders to specific dealers for 
execution. 

Ordinary Care Generally considered to be the prudent man standard, 
subject to the facts and circumstances of a particular case. 

Out of the Money An option whose exercise price is above the stock's 
current price. 

Overdraft- The amount by which a debit or charge against an account 
exceeds the balance of the trust account.  

PAC (Planned Amortization Class) A type of derivative instrument with 
scheduled payments over a range of prepayment speeds (PAC bands or 
ranges). 

Parol Evidence (Pronounced payroll) Legal proof based on oral 
statements; with regard to a document, any evidence extrinsic to the 
document itself. 

Participant An employee or former employee who is (or may become) 
eligible to receive a benefit of any type from an employee benefit plan. Also 
includes eligible beneficiaries. 
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Party In Interest A person or other entity which has control or close affinity 
to an employee benefit plan; an "insider". Defined by Section 3(14) of 
ERISA to include fiduciaries, trustees, and custodians, the plan 
administrator, the plan sponsor (employer and/or union), those who control 
50% or more of these insiders, 10% or more stockholders of these insiders. 
Also covered are the outside interests of such insiders. Certain relatives of 
insiders are also included. See also Disqualified Person. 

Paying Agent An agent to receive funds from an obligor to pay maturing 
bonds and coupons, or from a corporation for the payment of dividends. 

PAYSOP An ESOP eligible for tax credits based on employee payroll. 
PAYSOP's replaced TRASOP's in 1983. The tax credits were repealed by 
the Tax Reform Act of 1986. See also Employee Stock Ownership Plan. 

PBGC See Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. 

Pecuniary Bequest A bequest of property, often made in connection with 
the establishment of a marital deduction trust, that is expressed in terms of 
a specific dollar amount rather than in terms of a proportion of the assets 
involved.  

Pennsylvania Rule A rule that requires credit of extraordinary dividends 
received in trust on the basis of the source of such dividends; to income if 
declared from earnings of the corporation during the life of the trust, and to 
principal if from earnings accumulated before commencement of the trust.  

Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) Congressionally-
chartered corporation responsible for guaranteeing private defined benefit 
pension plans. Membership in PBGC is mandatory for all such plans. If a 
covered plan terminates, retirees and beneficiaries are entitled to the 
benefit calculated under the plan (subject to certain phase-in rules for new 
plans to preclude abuse), up to a maximum monthly benefit payment. The 
maximum monthly payment is based on the year a plan terminated and 
was set in 1974 at $750 per month, indexed for inflation. Plans terminating 
in 2004 have a maximum monthly benefit of $3,698 or $44,386 per year for 
those who have attained age 65. The guarantee is increased for those over 
65 and decreased for those under 65. 

http://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/trustmanual/appendix_h/appendix_h.html#disqualifiedperson#disqualifiedperson
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Pension Trust A trust established by an employer (commonly a 
corporation) to provide benefits for incapacitated, retired, or superannuated 
employees, with or without contributions by the employees. 

PEPPRA Public Employee Pension Plan Reporting and Accountability Act. 

Per Capita (By the head): A term used in the distribution of property; 
distribution to persons as individuals (per capita) and not as members of a 
family (per stirpes). For example, "I give my estate in equal shares to my 
son A and to my grandsons C, D, and E (the sons of my deceased son B) 
per capita". C, D, and E take as individuals (not as the sons of B), each 
taking the same share as A, namely, one-fourth of the estate. 

Performance-Based Fees Investment management fees that are related 
to investment results, not to the size of the assets managed. Also known as 
incentive fees. 

Person An individual, partnership, joint venture, corporation, mutual 
company, joint stock company, trust, estate, unincorporated organization, 
association or employee organization. 

Personal Property All property other than real property. 

Personal Representative A general term applicable to both executor and 
administrator. 

Personalty Personal property. 

Per Stirpes (By the branch): A term used in the distribution of property; 
distribution to persons as members of a family (per stirpes) and not as 
individuals (per capita). Two or more children of the same parent take per 
stirpes when together they take what the parent, if living, would take. For 
example, "I give my estate to my son A and to my grandsons C, D, and E 
(the sons of my deceased son B). My grandsons are to take per stirpes." C, 
D, and E take as the sons of B (not as individuals), each receiving one-
sixth of the estate (one-third of the one-half to which B would be entitled if 
living), while A receives one-half of the estate. Taking per stirpes is also 
known as taking by right of representation. 

 
















































































































































































































































































